
 

 

 
 

30.11.22 
 

Dear Councillor 
 
SUMMONS TO A MEETING OF THE FULL COUNCIL 
 
I hereby summon you to attend the meeting of the Full Council to be held on Thursday, 8 December 
2022 at 7.30 pm. The meeting will be held at Council Chamber - Civic Centre. 
 

 
PAUL TURRELL 
Chief Executive 
01932 425500 
Email: paul.turrell@runnymede.gov.uk 
 

A G E N D A 
  
1.   Mayor's Announcements 

 
 

 
2.   Minutes 

 
To confirm and sign, as a correct record, the minutes of the meeting of the Council 
held on 20 October 2022 (attached). 
 

5 - 14 

 
3.   Apologies for Absence 

 
 

 
4.   Declarations of Interest 

 
If Members have an interest in an item, please complete a Member Interest Form 
and email it to Democratic.Services@runnymede.gov.uk by 5pm on the day of the 
meeting. Members are advised to contact the Corporate Head of Law and 
Governance prior to the meeting if they wish to seek advice on a potential interest. 
 

 

 
5.   Speaking or Questions from Members of the Public under Standing Order 12 

 
Any questions received will be circulated separately following the deadline for 
submission of questions from the public. 
 
 

 

 

Public Document Pack

1

mailto:Democratic.Services@runnymede.gov.uk


 

 

6.   Petitions 
 
To receive any petitions from members of the Council under Standing Order No 
19. 
 

 

 
7.   Questions from Members of the Council under Standing Order 13 

 
a. Question from Councillor Carl Mann to the Leader of the Council 
  
Can we please have an update on the A320 Ottershaw roundabout and whether 
the HIF money is protected? 
  
b. Question from Councillor Sylvia Whyte to the Leader of the Council 
  
Following the death of 2 year old Awaab Ishak, caused by mould in the family’s 
flat in Rochdale,  the social housing regulator has ordered all landlords with more 
than 1,000 homes to report their most recent assessment of the extent of damp 
and mould hazards, the action they are taking to remedy them and to detail the 
process they have to identify and deal promptly with damp and mould cases, 
when they are raised by tenants. Can the leader of the Council assure me that 
Runnymede Borough Council’s housing stock is inspected regularly to ensure that 
tragedies like this will never happen in Runnymede? 
  
c. Question from Councillor Isabel Mullins to the Leader of the Council 
  
Given that the original Climate Change Strategy approved by the Corporate 
Management Committee in April of this year included an Action Plan, and in order 
to give transparency to the council’s actions and plans for carbon emission 
reductions, could the Leader of the Council ensure that this Climate Change 
Action Plan, or an up to date version of it, be published on the RBC website with 
high visibility alongside the council’s Climate Change Strategy, as a matter of 
urgency? 
  
d. Question from Councillor Rhys Davies to the Leader of the Council 
  
Is the Leader aware of the chronic delays this Council’s housing department is 
facing in assessing medical and disability submissions forms from residents 
applying to our housing register, does he think waiting months for these forms to 
be reviewed and a decision taken is acceptable? 
  
e. Question from Councillor Robert King to the Leader of the Council 
  
Is the Leader aware that hundreds of residents, already struggling to get a GP 
appointment, have had a further blow with numerous GP practices in recent 
months withdrawing online app services, such as Livi, making it nearly impossible 
to get even a telephone or online appointment. What is Runnymede doing to lobby 
GP practices and Surrey Heartlands to reintroduce such services? 
  
f. Question from Councillor Abby King to the Leader of the Council 
  
What is the Council doing to enhance street cleaning in Runnymede and is the 
Leader exploring a timetabling of streets, in collaboration with Surrey Highways 
after they carry out gully cleaning? 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

2



 

 

8.   Recommendations from Committees 
 

 
 

 a)   Council Tax Support Scheme 
 
The Corporate Management Committee agreed the following resolution at 
its meeting on Thursday 24 November 2022: 
  
That the preferred option for a revised Runnymede Council Tax 
Support scheme be recommended for adoption by Council, for 
implementation from 1 April 2023. 
  
The report and appendices are attached.  An addendum providing 
additional information that was requested by the Corporate Management 
Committee is also attached. 
 

15 - 198 

 
9.   Notices of Motion from Members of the Council under Standing Order 15 

 
To receive and consider any notices of motion from members of the Council under 
standing order 15. 
 
From Councillor Robert King 
  
This Council notes: 
  
(1) With rents soaring out of control, thousands of families are left buried in debt 
and under the threat of losing their home. 
  
(2) Many remain stuck on the Council housing list with little or no chance of an 
affordable secure home. 
  
(3) That the problem is made worse by a huge increase in the use of section 21 
notices (issued under the Housing Act 1988) to secure ‘no fault evictions’ of 
tenants, destroying family homes as landlords look to take advantage of 
unprecedented price rises and sell up or they themselves are being impacted by 
the unprecedented rise in interest rates. 
  
(4) The East Thames Valley and Walton Local Housing Allowances (which 
determines the maximum level of Housing Benefit that can be paid) now is at least 
30% below the market value of most rented properties, once again driving families 
into debt, with rent arrears blocking them from seeking another home when they’re 
evicted. 
  
(5) The government has announced that LHA rates are to be frozen for another 
year, while the rents tenants have to pay continue to escalate with no controls on 
the level of rents landlords can charge. 
  
(6) The shortage of genuinely affordable rented homes is causing a long-term 
problem too. But significant numbers of empty homes and unidentified housing 
sites, particularly brownfield sites, remaining undeveloped, ‘land banked’ by 
property speculators who prefer to wait for local housing values to increase still 
further or waiting for over ambiguous planning proposal to be granted. Councils 
can do little about this, as they lack the cost-neutral CPO powers to bring empty 
homes and land-banked land back into use for genuinely affordable social rented 
housing. 
  
 
 
 

 

3



 

 

(7) All these factors have led to a huge escalation in homelessness and 
particularly hidden homelessness, with hundreds of millions of pounds wasted 
each year across the country providing unsatisfactory temporary accommodation 
or by residents facing continued expense when moving between insecure homes. 
  
The Council Believes That: 
  
(1) All these factors combine to precipitate a real housing crisis. We are only at the 
very start of this perfect storm which will condemn current and future generations 
of Runnymede residents to insecure, unaffordable and substandard housing. 
  
(2) A safe, secure and affordable home is a basic human right. 
  
The Council resolves that: 
  
(1) The Leader of Runnymede Council with other group leaders as they see fit 
write to Runnymede and Weybridge’s MP and the Secretary of state for 
Department for Levelling Up, Communities and Housing Michael Gove demanding 
that he: 
  
a. abolishes section 21 notices 
  
b. reverses the decision to freeze LHA and increase it so it reflects the true level of 
private sector rents 
  
c. allows Councils to charge up to 300% Council tax on second homes. 
  
d. reinstates the fair rent review system to cap housing rents at a realistic level. 
  
e. grants councils ‘cost neutral’ compulsory purchase powers that allow them to 
deduct costs from compensation paid for the compulsory purchase of long-term 
empty homes and land-banked land. 
  
(2) Runnymede Council declares a housing emergency and that this enables a 
public information gathering excise so residents can report that concerns or 
experiences of renting privately and that a report can be presented to the relevant 
committee on its findings. 
  
(3) Runnymede Council looks to adapt its policies and resources following such a 
review of resident experiences in the private sector to enhance the protections 
and services this Council offers to its residents. 
  

10.   Minority Group Priority Business 
 
No items of minority group priority business have been registered under Standing 
Order 23. 
 

 

 

4



RBC FC 20.10.22 
 

P a g e  |  175 
 

Runnymede Borough Council 
 

Full Council 
 

Thursday, 20 October 2022 at 7.30 pm 
 
Members of the 
Committee present: 

Councillors M Harnden (Mayor), S Saise-Marshall (Deputy Mayor), 
A Balkan, A Berardi, J Broadhead, R Bromley, T Burton, D Clarke, 
D Coen, D Cotty, M Cressey, V Cunningham, R Davies, S Dennett, 
J Furey, L Gillham, J Gracey, T Gracey, C Howorth, J Hulley, S Jenkins, 
A King, N King, R King, S Lewis, I Mullens, M Nuti, J Olorenshaw, 
S Ringham, P Snow, S Walsh, D Whyte, S Whyte, S Williams, 
M Willingale and J WiIson. 
  

 
Members of the 
Committee absent: 

Councillors M Darby, E Gill, M Heath, C Mann and N Prescot. 
  

 
  
287 Mayor's Announcements 

 
The Mayor paid tribute to ex Councillor Keith Thompson, who had recently passed away at 
the age of 92. 
  
The Mayor went on to highlight some of her events in recent months, which included 
judging three classic car shows, opening the new Magna Square development, travelling 
on the Royal Row Barge on the day of the Queen’s funeral, and reading out the 
proclamation of the new King. 
  
The Mayor went on to pay tribute to the many volunteers in the borough. 
  

288 Minutes 
 
The Minutes of the meeting of the Council held on 21 July 2022 were confirmed and signed 
as a correct record. 
  

289 Apologies for Absence 
 
Apologies were received from Councillors M Darby, E Gill, M Heath, C Mann and N 
Prescot. 
  

290 Declarations of Interest 
 
No declarations received. 
  

291 Speaking or Questions from Members of the Public under Standing Order 12 
 
Larraine Reed, a local resident, asked the following question: 
  
“I am partially sighted and hearing impaired. I am a blue badge holder and live in 
Egham. I have a support worker who drives me into town to shop. We very 
frequently find some of the disabled parking spaces at Waitrose are taken up by 
non-Blue Badge holders, and are unavailable to us. I know other members of the 
disabled community have the same experience as me. Could Runnymede take action 
to enforce the parking restrictions in this car park, so that disabled residents can 
have the same access to Egham shops as other residents have?” 
  

5

Agenda Item 2



RBC FC 20.10.22 
 

P a g e  | 176 
 

The Leader of the Council replied that where the Council own car parks in the borough 
enforcement officers are directed to ensure that blue badge spaces are only taken up by 
blue badge holders. 
  
However, Waitrose car park is operated by Waitrose and therefore it is outside the 
Council’s powers to enforce parking restrictions. 
  
The Leader of the Council offered to write to the store manager of Waitrose to ask for a 
meeting and better understand how enforcement of the car park was managed. 
  
Ms Reed subsequently asked how many Penalty Charge Notices had been issued at 
Waitrose car park over the past three months, which the Leader pledged to find out, and 
would also provide a breakdown of how many parking notices had been issued by the 
Council’s Enforcement Officers for blue badge offences in Egham during that time. 
  
The Leader thanked the resident for her question. 
  
Please see appendix 1. 
  

292 Petitions 
 
No petitions had been received from Members of the Council under Standing Order No 19. 
  

293 Questions from Members of the Council under Standing Order 13 
 
Question One 
  
Cllr Abby King asked the Leader of the Council the following question: 
  
As Paul Scully MP, the new Minister of State at the Department for levelling up, 
declared recently there is more “fat to be trimmed” in local government, how is the 
Leader going to respond to a further experiment with austerity politics and the threat 
it brings to the services we provide? 
  
The Leader of the Council responded that he would reject any suggestion that Runnymede 
would consider an experiment of austerity politics, adding that since 2010 the Council had 
embarked on extensive efficiency work to give residents value for money, as well as setting 
out an investment strategy to protect and develop the services it provides to residents. 
  
Question Two 
  
Cllr Rhys Davies asked the Leader of the Council the following question: 
  
As highlighted in the new corporate business plan, 1,620 of Runnymede’s residents 
live in absolute poverty, 8% of our total population and 11.1% higher than the 
average in Surrey. Given the refusal of the new Prime Minister to confirm she will be 
uprating benefits in line with inflation, or with general wages, what new funding as of 
this month will the Leader be announcing to support families who are below the 
absolute poverty line and those additional households who will now fall below that 
because of the prime minister’s determination to transfer wealth from the poorest to 
the richest? 
  
The Leader of the Council replied that the term ‘Absolute poverty’ was not recognised in 
the UK in relation to national statistics.  The term quoted within the Health & Wellbeing 
strategy was ‘relative income poverty’, which was not directly comparable. 
  
The Leader went on to highlight some of the activities the Council undertake to support 

6



RBC FC 20.10.22 
 

P a g e  | 177 
 

those residents requiring support within the borough, which included funding to the 
Runnymede Food Bank and Citizens Advice Bureau. 
  
The Leader responded to a follow up question about the potential for staff to be affected by 
relative income poverty by advising that as part of the budget setting process a number of 
fair and equitable deals would be under consideration for all staff. 
  
Question Three 
  
Cllr Robert King asked the Leader of the Council the following question: 
  
Is the Leader committed to continuing to provide free bin collection services to 
churches, certain charities and other religious groups which have a community 
outlook, as Runnymede has previously done so for many years? If he is, will he be 
instructing officers, along with the chair of Environment & Sustainability Committee, 
to cancel demands for new trade collection contracts when missed bins collections 
have been challenged by these institutions. 
  
The Leader of the Council advised that it was ultimately for the relevant Committee to 
escalate their recommendations to full Council, with the most recent recommendations 
relating to fees and charges implemented earlier this municipal year.  The Leader 
encouraged Cllr R King to raise any concerns with the Chair of the relevant Member 
Working Party. 
  
When asked about the prospect of charities and community organisations being offered 
additional relief around environmental services provision, the Leader advised that he felt 
the country was at the start of a prolonged period of stress and it was important for the 
Council to be aware of what was happening across the borough, however it was currently 
too soon to provide information on specific areas. 
  
Question Four 
  
Cllr Isabel Mullens asked the Leader of the Council the following question: 
  
The Empowering Communities Strategy of the Corporate Business Plan references 
the importance of reaching residents through social media. Could the leader of the 
council say what proportion of our residents do not have access or the ability to 
work with social media, so that we can better address the problem of how to reach 
these digitally excluded people? 
  
The Leader of the Council felt that a combination of factors such as technical ability and 
appetite to embrace social media made it impossible to provide an accurate answer, but 
added that he felt that the Council’s digital offering was excellent, whilst acknowledging that 
it only reached a certain percentage of the population.   
  
Through the Citizens Panel that forms part of the Corporate Plan, it was strongly hoped 
that a large cross-section of the community could be called upon through an outreach 
strategy to give their views on matters through non-digital means such as focus groups. 
  
In response to a follow up question about finding the necessary numbers for the Citizens 
Panel to get a representative sample, the Leader advised this would be done through a 
combination of engagement with local organisations such as the Citizens Advice Bureau as 
well as outreach through Councillors’ work. 
  
A Member suggested building up a database of residents willing to engage by email with 
the Council via the electoral process. 
  

7



RBC FC 20.10.22 
 

P a g e  | 178 
 

294 Recommendation from Community Services Committee - 15 September 2022 - 
School Transport Service 
 
The recent Community Services Committee had considered a proposal to discontinue the 
school transport service and reallocate the previously agreed sum of £215,000 to develop 
leisure and recreation opportunities in the borough in line with the Council’s Health & 
Wellbeing strategy. 
  
The Community Services Committee Chair advised this was primarily in response to delays 
in equipment and the ongoing impact of the pandemic resulting in changes to travel 
patterns and added that the money would be used flexibly on both refurbishments and new 
equipment. 
  
Some Members expressed dissatisfaction with the discontinuation of the service, the lack 
of data provided for context and the impact of increasing the number of cars on the roads.  
It was also asked to ensure that Surrey County Council would provide additional bus routes 
on the services affected.  The Leader of the Council would share with full Council the data 
used to come to the decision. 
  
The Leader advised that to run the service in isolation would cost around £800 per pupil, 
adding that there were existing transport services available.  It should also be encouraged 
to use active travel to get to school such as walking and cycling.  Furthermore, Surrey 
County Council would continue to provide transport for those who had the greatest need for 
school transport. 
  
The Chair of Community Services stated that schools in the borough were consulted, and 
most did not respond, whilst others declared that a bus service was not a priority for them 
and demand was low.  One school did suggest that a bus service to help deal with pupils 
who were not regular attendees would be useful, but it was felt there were other ways 
these concerns could be addressed. 
  
The Chief Executive confirmed that the £215,000 was an annual revenue budget to deliver 
the service, which would be transferred to Community Services Department on an ongoing 
basis. 
  
A named vote was requested on the item and the voting was as follows: 
  
For (25) 
Cllrs Saise-Marshall, Balkan, Broadhead, Bromley, Burton, Clarke, Coen, Cotty, Cressey, 
Cunningham, Dennett, Furey, Gillham, J Gracey, T Gracey, Howorth, Hulley, Nuti, 
Olorenshaw, Snow, Walsh, D Whyte, S Whyte, Willingale, Wilson 
  
Against (7) 
Cllrs Berardi, Davies, A King, R King, Mullens, Ringham, Williams 
  
Abstain (4)  
Cllrs Harnden, Jenkins, N King, Lewis 
  
Resolved that –  
  
the previously agreed discretionary school transport service is not to proceed, and 
that full sum of £215,000, is allocated to Community Services Department for the 
development and refurbishment of leisure and recreation opportunities for children 
and young people across the borough, which may include the refurbishment and/or 
replacement of play equipment. 
  

295 Recommendation from Corporate Management Committee - 22 September 2022 - 

8



RBC FC 20.10.22 
 

P a g e  | 179 
 

Corporate Plan 
 
The Leader of the Council advised full Council that work on the Corporate Plan had been 
ongoing for nearly 18 months and had been through a thorough consultation process.  
Each of the five strands had been signed off by Corporate Management Committee having 
also been scrutinised by various Member Working Parties. 
  
There was am ambition to ensure the Council was delivering excellent facilities, providing a 
good quality of life for residents and meet objectives set out within the climate change 
strategy. 
  
The Leader thanked both officers for the preparation of the Corporate Plan, and Councillors 
for engaging in the review process. 
  
The Chair of Environment & Sustainability Committee acknowledged the importance of all 
strands within the strategy but stressed the importance of the climate change strategy and 
in particular the target to achieve net zero carbon emissions from the Council’s operations 
and services by 2030.  The ability to calculate where the distribution of the Council’s carbon 
emissions would be vital to this process. 
  
Furthermore he felt it was important to set an example for others to follow across 
Runnymede and beyond, including the Council’s supply chain by ensuring suppliers and 
contractors were also working to net zero targets. 
  
Several Members expressed concern that the Corporate Plan’s accompanying action list 
had only recently been released and felt that many of the actions and initiatives contained 
within had not been subject to the appropriate levels of Member scrutiny and debate.  The 
Leader of the Council confirmed that it was intended that the plans would evolve to reflect 
new knowledge, understanding and priorities, and would form part of the workplans for 
Committees and Member Working Parties. 
  
In response to the absence of livestreaming Committee meetings from the Empowering 
Communities strategy, the Leader of the Council advised Members this was being looked 
at by the Communications and Service Transformation Member Working Party, who would 
provide recommendations to the relevant Committee when appropriate. 
  
Resolved that –  
  
a) All elements of the Corporate Plan and overarching report were approved. 
  

296 Recommendation from Corporate Management Committee - 13 October 2022 - 
Calendar of Meetings 2023/24 
 
An amended motion was proposed to address concern from some Members about the 
proximity of annual Council to the local election.  The proposed amendment would see an 
additional week between the two dates to allow more time for newly-elected Councillors to 
familiarise themselves with the role, as well as more time for the potential for political 
groups to form coalitions. 
  
The amended motion was lost. 
  
Resolved that –  
  
The calendar of meetings for 2023/24 was approved. 
  

297 Changes to Membership of Committees 
 

9



RBC FC 20.10.22 
 

P a g e  | 180 
 

Resolved that –  
  
The changes proposed by the Labour and Co-operative Group to the membership of 
the Housing and Planning Committees for the remainder of this Municipal year 
(2022/2023) was approved. 
  

298 Notices of Motion from Members of the Council under Standing Order 15 
 
Motion 1 – Runnymede Borough Council (RBC) to support the Local Electricity Bill. 
  
Cllr D Whyte moved the motion in the summons for Runnymede Borough Council to 
support the Local Electricity Bill.  In moving the motion, Cllr D Whyte felt that this would 
reduce the carbon footprint of the Council, as well as the borough as a whole, adding that 
this would be an enabler for small-scale local energy provision, and would have no cost 
implications for the Council. 
  
During the debate on the motion the Deputy Leader of the Council agreed that energy 
storage and production needed to be prioritised, but expressed concerns around both the 
timing, stating it was premature to support until the Bill became an act of parliament, along 
with the necessary interface with the national grid, meaning enhancements in technology 
would need to be available before this was a viable option. 
  
Cllr D Whyte advised that the power would not be affected by the national grid, rather it 
would stay within the local grid.  Furthermore, it was felt that the current legislation was 
outdated having been drawn up in the 1990s, and this would have formed part of the now 
deferred National Energy Bill. 
  
A Member highlighted that the Bill was supported by Surrey County Council and would be a 
good opportunity for cross-party working, adding that currently the market did not 
incentivise producers. The Bill would also encourage local entrepreneurs to utilise the 
technology available. 
  
The Deputy Leader invited Cllr D Whyte to amend the motion to enable it to be referred to 
Corporate Management Committee to study the detail behind the Bill, which Cllr D Whyte 
declined. 
  
A named vote was requested on the Motion and the voting was as follows: 
  
For (14) 
Cllrs Harnden, Berardi, Burton, Davies, Gillham, Jenkins, A King, R King, Mullens, 
Ringham, Walsh, D Whyte, S Whyte, Williams 
  
Against (18) 
Cllrs Saise-Marshall, Broadhead, Bromley, Clarke, Coen, Cotty, Cressey, Cunningham, 
Dennett, Furey, J Gracey, Howorth, Hulley, N King, Lewis, Snow, Willingale, Wilson 
  
Abstain (3)  
Cllrs Balkan, Nuti, Olorenshaw 
  
(Cllr T Gracey had left the meeting at this point so did not vote) 
  
The motion was lost. 
  
Motion 2 – Ending Fuel Poverty and lowering energy use in homes. Council and 
Community action through a Green Bond 
  
Cllr R King moved the motion in the summons around ending fuel poverty and lowering 

10



RBC FC 20.10.22 
 

P a g e  | 181 
 

energy use in homes.  In moving the motion, Cllr R King stated that the cost-of-living crisis 
meant that many families would be facing a dark and cold winter, particularly in light of the 
announcement that the energy price guarantee would cease considerably sooner than first 
announced. 
  
Cllr R King added that climate change was the biggest crisis facing the country, and whilst 
he called on government to act faster stated that too many homes in Runnymede were 
poorly insulated, the cost of green and solar energy was prohibitive to many households, 
and the planting of trees was not taking place at enough pace. 
  
A Member highlighted that the Council does not join lobbying groups but rather makes 
representations through the LGA, and whilst the administration was in broad agreement 
over many of the aims set out in the motion, officers had been asked to consider the green 
bond along with a raft of other options as part of the budget setting process. 
  
It was asked to set out how opposition Members could engage with the administration 
outside of the Committee cycle as part of the budget process, and the Deputy Leader of the 
Council would follow up with the Leader and report back to Members.   
  
It was added that bringing forward bonds of this nature would take experts a significant 
amount of time, and it would not be economic to carry that expertise within the Council 
staff.  A Member replied that the proposed six months within the motion was a reasonable 
timeframe for a report to be readied to understand the costings and principle. 
  
A named vote was requested on the Motion and the voting was as follows: 
  
For (13) 
Cllrs Harnden, Berardi, Burton, Davies, Gillham, Jenkins, A King, R King, Mullens, 
Ringham, D Whyte, S Whyte, Williams 
  
Against (20) 
Cllrs Saise-Marshall, Broadhead, Bromley, Clarke, Coen, Cotty, Cressey, Cunningham, 
Dennett, Furey, J Gracey, Howorth, Hulley, N King, Lewis, Nuti, Snow, Walsh, Willingale, 
Wilson 
  
Abstain (2)  
Cllrs Balkan, Olorenshaw 
  
(Cllr T Gracey had left the meeting at this point so did not vote) 
  
The motion was lost. 
  
Motion 3 – Tackling violence against women and girls: Making misogyny a hate 
crime 
  
Cllr A King moved the motion in the summons that sought to tackle violence against 
women and girls whilst making misogyny a hate crime. 
  
The motion called for the Crime & Disorder Committee to commission a report within the 
priorities of the Borough Commander to crack down on hate crime in the Borough and learn 
how lessons from victims of abuse can improve the Council direct response and its joint 
work with Runnymede Police.  It also called for the Leader of the Council to write to the 
local MP calling on him to lobby for misogyny to become a hate crime. 
  
In moving the motion, Cllr A King spoke of a traumatic personal experience, and stated that 
serious sexual assaults were crimes that did not happen overnight but rather were crimes 
built up over a prolonged period of time that were allowed to happen by a society deeply 

11



RBC FC 20.10.22 
 

P a g e  | 182 
 

rooted in sexism and that demeaned survivors.   
  
Cllr S Jenkins tabled an amendment to the motion (Appendix 2) that included changing the 
wording to ‘tackling discrimination against women, girls, men and boys’ (rather than 
‘violence against women and girls’).  It also added wording to consider acts of misogyny 
‘…and misandry a hate crime. 
  
Cllr Jenkins acknowledged that dealing with gender-based crimes was a sensitive issue 
and should be dealt with in a non-partisan, inclusive evidence-based manner.  He also felt 
that the original motion prevented a discrimination by creating a separate discrimination, 
with a lack of detail about the gender of the perpetrators of the crimes set out in the 
motion.   
  
During the debate on the motion it was remarked that all Members of the Council would 
benefit from hearing the action plan rather than just Crime & Disorder Committee, and 
some Members felt it would be more powerful to engage with the Police & Crime 
Commissioner and Borough Commander via a meeting rather than the submission of a 
written report, particularly in light of the Police & Crime Commissioner being the national 
lead against violence towards women and girls. 
  
A number of Members thanked Cllr A King for bringing the motion forward, whilst several 
Members highlighted their support for the amendment based on part of the original motion 
going beyond the remit of Council by asking the Borough Commander to commission a 
report. 
  
Cllr A King as the proposer of the original motion expressed her extreme disappointment 
that the motion was amended, adding that whilst the amendments were all valid in their 
own right, she felt that they should have come forward as a separate motion and other than 
technical amendments relating to the engagement with Police, the original motion should 
have been allowed to stand. 
  
A named vote was requested on the amended Motion and the voting was as follows: 
  
For (22) 
Cllrs Harnden, Saise-Marshall, Balkan, Broadhead, Bromley, Coen, Cotty, Cressey, 
Cunningham, Dennett, Furey, Gillham, J Gracey, Howorth, Hulley, Jenkins, N King, Lewis, 
Nuti, Olorenshaw, Williams, Willingale 
  
Against (11) 
Cllrs Berardi, Davies, A King, R King, Mullens, Ringham, Snow, Walsh, D Whyte, S Whyte, 
Wilson 
  
Abstain (2)  
Cllrs Burton, Clarke,  
  
(Cllr T Gracey had left the meeting at this point so did not vote) 
  
The amended motion was carried. 
  
Motion 4 – Keeping Runnymede & Surrey frack free 
  
Cllr Davies moved the motion in the Summons that sought to keep Runnymede and Surrey 
frack free.  In moving the motion Cllr Davies highlighted that the government’s 2019 
manifesto placed a moratorium on fracking on England with immediate effect, which had 
recently been reversed in parliament. 
  
Whilst acknowledging there were no proposed fracking sites within Runnymede, Cllr 

12



RBC FC 20.10.22 
 

P a g e  | 183 
 

Davies felt that the knock-on effect of fracking elsewhere in Surrey would have a significant 
detrimental impact on the environment, particularly in terms of air quality, damaging water 
sources and the transportation of materials. 
  
Several Members commented that they felt this was an important national issue but was 
not relevant to Runnymede given the geology in north Surrey, and felt that passing the 
motion might result in unnecessarily causing concern amongst residents.  Furthermore, it 
was stressed that the revised government policy would only see fracking taken forward with 
community assent. 
  
A named vote was requested on the Motion and the voting was as follows: 
  
For (12) 
Cllrs Berardi, Burton, Davies, Gillham, Jenkins, A King, R King, Mullens, Ringham, D 
Whyte, S Whyte, Williams 
  
Against (16) 
Cllrs Broadhead, Bromley, Clarke, Coen, Cressey, Cunningham, Dennett, J Gracey, 
Howorth, Hulley, N King, Lewis, Nuti, Snow, Willingale, Wilson 
  
Abstain (6)  
Cllrs Harnden, Saise-Marshall, Balkan, Cotty, Olorenshaw, Walsh 
  
(Cllrs Furey and T Gracey had left the meeting at this point so did not vote) 
  

299 Minority Group Priority Business 
 
No items of Minority Group Priority business had been registered under Standing Order 23. 
  

300 Press and Public to be Excluded by Resolution 
 
By resolution of full Council, the press and public were excluded from the remainder of the 
meeting during the consideration of the remaining matters under Section 100A (4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972 on the grounds that the discussion would be likely to involve 
the disclosure of exempt information of the description specified in paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A to Part 1 of the Act. 
  

301 Recommendation from Special Housing Committee - 18 October 2022 - Housing 
Revenue Account Development 
 
The Chair of Housing Committee advised full Council that the recent Special Housing 
Committee had considered an item on the redevelopment of an area within the borough, 
citing it as critical for the provision of social housing. 
  
Plans to redevelop the area had been under consideration for many years, with lots of the 
properties in question a prefabricated design that had long since gone beyond their 
intended lifespan and had poor energy efficiency ratings. 
  
Ultimately the redevelopment would deliver regeneration, improve the quality of housing 
and provide more of it, and was key to many of the aspirations within the corporate plan. 
  
The Chair of Housing Committee clarified that the funding requested was for the first stage 
of the redevelopment and included a feasibility study.  The overall project would include a 
mixed tenure of housing and significantly improve the density of housing on the site.  It 
would also go a long way towards delivering the target of a minimum 125 social housing 
units across the borough. 
  

13



RBC FC 20.10.22 
 

P a g e  | 184 
 

Resolved that – 

  

1)    Full Council approved the supplementary revenue estimate to be spread 
over the next two years of £5,000,000 to proceed from RIBA Stage 1 to 3. 

  

2)    Full Council approved the delegation of authority to Housing Committee 
to proceed with RIBA Stage 1, noting that the project can be halted by 
Housing Committee if the project is not proven to be viable at the end of 
RIBA Stage 1. 

  
302 Appendix 1 

 
After the meeting the Leader of the Council sent the resident the following email to clarify 
the answer given under Item 5 – Speaking or Questions from Members of the Public Under 
Standing Order 12: 
  
Dear Larraine 
  
Thank you once again for submitting your question to full Council on 20 October.  
I’m very sorry to say that the answer that I provided verbally on the night was 
incorrect, and I write to set the record straight. 
  
There are only 8 Blue badge bays at Waitrose Car Park.  Blue Badge holders wishing 
to park in the disabled spaces at Waitrose need to register with Sagoss (specialist 
parking management contractor) prior to parking in the disabled bays outside 
Waitrose. It was incorrect to say that this was managed by Waitrose, Sagoss do in 
fact manage it on the Council’s behalf.  Once the blue badge is linked to the vehicle 
there is no requirement to display the blue badge. This, in the main, leads to the 
misconception that non-blue badge holders are parking in the 8 disabled spaces 
available. All vehicles entering the Waitrose car park are recorded remotely by ANPR 
and where non-blue badge holders are parking illegally or where vehicles are staying 
longer than 20-minutes a PCN is issued. 
  
The car park operator has been asked to enhance its signage provision to make this 
clearer to the community. 
  
I do still intend to follow up on the number of PCNs issued in Egham over the past 
three months for blue badge parking offences in Egham, and will be back in touch 
once I have received this information. 
  
My apologies again for the confusion and misleading answer. 
  
Cllr Tom Gracey 
Leader, Runnymede Borough Council 
 

 
 
 
(The meeting ended at 10.48 pm.) Chairman 
 

14



Review and Replacement Runnymede’s Council Tax Support Scheme 
(Ed Bowen, Customer, Digital and Collection Services) 

 
Synopsis of report: 
 
Following consultation, to approve a revised Council Tax Support scheme, 
for those of working age, ensuring it is up to date, relevant and 
incorporates the roll out of Universal Credit to Runnymede’s residents.  
 
To simplify the scheme so it is more transparent and easier for some of the 
Council’s most vulnerable residents to receive financial assistance towards 
their Council Tax liability and align the Council Tax Support Scheme with 
Housing Benefit regulations.  
 

 
Recommendation(s): 
 
The Committee to recommend to full Council the preferred option for 
Runnymede’s Council Tax Support scheme and agree the implementation 
of the revised scheme from 1 April 2023. 
 

 
 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 In April 2013 Council Tax Benefit was replaced by a prescribed Council Tax Support 

(CTS) scheme for those of pension age.  The prescribed scheme ensured that 
pensioners were not affected, at all, by the reduction in funding for CTS.   
 

1.2 Each local authority was then required to adopt its own locally designed and funded 
scheme for Working Age customers.  

 
1.3 Any changes to the Housing Benefit regulations will be reflected in this Council Tax 

Support Scheme, and changes can be made during the financial year with the 
approval of the Assistant Chief Executive in consultation with the Chair of the 
Corporate Management Committee.  

 
1.4 If a local authority wishes to make fundamental changes to its Council Tax Support 

scheme, it needs to consult the public and other affected groups. The scheme also 
needs to be approved by Full Council by 11th March of the preceding financial year. 

  

  

15

Agenda Item 8a



2. Background 

2.1 When the council tax bills are created in February 2022, we awarded around £4.1 
million in CTS, shown in the table below:  
 

Claimant Group Number of Claims Total Annual Award.  
Pensioners  1,437 £2,000,168 
Vulnerable / Disabled Claimants 892 £1,233,734 
Working Age & Employed 65 £65,650 
Working Age Other 674 £789,234 
Totals 3,068 £4,088,786 

 
2.2 With Council Tax increasing each year (the increase accelerated recently by the SCC 

Adult Social Care funding rises) measures need to be in place to control the 
expenditure. There is an obvious impact on the amount that can be gathered in 
through Council Tax revenue, if the CTS scheme changes. 

 
2.3  With the above in mind, it is timely that the CTS scheme be reviewed to ensure that: 
 

• the scheme is affordable  
• that the scheme remains fair and equitable to all sections of the community 
• that the scheme keeps up to date with changes to national welfare schemes 

such as Housing Benefit and Universal Credit   
• allows future changes in Housing Benefit legislation to be incorporated to 

support vulnerable residents  

3.  The effect on the Council Tax Base: 
 
3.1 The council tax base is used to calculate the amount of council tax charged per 

household   and how much is raised for the preceptors (Surrey County Council, 
Police and Fire authority).  

 
3.2  It is important to understand that as CTS increases the less Council Tax revenue 

becomes available and the shortfall has to be made up by the remaining council 
taxpayers.  

 
3.3  Over the past few years we have chosen to increase the council tax by £5 on Band 

D. For every £5 increase in the council tax liability, 37 pence went to covering that 
increase in council tax liability, leaving £4.63 to be spent on other services. 

 
3.4   The 2022/23 council tax raises £179.55 on each Band D for all our services, £9.82 of 

that goes towards the cost of CTS. Therefore, to provide a more generous CTS 
scheme, more of that revenue would be drawn away from other services.   

 
3.5  A consideration has been the Council Tax collection rate.  It would make no sense to 

reduce the level of CTS available if that resulted in a corresponding downturn in the 
Council Tax collection rate, leaving the Council with higher levels of arrears and 
increased collection costs.  

 
3.6 The following table shows Council Tax collection percentages, across Surrey, by 

year: 
 

16



Authority 2018-19 2019-20 2020-
21 

2021-
22 

Elmbridge 98.9 98.7 98.4 98.6 
Epsom & Ewell 99.1 99.1 98.1 98.5 
Guildford 98.9 98.6 97.5 97.5 
Mole Valley 99.1 99.0 98.5 98.6 
Reigate & 
Banstead 

99.1 98.7 98.1 98.9 

Runnymede 98.3 98.3 97.9 98.4 
Spelthorne 98.4 98.3 96.8 97.1 
Surrey Heath 99.2 99.2 98.7 98.4 
Tandridge 98.5 98.2 97.3 97.4 
Waverley 98.7 98.0 97.3 98.2 
Woking 98.7 98.4 98.1 98.4 
Kingston-upon-
Thames 

99.0 98.7 97.2 98.2 

Shire Districts (av.) 97.9 97.7 96.9 97.2 
 
3.7  Due to the Covid pandemic, collection in 2022-21 was lower as courts were closed 

and resources were diverted to support residents and businesses. 
 

3.8   The table above shows that Council Tax collection rates across Surrey are 
consistently high.  They are also above the national average for shire districts.  The 
concern that a less generous scheme introduced in 2019 would lead to lower 
collection rates has not been borne out.  

 
4. Options for Change 

4.1 A number of options for a revised CTS scheme were considered to meet the 
following objectives: 

• simpler to understand 
• stabilise council tax support entitlement so reducing the need to rebill 

customers every time there is a small change in household income 
• use Universal Credit data to streamline the claiming process for the customer 
• increase take-up of an underclaimed benefit by proactively supporting people 

to claim and target those in need 
• simplify administration 
• redeploy existing staff to overpayment recovery and data matching to ensure 

awards are correct 

4.2 Within the benefits application software, there is the ability to model the financial 
impact on expenditure of a number of different potential changes to the CTS scheme.  
Whilst it has not been possible to model all potential revisions to the scheme, the 
impact of more significant changes has been calculated.  

 
4.3 Based on the CTS caseload as of 28 September 2022, total expenditure for 2022/23 

was calculated to be £4,049,408.  This is slightly lower than the figure reported as of 
February 2022 as the caseload is in a constant state of flux.  The breakdown of the 
expenditure figure was:   

 
 
 

17



Claimant Group RRV317 Number of Claims Total Annual 
Award.  

Pensioners  1,437 £1,984,510 
Vulnerable / Disabled 
Claimants 

892 £1,322,809 

Working Age & Employed 65 £49,972 
Working Age Other 674 £692,117 
Totals 3,068 £4,049,408 

 
4.4 With the determination of a reference expenditure figure of £4,049,408, it has been 

possible to compare the cost of alternative CTS schemes and identify what savings, 
if any, might be made.  

 
5. Runnymede’s current CTS scheme for working age people 

PENSION AGE CLAIMANTS 
• Pensioners are fully protected and continue to receive up to 100% relief towards 

their Council Tax 

 VULNERABLE CLAIMANTS 
• Working Age Vulnerable will have to pay a minimum of 10% towards their Council 

Tax 
• The amount of CTS awarded is limited to Band D   
• The minimum CTS that will be awarded is £5.00 per week 
• The savings/capital limit has remained at £16,000 

 
 OTHER WORKING AGE CLAIMANTS 

• Working Age Employed and all Others will have to pay a minimum of 20% 
towards their Council Tax 

• The amount of CTS awarded is limited to Band D   
• The minimum CTS that will be awarded is £10.00 per week 
• The savings/capital limit has remained at £10,000 

 
5.1 Four options for change were presented to the Corporate Management Committee 

on 23 June 2022. Of these, two were identified by officers as preferred options.  The 
preferred options were seen to be those that balanced the need to simplify the 
scheme and stabilise entitlement but not create a financial burden on all residents of 
the Borough, whilst continuing to provide financial support to as many residents as 
possible.   

 
5.2 Options two and four were approved for consultation with some additional elements 

suggested at the meeting on 23rd June. The consultation was undertaken with our 
precepting authorities and residents of the borough, and deliberately sought the 
views of a cross section of residents.   

 
6. Option 2: Stabilise entitlement for residents in receipt of Universal Credit by 

simplifying what happens when CTS changes by small amounts during the financial 
year.   

 
6.1  Introduce a de minimis amount where any change of circumstances would result in 

an increase or decrease in a working age claimant’s entitlement of less than £3.25 
per week, then no change in CTS will occur until the total changes cumulatively 
amount to at least £3.25 per week.  

 

18



6.2  Where this does occur, the change will be effective from the date of the last change. 
 
6.3  The de-minimis level would be gross income changes of less than £16.25 per week.  
 
6.4  Since January 2022, we have looked at the number of claims that have had a change 

of £3.25 or less. On average around 30% of claims with a change would be affected 
by this measure, and the numbers with a decrease is broadly similar to the number 
who have an increase.  

  Appendix 1 summarises these findings.  
  
7. Option 4: Automate most of the claiming process and reporting changes for those in 

receipt of Universal Credit. Change the minimum weekly entitlement, align uprating 
and the CTS scheme with HB regulations.  

7.1 By using as much Universal Credit data as possible we will be able to calculate 
accurately any entitlement and if necessary, request minimal additional information. 
This will provide residents with the CTS they are entitled to with a simplified claiming 
process and much less burdensome.  

 
7.2 Currently, CTS is underclaimed in part because of the frequent changes and the 

broken link to Housing Benefit claims. We propose taking the UC data and treating 
that as a claim for CTS. However, the data that is shared does not provide all the 
information we need to make a decision under the current scheme.  

 
7.3  To keep the burden on residents to a minimum and provide an accurate assessment 

of their entitlement, we propose Introducing a flat rate non-dependent deduction and 
removing the additional earnings disregard (AED). These changes will allow us to 
use the UC data without the cost and delay of gathering additional information. 

 
7.4 To help our residents with the current pressure on household budgets, we propose 

changing the minimum weekly entitlement for all working age customers to £5.00. 
 
7.5 Should any residents not qualify and need assistance on hardship grounds we have 

the ability to remit council tax on under Section 13A of the Local Government Finance 
Act 1992, taking into consideration the impact on all taxpaying residents.  

 
7.6 Using existing records of claims that fall below the £10 minimum we have been able 

to estimate the number of claims who would continue to receive CTS if the minimum 
were lowered to £5.00. 

 
7.7  This is estimated to cost an additional £50,000 if it were applied to all groups.  

Appendix 2 shows the potential changes to a £5 minimum between April and 
September 2022. 33 residents in the ‘Other’ group and 38 in the ‘Employed’ group 
would retain some entitlement over £5 per week. 

 
7.8  It should be noted though, that for every £5 increase in council tax liability, 37 pence 

went to covering that increase in council tax liability, leaving £4.63 to be spent on 
other services and currently of the £179.55 on each Band D for all our services, 
£9.82 of that goes towards the cost of CTS.  To cover the additional estimated 
£50,000 for changing the minimum to £5 for all groups would cost .33 on the average 
band D. 

 
7.9  Had these changes been in place in April 2022, the cost of CTS would have been 

£10.15 on the average Band D charge. 

19



 
7.10  Align Housing Benefit uprating with Council Tax Support uprating and align the 

Housing Benefit disregard of all local welfare support payments and any future 
legislative changes, subject to agreement of the Assistant Chief Executive in 
consultation with the chair of Corporate Management Committee.  

 
7.11  Fully aligning the CTS scheme with Housing Benefit regulations will make the CTS 

easier to understand and consistent with the other benefit.  This will also allow the 
authority to react more quickly to deliver changes announced in Housing Benefit and 
align the CTS scheme to give the customer an equivalent entitlement.   

 
8. Consultation Responses 

8.1  An independent market research company undertook the consultation on behalf of 
Runnymede Borough Council.  A total of 1,000 questionnaires were issued and the 
survey was available on the Council’s web site.  92 responses were received.   

 
8.2  The consultation group included a wide variety of customer and responses were 

received from those of working and pensionable age, those who are and are not 
economically active as well as those classed as ‘vulnerable’ within the current and 
proposed CTS schemes.   

 
8.3  Officers carefully considered the responses to the consultation and reviewed the 

preferred options for a replacement scheme. As more than half of respondents 
supported the changes proposed, officers are recommending a revision to the 
existing scheme that incorporate elements that are affordable, simpler to understand, 
and can be delivered with the existing software while protecting the vulnerable in our 
community.   

 
8.4  As a consequence officers confirm that the flat rate non-dependant deduction and 

removal of the additional earnings disregard affects those on Universal Credit and will 
not be extended to all working age groups. 

 
8.5  For further clarity, the change to the £5 minimum and the disregard of local welfare 

provision payments affects all working age groups.     
 
8.6  The report of the independent market research company, engaged to seek the 

reviews of residents, is attached to this report as Appendix 3.  
 
8.7  We also consulted the precept authorities Surrey Police and Surrey County Council, 

both of whom supported the proposed changes Appendix 3A. 
 
8.8  Citizens Advice said they supported the automation of claims using universal credit 

data and agreed with the change to the minimum amount.  
 
8.9  At the time of writing, Surrey Welfare Rights had yet to comment.  
    
9. Officer recommendation  

9.1 Having looked at the various options, officers recommend amending the existing 
scheme with the measures set out and detailed above. These were referred to as 
Option 2 and 4 in the report to the Corporate Management Committee on 23 June 
2022 to Councillors, and the additions made subsequently that the public found 
acceptable, and we can deliver using the existing software 

 

20



9.2  By amending the current CTS scheme for those of working age, these changes are in 
summary: 

• Stabilise entitlement for those in receipt of Universal Credit by ignoring changes of 
£3.25 or less in weekly entitlement. 

• Use Universal Credit data to assess entitlement. 
• Introduce flat rate non dependant deductions for claimants in receipt of Universal 

Credit. 
• Remove the additional earnings disregard for those in receipt of Universal Credit. 
• Change the minimum weekly entitlement to £5 for all working age groups. 
• Align the scheme with Housing Benefit uprating annually and with any future 

legislative changes. 
• Disregard local welfare payments for all working age groups   

9.3  The revisions maintain a significant level of protection for a high number of 
vulnerable residents whilst ensuring that the Council does not overspend against the 
CTS budget especially in the current economic crisis and rising cost of living.   

 
10. Mechanism for Revising the CTS Scheme 

10.1  Before the RBC CTS scheme can be revised, there must have been consultation with 
major preceptors and the general public on the possible options for change.  The 
consultation ran between Friday 12th August and Friday 23rd September, giving 
sufficient opportunity for interested parties to comment.  To try and obtain as broad a 
range of consultation responses as possible, it was decided to include a sample of 
the current CTS working age caseload as well as some residents not in receipt of 
CTS.  Officers engaged an independent market research company, tasking them to 
seek the views of approximately 1,000 residents.  The total number of responses to 
the consultation was 92.   

 
10.2  Now the consultation responses are known, and a proposed revised scheme is in 

place, it needs to be agreed by the Council on 8 December 2022.  This will ensure 
that a revised, replacement scheme is agreed before the legislative deadline of 11 
March 2023, enabling adoption and implementation from 1 April 2023.   

 
11. Financial implications 

11.1  The introduction of the £5 minimum entitlement for all working age groups will lead to 
an increase in annual CTS expenditure for approximately £50,000 in each year. 

 
11.2  As the scheme is looking to increase take-up, there will also be a slight increase in 

CTS expenditure of around £10,000.    
 
11.3  The cost and analysis of the consultation was £4,635. 
 
12. Legal Implications 

12.1  When Council Tax Support was introduced, local authorities were obliged to have a 
scheme in place by the 11 March preceding the start of the following financial year. If 
a changed scheme is not approved, then the current scheme would continue for 
another year. 

 
12.2  On 23 June 2022 Corporate Management Committee considered proposed changes 
 to the CTS scheme for 2023/24 prior to a period of consultation on the suggested  

21



 scheme amendments.  
 
12.3  This report asks the Corporate Management Committee to approve a revised CTS  
 scheme for 2023/24.  The report sets out the responses to the consultation exercise  
 carried out with interested parties between 12 August 2022 and Friday 23  
 September 2022.  
 
12.4  Schemes need to be adopted by full Council, with prior consultation undertaken with  
 stakeholders such as the county council, police authority etc.  
 
12.5  Schedule 1A, paragraph 5 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 states: 
 
12.6  For each financial year, each billing authority must consider whether to revise its  
 scheme or to replace it with another scheme  
 
12.7  The above is understood to mean that for every financial year since 2013, local  
 authorities need to have considered whether to amend/revise or keep the same their  
 local scheme.  Best practice suggests that, as part of any review of a local scheme,  
 consultation with stakeholders be undertaken.  As with the initial Council Tax Support  
 scheme from April 2013, the decision to maintain or revise a scheme needs to be  
 made by full Council.     
 
12.8  In addition to any local variations, each year the Government issues regulations  
 amending the default scheme.  Amendments in respect of pensioners must be  
 incorporated into any local scheme.  Whether these amendments need to be  
 included in a local scheme for working age residents are for each local authority to  
 decide.  
 
13. Equality implications 

13.1 Councillors need to demonstrate that they have consciously thought about the three 
aims of the Public Sector Equality Duty, as set out in Section 149 of the Equality At 
2010, as part of the decision-making process.  The three aims the authority must 
have due regard for are:  

 
• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
• advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it 
• foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 

characteristic 

13.2 The Council must pay due regard to any obvious risk of such discrimination arising 
from the decision before them.  There is no prescribed manner in how the equality 
duty must be exercised though producing an EIA is the most usual method. An EIA 
for the proposed 2023/24 scheme has been completed. 

 
13.3 The protected characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and 

civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race (including ethnic or national origins, 
colour or nationality), religion or belief, sex or sexual orientation. 

 
13.4 Councillors will need to consider the effect that implementing any changes to the 

CTS scheme will have on equality before making a final decision at the Council 
meeting of 8th December 2022.  The EIA will assist with this.  If it is apparent that 
CTS policy would have an adverse effect on equality, then adjustments should be 

22



made to seek to reduce that effect and this is known as mitigation.  The options and 
proposals consulted on in revising our CTS scheme will go some way to help 
mitigate the impact on vulnerable groups.   

 
14. Environment, Sustainability and Biodiversity implication  

 
14.1 The stabilisation of CTS entitlement will lead to a reduction in printing and postage 

costs, as will the use of Universal Credit data which will mean less need to contact 
customers and ask for additional information and evidence. 
 

15. Conclusion 
 

15.1 The Committee to recommend to full council the preferred options for Runnymede’s 
Council Tax Support scheme and agree the implementation of the revised scheme 
from 1 April 2023. 
 

15.2 Subject to Committee approval, a members’ briefing explaining the changes will be 
held on 28 November 2022 ahead of the 8 December full council meeting. 

 
(To resolve) 

 
 Background papers:  
 
 Appendix 1 – Ignore small changes CTR605 analysis  
 Appendix 2 – £5 minimum 
 Appendix 3 – Council Tax Support Scheme Consultation 
 Appendix 3a – Consultation response from Preceptors  
 Appendix 4 – Equalities Screening Assessment 
 Appendix 5 – Council Tax Reduction Scheme 
 
 (Appendices 3, 4 and 5 have not been included within the agenda pack but are  

 available on the Council’s website - Agenda for Corporate Management Committee on 
Thursday, 24th November, 2022, 7.30 pm – Runnymede Borough Council) 

23

https://democracy.runnymede.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=152&MId=752&Ver=4
https://democracy.runnymede.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=152&MId=752&Ver=4


Appendix 1 – Ignore small changes CTR605 analysis  
 
TOTALS January to September 
2022   
Group <£3.25 UC >£3.25 UC 
Vulnerable 80 47 100 65 
Employed 22 8 15 5 
Other 81 67 76 66 
          
Total number 
of changes 183 122 191 136 

     
<£3.25 is a reduction in entitlement of £3.25 or less 
>£3.25 is an increase in entitlement of £3.25 or less 

 
During the period January to September there were 183 claims that saw a reduction of £3.25 
in weekly CTS entitlement and 191 claims that saw an increase. 
 
The proposal is to ignore the small changes for those on UC, the table above shows of 374 
changes 69% of those changes would be ignored, reducing billing and contact with 
customers.  

24



Appendix 2 – £5 minimum 
 
Between April and September 2022, we have looked at each claim that fell out of 
entitlement to CTS and assessed if they would have continued to get some CTS if the 
minimum was £5 per week. 
 
This only affects those in the current “Other” and “Employed” Groups, as the Vulnerable 
already have a minimum £5 per week. 
 
In the “Other” Group 33 customers would have received something between £5 and £9.99, 
amounting to an additional £270.96 per week. 
 
In the “Employed” Group 38 customers would have received something between £5 and 
£9.99, amounting to an additional £287.59 per week. 
 
  
Claim 
Part 
Code Scheme 

Cancellation 
Date 

Cancellation 
Reason 

Between £5 & 
£10  

CTR Oth 01/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.72 
CTR Emp 08/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 5.2 
CTR Emp 08/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.46 
CTR Emp 19/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.52 
CTR Emp 20/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.42 
CTR Emp 25/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 6.42 
CTR Emp 25/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 6.61 
CTR Oth 25/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 6.95 
CTR Oth 25/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.99 
CTR Emp 26/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 5 
CTR Emp 26/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.14 
CTR Emp 26/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.25 
CTR Emp 26/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.48 
CTR Oth 26/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.88 
CTR Oth 26/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.48 
CTR Oth 26/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.24 
CTR Emp 28/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.91 
CTR Emp 28/04/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.22 
CTR Oth 02/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 5.91 
CTR Oth 02/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.35 
CTR Emp 03/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 5.55 
CTR Oth 03/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.99 
CTR Emp 04/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 5.31 
CTR Oth 05/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.31 
CTR Oth 06/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.47 
CTR Emp 11/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.57 
CTR Oth 13/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.39 
CTR Emp 16/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.31 
CTR Emp 17/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 5.6 
CTR Oth 17/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.64 
CTR Oth 18/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.23 
CTR Oth 18/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.53 
CTR Emp 24/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.7 

25



CTR Emp 25/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.49 
CTR Oth 27/05/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.71 
CTR Emp 02/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.91 
CTR Emp 07/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.76 
CTR Oth 07/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.64 
CTR Emp 09/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 6.25 
CTR Emp 15/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 6.29 
CTR Oth 16/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.24 
CTR Oth 24/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.43 
CTR Emp 27/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.82 
CTR Emp 28/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 6.92 
CTR Emp 28/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.84 
CTR Oth 28/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.42 
CTR Oth 29/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.45 
CTR Oth 30/06/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.98 
CTR Emp 05/07/2022 Zero Entitlement 5.52 
CTR Oth 05/07/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.35 
CTR Oth 11/07/2022 Zero Entitlement 5.17 
CTR Oth 11/07/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.79 
CTR Oth 13/07/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.56 
CTR Oth 26/07/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.61 
CTR Emp 01/08/2022 Zero Entitlement 5.96 
CTR Oth 01/08/2022 Zero Entitlement 5.6 
CTR Emp 02/08/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.7 
CTR Oth 02/08/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.41 
CTR Oth 05/08/2022 Zero Entitlement 9 
CTR Emp 08/08/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.19 
CTR Emp 09/08/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.5 
CTR Oth 17/08/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.56 
CTR Oth 19/08/2022 Zero Entitlement 6.1 
CTR Emp 22/08/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.53 
CTR Emp 08/09/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.46 
CTR Emp 12/09/2022 Zero Entitlement 7.03 
CTR Emp 16/09/2022 Zero Entitlement 6.78 
CTR Oth 23/09/2022 Zero Entitlement 8.86 
CTR Emp 26/09/2022 Zero Entitlement 9.69 
CTR Emp 28/09/2022 Zero Entitlement 6.7 
CTR Emp 29/09/2022 Zero Entitlement 5.58 

    558.55 
 
Because the new lower entitlement may only come into payment part way through the year 
and other changes may happen later in the year that further reduces or increases 
entitlement. The estimated overall cost has been forecast at £50,000.  
 

26



Appendix 3 
Runnymede Borough Council 
Council Tax Support Scheme Consultation 
Survey carried out by SMSR Social Research 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
October 2022 (V02) 
 

  

27



2 | P a g e  
 

Contents 
 
Introduction ..............................................................................................................................3 

Background .........................................................................................................................................3 

Report Structure .................................................................................................................................5 

Methodology and Sample .........................................................................................................6 

Methodology ......................................................................................................................................6 

Sample ................................................................................................................................................7 

Main Findings ............................................................................................................................9 

Appendix .................................................................................................................................17 

Letter ................................................................................................................................................17 

Questionnaire ...................................................................................................................................18 

 

  

28



3 | P a g e  
 

Introduction 
 

Background 
 
From April 2013 the national system of Council Tax Benefit stopped and every council had to design 
and manage their own local scheme for Council Tax Support (CTS). At the same time, the 
Government reduced the funding to local authorities by 10%. For Runnymede Borough Council this 
equates to approximately £460,000 less to spend each year on supporting lower income residents. 
 
The Council has had to make some difficult decisions about who gets financial support and how they 
can assist those in need. In April 2019 we introduced a new scheme for working age customers that 
removed entitlement for those in bands F, G and H, introduced a minimum income floor that mirrors 
the provision in Universal Credit (UC), restricted the minimum entitlement to £5 & £10, reduced the 
level of savings that can be held and made some administration changes to align entitlement with 
UC. 
 
CTS is a means tested financial support scheme that helps low-income households pay their Council 
Tax. In calculating entitlement, the Council compare an applicant’s income and capital to the amount 
a person in their circumstances needs to live on each week – their applicable amount. 
 
UNIVERSAL CREDIT 
 
Claimants and families on a low income are expected to claim Universal Credit to assist with their 
living expenses / rent and will also need to make a separate claim for CTS to receive assistance with 
their Council Tax. By March 2025, virtually everyone of working age will only be able to claim 
Universal Credit. 
 
Every time a claimant’s CTS entitlement changes, we are obliged to notify them in writing of this 
change. They are also issued a new Council Tax bill. This can lead to frequent changes and lots of bills 
being issued during the year, causing confusion and restricting the ability for households to budget. 
 
The volume of work now generated by Universal Credit causing a change in every month is becoming 
unmanageable, and is only set to increase as the legacy benefits such as child and working tax 
credits are replaced by UC. 
 
2023 ONWARDS CTS SCHEME 
 
For the 2023-24 CTS scheme and beyond, there are two options available – The Council can maintain 
the scheme in its current form or stabilise CTS entitlement and use more UC data to decide 
entitlement to CTS. 
 
Runnymede Borough Council are proposing to change the CTS scheme because it wants to simplify 
and stabilise the scheme for working-age residents. The scheme for pensioners will not change from 
the current scheme unless the Government makes changes. 

29



4 | P a g e  
 

 
Therefore, Runnymede Borough Council want to consult with the public on our preferred options, as 
well as the only alternative option which is to keep the CTS as it currently is. 
 
The Council want to strike a balance between the need to provide financial stability to residents 
whilst maintaining a scheme that is financially sustainable for the council’s wider budget. 
 
The Council’s preferred options are: 
 
(a) stabilise entitlement for residents by simplifying what happens when the Council Tax Support 
entitlement changes by small amounts during the financial year 
 
(b) simplify our scheme by using Universal Credit data and automating the claims process for 
residents who are awarded Universal Credit. 
 
Runnymede Borough Council commissioned SMSR Ltd, an independent research company, to 
undertake a consultation to enable residents from across the borough to have their say on the 
options available.  

30



5 | P a g e  
 

Report Structure 
 
This report includes headline findings for each question combined with insight based on any 
significant demographic trends. It should be noted that when the results are discussed within the 
report, often percentages will be rounded up or down to the nearest one per cent.  Therefore, 
occasionally figures may add up to 101% or 99%.  Due to multiple responses being allowed for the 
question, some results may exceed the sum of 100%. 
 
Trends identified in the reporting are statistically significant at a 95% confidence level. This means 
that there is only 5% probability that the difference has occurred by chance (a commonly accepted 
level of probability), rather than being a ‘real’ difference. Unless otherwise stated, statistically 
significant trends have been reported on.  
 
Some questions have been subject to cross-tabulation against demographic information and 
significance tested to a 95% confidence level. Not all demographic trends displayed in charts are 
significant, however, those that have been commented on throughout the report.  

31



6 | P a g e  
 

Methodology and Sample 
 

Methodology 
 
A questionnaire was designed by Runnymede Borough Council with support from SMSR Research, a 
copy of which can be found in the appendices. All versions of the questionnaire were validated prior 
to the fieldwork to ensure it was easy for residents to complete and that the findings would meet 
the aims and objectives of the consultation. 
 
A paper-based survey was delivered by post to 1000 residents in the borough, selected at random; 
500 surveys sent to residents who receive Council Tax Support and may be affected by any changes 
and 500 to a random sample of Runnymede residents, who are registered to pay council tax.  
Runnymede Borough Council provided a database of residents which consisted of the following 
groups: 
 

Group Number 

PENSIONABLE 100 

VULNERABLE 150 

WORKING AGE EMPLOYED 60 

WORKING AGE OTHER 190 

RANDOM 500 

 
 
Additionally, an online survey was produced with the link being hosted on a dedicated page on the 
council’s website and promoted via various media streams. 
 
All fieldwork was conducted between Friday 12th August and Friday 23rd September. 
 

  

32



7 | P a g e  
 

Sample 
 
In total 92 residents responded to the questionnaire 72 replied by post and 20 respondents 
completed the online survey. Below is a breakdown of the demographic makeup of the participants: 
 

Gender Number Percentage 

Male 33 36% 

Female 57 62% 

Prefer not to say 2 2% 

 

Age Number Percentage 

16-24 1 1% 

25-34 11 12% 

35-44 2 2% 

45-54 21 23% 

55-64 26 28% 

65-74 12 13% 

75+ 17 19% 

Prefer not to say 2 2% 

 

Activity Number Percentage 

Employee in a full-time job 22 24% 

Employee in part-time job 10 11% 

Self-employed 5 5% 

Not working or unemployed 22 24% 

Retired 30 33% 

Prefer not to say 3 3% 

 

Ethnicity Number Percentage 

White British 81 88% 

Ethnic Minority Background 7 8% 

Prefer not to say 4 4% 

33



8 | P a g e  
 

 

Disability Number Percentage 

Yes 30 33% 

No 58 63% 

Prefer not to say 4 4% 

 

Group Number Percentage 

Pensionable 9 10% 

Vulnerable 12 63% 

Working Age – Employed 4 4% 

Working Age – Other 9 10% 

Random 58 63% 

 
  

34



9 | P a g e  
 

Main Findings 
 
Respondents were initially asked if, given the information provided, Runnymede Borough Council 
should change the Council Tax Support Scheme for 2023-24 or if they should keep it the same: 
 

 
Just over half (52%) revealed they preferred to change the scheme with less than a third (29%) 
opposed to this action. A fifth said they did not know (20%). Although data levels are low and any 
demographic trends should only be taken as indicative, respondents in receipt of Council Tax 
Support were more likely to prefer the scheme remained the same for 2023-24 compared 
respondents not claiming support. Further to this, 67% of Pensionable respondents, 50% of 
Vulnerable Respondents and 78% of Working Age – other respondents said they would prefer the 
scheme to remain the same; conversely only 10% of non-claimants chose this option with 72% 
advocating the changes to the scheme. 
 
Respondents were asked to indicate the impact the changes would have on their household: 
 

 
Almost half (46%) felt the changes would have no impact on their household; a third felt the changes 
would impact their household in some way: 16% said the changes would have a high impact; fewer 
(8%) believe the changes will have a medium impact and a tenth (9%) felt the changes would have a 
low impact on their household. A fifth were not sure (21%). 

52%

29%

20%

Change the scheme

Do not change the scheme

Don’t know

Do you agree that we should change our Council Tax Support 
scheme for 2023-24, or would you prefer to keep it the same?

46%

9% 8%
16%

21%

No impact Low impact Medium 
impact

High impact Not sure

What impact would this change have on your household?

35



10 | P a g e  
 

In the current scheme every change in income must be considered and a change of a few pence can 
result in a revision to the weekly entitlement. The Council want to reduce the number of changes in 
entitlement by simplifying what happens when the Council Tax Support entitlement changes by 
small amounts during the financial year. Respondents were asked if they agreed with this change: 
 

 
 

Overall, almost two thirds (64%) confirmed they agree that changes of entitlement of £3.25 or less 
should be ignored to stabilise council tax support entitlement. A quarter (26%) said they strongly 
agree and almost two fifths (38%) agreed. Less than a fifth (17%) disagreed, overall, with this change 
to the system; a tenth (9%) revealed they disagree and a fewer (8%) said they strongly disagree. A 
fifth (19%) said they did not know. 
 

 
Half felt this change would have no impact on their household (51%), however, a quarter (26%) 
believe this amendment to the scheme would have some level of impact. A tenth (11%) said the 
change would have a high impact, fewer foresaw a medium impact (9%) and less than a tenth (6%) 
predicted this would have a low impact on their household. A quarter (24%) were unsure what 
impact this would have. 
 
 
 

26%

38%

9%

8%

19%
Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don’t know

Do you agree that we should ignore changes in entitlement of £3.25 
or less to stabilise CTS entitlement for those claiming Universal 

Credit?

51%

6% 9% 11%

24%

No impact Low impact Medium impact High impact Not sure

What impact would this change have on your household?

36



11 | P a g e  
 

Since Runnymede Borough Council introduced its CTS scheme in April 2013, the amount that a non-
dependant is expected to pay towards the Council Tax has, for each financial year, increased to 
match the rate specified in the prescribed requirements for pensioners. When a claimant has other 
adults in the household, like grown up children or parents, the amount of help they can receive is 
reduced in respect of each person. Although some are exempt and will remain so, the current 
weekly deductions range from £4.20 to £12.45 each week.  
 
Respondents were asked whether they agree with the introduction of flat rate deductions: 
 

 
 

More than half (54%) said they agree, overall, with the proposal of flat rate deductions; just over a 
tenth (12%) strongly agreed with the change and around two-fifths (42%) said they agree. A fifth 
(19%) provided some level of disagreement to this change with more than a tenth (12%) expressing 
strong disagreement and less than a tenth (7%) stating they disagreed. More than a quarter (27%) 
said they did not know.  
 

 
Almost three-fifths (57%) felt the introduction of flat rate deductions would have no impact on their 
household. Conversely, a quarter believe the change will have some form of impact: a tenth (10%) 
say this change will incur a high impact; less than a tenth (7%), a medium impact and 8% say the 
change will have a low impact on their household. Just under a fifth (19%) did not know. 

12%

42%

7%

12%

27% Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don’t know

Do you agree that we should introduce flat rate deductions of £5.00 
for non-dependants out of work and £10.00 for those in-work where 

the claimant is claiming Universal Credit?

57%

8% 7% 10%
19%

No impact Low impact Medium impact High impact Not sure

What impact would this change have on your household?

37



12 | P a g e  
 

Respondents were asked if The Council should also apply the flat rate deductions to all working age 
groups: 

 
Almost half (47%) advocate applying flat rate deductions to all working age groups. More than a fifth 
(22%) do not feel this should be applied and around a third (31%) did not know. 
 

 
More than half (53%) believe that applying the proposed flat rate deductions to all working age 
groups would have no impact on their household. Just under a quarter (23%) say they would feel 
some level of impact in respect of this change. More than a tenth (14%) forecast this change will 
have a high impact on their household, just 3% believe this will have a medium impact and less than 
a tenth (6%), a low impact. Around a quarter were not sure what impact this may have. 
 
When a claimant has earned income, The Council make a deduction from their net pay before it 
takes the earnings into account. For those working 30 hours or 16 hours if disabled or a couple with 
children, The Council ignore (disregard) £17.10 of those earnings. As Universal Credit is replacing 
Working Tax Credit, the link between this disregard and the amount people receive has changed.  
 
Respondents were asked if they agree with removing additional earnings disregard when calculating 
entitlement for those claiming Universal Credit: 

47%

22%

31%
Yes

No

Don't know

Should we also apply these flat rate deductions to all working age 
groups and not just those claiming Universal Credit?

53%

6% 3%

14%
23%

No impact Low impact Medium impact High impact Not sure

What impact would this change have on your household?

38



13 | P a g e  
 

 
 
Less than half (45%) said they agreed with this change to the scheme, a tenth said they strongly 
agree (11%) and a third chose to agree (34%). Around a quarter (23%) opposed this action; 13% said 
they disagreed and a tenth (10%) disclosed they strongly disagreed. Just less than a third (31%) felt 
they did not know, either way. 
 

 
 

The majority (57%) did not feel that removing the additional earnings disregard when calculating 
entitlement would have any impact on them or their household whereas 22% anticipated some 
degree of impact. Around a tenth (9%) felt the change would have a high impact on their household 
and 7% believed this would bring about a medium impact. A further 7% thought the impact of this 
change to the scheme would have a low impact on their household. 
 
Further to this, The Council asked respondents if it should remove the additional earnings disregard 
when calculating entitlement for all working age groups and not just those claiming Universal Credit: 
 

11%

34%

13%

10%

31% Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don’t know

Do you agree that we should remove the additional earnings 
disregard when calculating entitlement for those claiming Universal 

Credit?

57%

7% 7% 9%

21%

No impact Low impact Medium impact High impact Not sure

What impact would this change have on your household?

39



14 | P a g e  
 

 
Two fifths (39%) said The Council should remove the additional earnings disregard when calculating 
entitlement for all working age groups; around a fifth (22%) opposed this proposal and two-fifths 
(39%) did not know if this action should be taken or not. 
 

 
 
More than half (53%) of those who responded to the survey did not expect this change to have any 
impact on their household. A fifth (19%) anticipated some impact with a tenth expecting impact to 
be high (9%), just 2% forecasting a medium impact and just less than a tenth (8%), a low impact. 
More than a quarter were not sure if this proposal would have any impact on their household. 
 
Currently, the most vulnerable can receive a minimum of £5 per week council tax support. The 
minimum weekly entitlement for everyone else not treated as vulnerable (Employed and Other 
groups) is £10.00 per week. The Council is considering making the minimum weekly entitlement 
£5.00 per week for all. 
 
Respondents were asked to what extent they agree or disagree the minimum weekly amount for all 
working age groups should be changed: 
 

39%

22%

39% Yes

No

Don't know

Should we remove the additional earnings disregard when 
calculating entitlement for all working age groups and not just those 

claiming Universal Credit?

53%

8%
2%

9%

28%

No impact Low impact Medium impact High impact Not sure

What impact would this change have on your household?

40



15 | P a g e  
 

 
 

The majority advocated this change to the scheme to some extent (54%) with more than a tenth 
(13%) in strong agreement and two-fifths (41%) in agreement. Overall, a quarter (26%) rejected the 
proposal – 15% said they disagree and a tenth (11%) stated they strongly disagree. A fifth (20%) said 
they did not know. 
 

 
 

The highest proportion of respondents felt that changing the minimum weekly amount for all 
Working Age groups would have no impact on their household (47%). However, a third (32%) did 
predict this action would have some form of impact on their household. More than a tenth (14%) 
believed the change would have a high impact, less than a tenth (7%) a medium impact and around 
a tenth (11%) said this may have a low impact on their household.  
 
The Government has introduced a number of payments under the umbrella term local welfare 
support. These are for things like the ‘Thank you’ payment for hosts of Ukrainian guests. Currently, 
The Council would have to take this money into account when deciding how much Council Tax 
Support someone will get. 
 
Finally, respondents were asked if Runnymede Borough Council should disregard local welfare 
support payments for all working groups: 
 

13%

41%
15%

11%

20%
Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don’t know

Do you agree that we should change the minimum weekly amount 
for all Working Age groups?

47%

11%
7%

14%
21%

No impact Low impact Medium impact High impact Not sure

What impact would this change have on your household?

41



16 | P a g e  
 

 

 
Two-fifths (40%) were inclined to agree with this change, a tenth (10%) stating they strongly agree 
that local welfare support payments should be disregarded. Almost a third (31%) did not agree; 16% 
said the disagree and 14% said they strongly disagree. Three-tenths (30%) did not know. 
 

 
 

Almost three-fifths (57%) did not envisage this change to the scheme would have any significant 
impact on their household. A fifth (20%) did feel that this proposed change would have some 
impact; a tenth (10%) said they would expect a high impact, fewer (6%) felt this would have a 
medium impact and 4%, a low impact. 
 
 

  

10%

30%

16%

14%

30% Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Don’t know

Do you agree that we should disregard local welfare support 
payments for all Working Age groups?

57%

4% 6% 10%

23%

No impact Low impact Medium impact High impact Not sure

What impact would this change have on your household?

42



17 | P a g e  
 

Appendix 
 

Letter 
 

 
  

43



18 | P a g e  
 

Questionnaire 
 

 
 

44



19 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

 

45



20 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

46



21 | P a g e  
 

 
 

 

47



22 | P a g e  
 

 
  

48



23 | P a g e  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Social & Market Strategic Research 
Wellington House 
108 Beverley Road 
Kingston-Upon-Hull 
HU3 1YA 
(01482) 211200 

49



1 
 

Appendix 4 
 

EQUALITY SCREENING 
 
Equality Impact Assessment guidance should be considered when completing this form.  

 

POLICY/FUNCTION/ACTIVITY LEAD OFFICER 

Council Tax Support scheme Ed Bowen 

 
 
A. What is the aim of this policy, function or activity? Why is it needed? What is it hoped to 
achieve and how will it be ensured it works as intended? Does it affect service users, employees or the 
wider community? 
The proposed changes to the Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme are relevant to all of the nine 
protected equality characteristics.  This is on the basis that CTS is available to all residents of 
the borough.   
 
With the above in mind, the impact of the proposed changes on each individual equality 
strand has been considered as part of this EIA.  Diversity within the stands has also been borne 
in mind.  
 
 

B. Is this policy, function or activity relevant to equality? Does the policy, function or activity 
relate to an area in which there are known inequalities, or where different groups have different needs 
or experience? Remember, it may be relevant because there are opportunities to promote equality and 
greater access, not just potential for adverse impacts or unlawful discrimination.  
The Protected Characteristics are; Sex, Age, Disability, Race, Religion and Beliefs, Sexual Orientation, 
Marriage and Civil Partnership, Gender Reassignment, Pregnancy and Maternity. 
The main aspect of the proposed changes to the CTS scheme, is to simplify the scheme, make 
claiming easier and reduce the number of small changes to entitlement for those on Universal 
Credit. 
 
Although the current scheme includes vulnerable persons some will move into a new group 
with some changes, but the majority of existing protections will continue. They will only move 
into the new group if they receive UC. 
 
A ‘vulnerable person’ within the scheme is someone who qualifies for the severe or enhanced 
disability premium or has a child disability premium. 
 
 
If the policy, function or activity is considered to be relevant to equality then a full Equality 
Impact Assessment may need to be carried out. If the policy function or activity does not 
engage any protected characteristics, then you should complete Part C below. Where Protected 
Characteristics are engaged, but Full Impact Assessment is not required because measures are 
in place or are proposed to be implemented that would mitigate the impact on those affected 
or would provide an opportunity to promote equalities, please complete Part C.  
 
 

50



2 
 

C. If the policy, function or activity is not considered to be relevant to equality, what are the 
reasons for this conclusion? Alternatively, if it is considered that there is an impact on any 
Protected of Characteristics  but that measures are in place or are proposed to be 
implemented please state those measures and how it/they are expected to have the desired 
result. What evidence has been used to make this decision? A simple statement of ‘no 
relevance’ or ‘no data’ is not sufficient. 
 Should it be appropriate, a disabled person impacted by the proposed changes could apply for 
relief for any lost entitlement due to the changed non-dependant deductions, under Section 
13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.   
 

This screening assessment will need to be referred to the Equality Group for challenge before 
sign-off.  
 
Date completed: 
Sign-off by senior manager: 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

51



3 
 

 
 
 
 

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
SCOPING  
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
1. What aspects of the policy function or activity are particularly relevant to equality? Other 
aspects should not necessarily be excluded from the assessment, but attention should be focused on 
the most important areas and include which of the equality strands the policy function or activity is 
relevant to. Diversity within the strands should also be considered. Please consider whether any 
comments made in Part B of the Screening form are relevant here.  
Those considered vulnerable and claiming UC may see a reduction on their entitlement if they 
have a non-dependant living with them. However, the number affected is small as most will 
remain exempt from any non-dependant deductions.  
 
The proposal to ignore small changes may also result in a reduction in entitlement over the 
year. However, for just as many there will be a slight increase. 
 
The nature of welfare benefits is that it is predominantly claimed by women. The effect of 
these changes are equal regardless of sex, but it is a fact that more women than men will be 
face changes as they make up the majority of the caseload.     
 
The changes of the scheme will have a positive impact on those with protected characteristics 
by ensuring those that may be eligible are picked up at an earlier stage and assessed rather 
than being invited to make a claim and for whatever reason do not do so. It reduces the need 
to continually assess small changes so that vulnerable families are able to meet their Council 
Tax obligations. The consultation has broadly supported the changes suggested and will there 
is also a discretionary fund that will support those who may not be entitled to CTS so acts as a 
safety net to the scheme.  
 
 
 
 
 

2. Set out the available evidence that will help you assess the impact of this policy function 
or activity on equality. This could include service-level monitoring data, analysis of 
complaints/enquiry records, existing user feedback, data obtained from external sources and 
information about the local community. You may find it useful to compare your service-user statistics 
against the Runnymede population profile.  

52

../../../../../../wpcpub/EIA%20Statistics.doc
../../../../../../wpcpub/EIA%20Statistics.doc
../../../../../../wpcpub/EIA%20Statistics.doc
../../../../../../wpcpub/EIA%20Statistics.doc


4 
 

Modelling these changes allows us to measure the impact on the overall budget and down to 
individual cases.  
 
 

 
 
 
 

3. What consultation and involvement has been undertaken in relation to this (or a similar) 
policy, function or activity and what are the results? If none have been carried out, what 
consultation will be needed? Data may be available from recent consultation activities on a related 
policy or Equality impact assessment. 
 
A public consultation on these changes has been carried out as required in the local 
government finance act. The field work took place between 12th August and 23rd September 
2022 and included a canvass of 1,000 residents and a public website consultation.  
 

 
 
 

4. Are there any gaps in the information established from the consultation and involvement 
undertaken and referred to in Part 3? If so, set out how these gaps will be filled? 
 
None 

 
Where it is not possible to fill information/data gaps in time to inform this assessment, specific action 
points will need to be included in the action plan section Part 10 below, with a focus on monitoring the 
actual impact of the policy function or activity. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

53



5 
 

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
ASSESSING IMPACT 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
 
It is essential to consider not just the intended consequences of the policy but also any unintended 
consequences and barriers that might prevent it being effective for people within any of the Protected 
Characteristic groups. 
Please use the Grid included below to assess the impact of the Policy/function/action on each of the 
Protected Characteristics. When completing the assessment, please bear in mind the following 
questions.  
 

1. What are the main findings of your consultation and involvement activities, and do 
they demonstrate problems that need to be addressed? For example, could the policy, 
function or activity outcomes differ according to people’s ethnic group, disability, 
gender, religion/belief, sexual orientation, or age? For instance, there might be 
evidence of higher or lower participation/uptake by different groups. 

 
2. If there is a disproportionate impact on one group, is it appropriate and consistent 

with the objective? For instance the policy may include lawful positive action or other 
methods to address particular needs or may be considered to be a proportionate means of 
achieving a legitimate aim 

 
 Positive   Negative                 Comments Protected 

Characteristic 
 High Low 

 
 
Neutral 
 

 High Low  

 
 
 
 
Age 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 X   The Council Tax Support Regulations and Welfare 
Reform Act 2012, stipulate any changes to a local 
council tax support scheme can only affect working 
age residents. 
 
For some the impact will be a reduction in annual 
CTS, but for others there may be an increase or 
entitlement for the first time.  
 
The proposals are designed to be broadly equal on 
the number and value of impacts. 

 
 
 
Disability 
 
 

  X    The Vulnerable group are protected and only 
those who move onto UC will experience any 
change to their entitlement. 
Existing protections will remain, but some may see 
their entitlement change less frequently, but this is 
the purpose to create stability and allow for better 
household budgeting.   
 

 
Gender  
Reassignment 

  X   No impact 

54



6 
 

 
 
Marriage / Civil  
Partnership 
 
 

  X   No impact 

 
 
Pregnancy /  
Maternity 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 X   No impact 

 
 
Race 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

X   No impact 

 
 
 
 
Religion / Belief 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

X   No impact 

 
 
 
Sex  

 
 
 
 

 X   Other than as already pointed out that CTS is 
claimed by more women than men and so any 
change will affect more women than men. 

 
 
 
Sexual Orientation 

  X   No impact 

 
 
5. Does the policy, function or activity miss potential opportunities to promote equality or 
positive attitudes to (and between) different Protected Characteristics or communities? 

 
By using data direct from DWP and making changes we are aiming to increase take up of an 
underclaimed benefit. Often it is those groups with protected characteristics and communities 
who are difficult to reach and do not claim what they are entitled to.  

------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 
ADDRESSING THE IMPACT: ACTION PLANNING, MONITORING AND REVIEW 
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

55



7 
 

 

6. Does the policy, function or activity require reconsideration or amendment? If not, explain 
the reasons for this conclusion. If an adverse impact has been identified, you will need to set out the 
justification for continuing the policy, function or activity or outline measures to mitigate the impact. 
We can only change the scheme once a year and have to consult with the public and 
preceptors if there are significant changes to be made.  
 
The proposed scheme is to see us through another 3 years from April 2023 to March 2026. 
Any changes would be consulted on during 2025, ahead of any changes to be implemented for 
April 2026. Should it be necessary to change the scheme completely earlier, this would not be 
possible until the following April. 
 
There is relief available under Section 13A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 to 
anyone impacted by the changes.   
 
 

7. What actions have you identified as a result of this equality impact assessment? These 
might include improving data collection in order to give a clearer picture of your service-users, physical 
adjustments to a building, arranging for information to be sent out to individuals in alternative formats 
or languages, or consulting with a wider group of people to understand the impact of the policy. 
 
Using DWP data feeds will allow for more automation of the claim process with less need for 
claimants to provide all their information again. 
 
We will be able to store and record all these records in our DMS and can be used for future 
monitoring and gathering a better picture of our caseload to shape new services and meet 
demands.    

 

8. Action Plan (where applicable): Who will be responsible for completing these actions and 
in what timescale? How will you review the actual impact of this policy function or activity? 
Provide details of timescale and actions for review, and details of how the actions will be evaluated to 
measure if expected outcomes are achieved in practice. You may have identified ‘triggers’ that would 
indicate a problem with the policy, function or activity and suggest a revision is be needed. 
Monthly monitoring of caseload and spend is already conducted and benchmarking each 
quarter is reported to Surrey CEOs and to peers in benchmarking groups. 
 
Due to the cost-of-living crisis and potential financial crash, the caseload and spend may 
increase. There are a number of factors, such as the e-claim form that has increased demand 
for CTS by around 50%. These will be monitored, but as the CTS is demand fed, there is little 
that can be done to reduce this other than to reverse measures and make the scheme harsher 
in future years. 
 
 
This assessment will need to be referred to the Equality Group for challenge.  
 
Date completed: 
 
Sign-off by an authorised Officer/Manager: 

56



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 1 of 141 
 

 
 

Appendix 5 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The Runnymede Borough Council 
(Council Tax Reduction Scheme) 
(Persons who are not Pensioners) 

2023-24 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This document/publication is also available on our website at: 
 

www.runnymede.gov.uk 
 
 

Any enquiries regarding this document/publication should be sent to us at: 
 
 

Runnymede Borough Council  
Civic Centre 
Station Road 
Addlestone 
Surrey 
KT15 2AH 

 

 
Telephone: 01932 838383 

Email: benefits@runnymede.gov.uk  

  

57



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 2 of 141 
 

 

 
 

The Runnymede Borough Council (Council 
Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are 

not Pensioners) 2023-24 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved and Made by Council 8 December 2022 
 
Coming into effect  1 April 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
Runnymede Borough Council makes the following Scheme in exercise of the functions - 

 
 
(a) conferred by sections 13A(1)(a), 13A(2), 13A(3) and Schedule 1A to the Local 
Government Finance Act 1992 and all other enabling powers, 

 

(b) pursuant to Regulations made under section 113(1) and (2) to the 1992 Act and 
paragraph 2 of Schedule 1A to the Local Government Finance Act 2012 and 

 

(c) in accordance with Parts 1 to 3 and Schedules 7 to 8 of The Council Tax Reduction 
Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012. 

58



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 3 of 141 
 

 
 
Contents 

1 Introduction .....................................................................................................................8 
1.1 Annual Review of Council Tax Reduction Scheme ............................................8 
1.2 Replacement Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023-24 .....................................8 
1.3 Pensioners .........................................................................................................8 
1.4 Work Incentives ...................................................................................................9 
1.5 Vulnerability .......................................................................................................9 
1.6 Not Use  .............................................................................................................9 

2 Matters to be included  ..........................................................................................9 
Chapter 1 - Prescribed Statutory Requirements  ............................................................11 

Part 1 - Introduction  ...................................................................................................11 
1. Citation, amendment and application  ..............................................................11 

Part 2 - Interpretation  .................................................................................................11 
2. Interpretation  ...................................................................................................11 
3. Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners  ..........20 
4. Meaning of “couple”  ...........................................................................................21 
5. Polygamous marriages  ......................................................................................21 
6. Meaning of “family”  .............................................................................................21 
7. Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not 
responsible for another  ..........................................................................................22 
8. Households  ........................................................................................................22 
9. Non-dependants  ................................................................................................23 
10. Remunerative work  ..........................................................................................24 

Part 3 - Prescribed classes of persons  ......................................................................25 
11. Pensioners  .......................................................................................................25 
12. Persons treated as not being in Great Britain  ..................................................25 
13. Persons subject to immigration control  ............................................................26 

Part 4 - Procedural Matters  ........................................................................................26 
14. Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under the authority’s 
scheme  ..................................................................................................................26 
15. Procedure by which a person may appeal against certain decisions of the 
authority  .................................................................................................................27 
16. Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction  ........................................28 

Part 5 - Electronic Communication  ............................................................................28 
17. Interpretation  ....................................................................................................28 
18. Conditions for the use of electronic communication  .........................................28 
19. Use of intermediaries  .......................................................................................29 
20. Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication  ...........29 

59



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 4 of 141 
 

21. Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information  .......................................29 
22. Proof of delivery of information  .........................................................................30 
23. Proof of content of information  .........................................................................30 

Part 6 - Extended Reductions: Movers  ......................................................................30 
24. Extended reductions: movers into an authority’s area  ......................................30 

Part 7 - Applications  ...................................................................................................30 
25. Making an application  ......................................................................................30 
26. Date on which an application is made  ..............................................................32 
27. Information and evidence  .................................................................................34 
28. Amendment and withdrawal of application  .......................................................35 
29. Duty to notify changes of circumstances  ..........................................................36 

PART 8 - Decisions by an authority  ...........................................................................37 
30. Decision by authority  ........................................................................................37 
31. Notification of decision  .....................................................................................37 

PART 9 - Award or payment of reduction  ..................................................................38 
32. Payment where there is joint and several liability  .............................................38 
33. 35. Not used.  ....................................................................................................38 

Chapter 2 - Local Scheme Requirements  .....................................................................39 
Part 10 - Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme  ......................39 

36. Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme  ...........................39 
37. Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is equal to or less  
than the applicable amount  ....................................................................................39 
38. Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the 
applicable amount  ..................................................................................................39 
39. Class F - Not used  ...........................................................................................40 
40. Periods of absence from a dwelling  .................................................................40 
41. Classes of person excluded from this scheme  .................................................44 
42. Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit  .................................44 
42A Class of person excluded from this scheme: valuation band F, G and H  ........44 
43. Class of person excluded from this scheme: students  .....................................44 

Part 11 - Applicable amounts  .....................................................................................45 
44. Applicable amounts  ..........................................................................................45 
45. Polygamous marriages  ....................................................................................45 
46. Applicable amount: persons who have an award of universal credit  ................46 

Part 12 - Maximum council tax reduction  ...................................................................47 
47. Maximum council tax reduction under this scheme  ..........................................47 
48. Non-dependant deduction  ................................................................................47 

PART 13 - Not used  ..................................................................................................50 

60



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 5 of 141 
 

PART 14 - Amount of reduction  .................................................................................50 
49. Amount of reduction under this scheme: classes D to E  ..................................50 
49A. Minimum amount of reduction under this scheme  .........................................50 

PART 15 - Income and capital - General  ...................................................................50 
50. Calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family and polygamous marriages 
............................................................................................................................. 50 

51. Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated 
as the applicant’s  ...................................................................................................51 
52. Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit  .......................51 
52A. Treatment of deductions from Universal Credit................................................52 

Part 16 - Income; persons who do not have an award of universal credit  .................53 
53. Average weekly earnings of employed earners  ...............................................53 
54. Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners  .........................................54 
55. Average weekly income other than earnings  ...................................................55 
56. Calculation of weekly income of employed earners  .........................................55 
57. Earnings of employed earners  .........................................................................56 
58. Calculation of net earnings of employed earners  .............................................57 
59. Earnings of self-employed earners  ...................................................................58 
60. Calculation of income other than earnings  .......................................................58 
61. Capital treated as income  ................................................................................60 
62. Notional income  ...............................................................................................60 
63. Calculation of income on a weekly basis  ..........................................................63 
64. Treatment of childcare charges  ........................................................................64 
65. Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits  ....................................69 
66. Disregard of changes in tax and contributions etc.  ...........................................69 
67. Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners  ............................................70 
68. Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners  .....72 

Part 17 - Capital; persons who do not have an award of universal credit  ..................73 
69. Calculation of capital  ........................................................................................73 
70. Income treated as capital  .................................................................................73 
71. Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom  ....................................................74 
72. Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom  ...........................................74 
73. Notional capital  ................................................................................................74 
74. Diminishing notional capital rule  .......................................................................76 
75. Capital jointly held  ............................................................................................79 
76. Calculation of tariff income from capital  ............................................................79 

Part 18 - Students - General  ......................................................................................79 
77. Interpretation  ....................................................................................................79 

61



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 6 of 141 
 

78. Treatment of students  ......................................................................................82 
79. Students who are excluded from entitlement to a council tax reduction under 
this scheme  ............................................................................................................82 

Part 19 - Student Income  ...........................................................................................85 
80. Calculation of grant income  ..............................................................................85 
81. Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed  ..................87 
82. Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed  ........87 
83. Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 3  .....................87 
84. Other amounts to be disregarded  ....................................................................88 
85. Treatment of student loans  ..............................................................................88 
86. Treatment of payments from access funds  ......................................................89 
87. Disregard of contribution  ..................................................................................90 
88. Further disregard of student’s income  ..............................................................90 
89. Income treated as capital  .................................................................................90 
90. Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation  ................................91 

Part 20 - Extended Reductions  ..................................................................................91 
91. Extended reductions (qualifying income-related benefits)  ................................91 
92. Duration of extended reduction period: (qualifying income-related benefits) .... 92 
93. Amount of extended reduction: (qualifying income-related benefits)  ................92 
94. Extended reductions—movers: (qualifying income-related benefits)  ...............92 
95. Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to reduction by 
virtue of classes D to G  ..........................................................................................93 
96. Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)  .....................................93 
97. Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits)  .......94 
98. Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)  ......................94 
99. Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) - movers  ......................94 
100. Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
and entitlement to reduction by virtue of classes D to  ............................................95 
101. Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority’s area  ...................95 

Part 21 - When entitlement begins and change of circumstances  .............................96 
102. Date on which entitlement begins  ..................................................................96 
103. Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect  ...............................96 
104. Date on which an advantageous change of circumstances is to take effect. 97 
105. Late notification of a change of circumstances  ..............................................97 
106. Back-dating of applications  ............................................................................97 

Part 22 - Changes in the amount of reduction  ...........................................................98 
107. Adjustments to the amount of reduction  .........................................................98 

Part 23 - Other Matters  ..............................................................................................98 
108. Transitional Provision - procedural matters  ....................................................98 

62



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 7 of 141 
 

Schedule 1 - Applicable Amounts  .................................................................................99 
Part 1 - Personal Allowances  .....................................................................................99 
Part 2 - Family premium  ..........................................................................................100 
Part 3 - Premiums  ....................................................................................................101 

Disability premium  ................................................................................................102 
Additional condition for the disability premium  .....................................................102 
Severe disability premium  ....................................................................................104 
Enhanced disability premium  ...............................................................................105 
Disabled child premium  ........................................................................................106 
Carer premium  .....................................................................................................106 
Persons in receipt of concessionary payments  ....................................................106 
Persons in receipt of benefit for another  ..............................................................107 

Part 4 - Amounts of premiums specified in Part 3  ....................................................107 
Part 5 - The Components  ........................................................................................108 

The work-related activity component  ....................................................................109 
The support component  .......................................................................................109 

Part 6 - Amount of components  ...............................................................................109 
Part 7 - Transitional Addition  ...................................................................................109 
Part 8 - Amount of Transitional Addition  ..................................................................111 

SCHEDULE 2 - Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings  ................................113 
SCHEDULE 3 - Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings   118 
SCHEDULE 4 - Capital disregards  ..............................................................................129 

63



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 8 of 141 
 

 

1.0 Introduction1
 

 
From 1 April 2013, council tax support in the form of council tax benefit was abolished 
by Central Government. It became the duty of each local authority in England to have 
localised council tax support, in the form of a council tax reduction.  

 

The enabling provisions are contained in section 10 of the Local Government Finance 
Act 2012 (the “2012 Act”), which substitutes section 13A of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992 (the “1992 Act”), and Schedule 4, which inserts Schedule 1A into the 
1992 Act. 

 

The detail of the elements which must be included in local council tax reductions 
schemes are included in The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 
Requirements Scheme) (England) Regulations 2012 SI 2885 (the “Prescribed 
Requirements”). 

 
 
1.1 Annual Review of Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 
For each financial year, the authority must consider whether to revise its scheme or to 
replace it with another scheme. The authority must make any revision to its scheme, or 
any replacement scheme, no later than 11 March in the financial year preceding that for 
which the revision or replacement scheme is to have effect. 

 

Having given full consideration to the council tax reduction scheme from April 2013, 
and following an extensive public consultation, the authority has decided to 
implement a replacement scheme for 2023. Thereafter, it is amended by the Council 
Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2022 and uprating of annual uprating of applicable amounts in 
accordance with those set for housing benefit under delegated authority of the Chief 
Financial Officer. 

 
 
1.2 Replacement Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023 

 
 
1.2.1 Prescribed Statutory Requirements 

 

The authority sets outs in Chapter 1, Parts 1 - 9, the statutory provisions that must 
apply to all applicants for a reduction in accordance with the Prescribed Requirements 
Parts 1 to 3 and Schedules 7 to 8. 

 
 
1.2.2 Local Scheme Requirements 

 

Subject to local amendments to paragraphs 14, 37, 38, 39, 40, 42,42A, 44, 46, 47 to 
49A, 52, 52A, 54, 54A, 54B, 106 and Schedules 2 and 3; 

 

Chapter 2 - Parts 10 to 23 and Schedules 1 to 4 set out the provisions of the Council 
Tax Reduction Schemes (Default Scheme) (England) Regulations 2012 (the “Default 
Scheme”), which the authority has adopted within its scheme. 

 
 
1.3 Pensioners 

 
The Government has said that local authorities must protect pensioners at the same 
level of support as the council tax benefit scheme and has prescribed a local scheme 
for pensioners with national rules. 

 
 

1 Section 13A LGFA 1992 as substituted by section 10 LGFA 2012 
 

64



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 9 of 141 
 

This means that the authority has no discretion over the method or level of support 
provided to pensioners in accordance with the Prescribed Requirements, Parts 1 to 3, 
Schedules 1 to 6 and Schedules 7 to 8 where they apply to Pensioners. 

 

This document therefore concentrates on the local council tax reduction scheme for 
persons who are not pensioners; the scheme for pensioners is to be found in The 
Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Pensioners) 2014. 

 
 
1.4 Work Incentives 

 
The authority’s scheme is required to meet the basic requirements of encouraging and 
incentivising work. The Government does not prescribe by regulation how the authority 
provides for work incentives in its scheme; it is for the authority to decide how best to 
provide work incentives for its individual communities. 

 

Runnymede Borough Council has adopted the extended reduction rules. An extended 
reduction of four weeks of maximum council tax reduction is applied when a person on 
certain qualifying income-related and contributory benefits goes into work. 

 
 
1.5 Vulnerability 

 
The Government does not prescribe by regulation which class of person(s) is deemed 
as vulnerable, it is for the authority to decide, having regard to its duties under the Acts 
referred to below. 

 
In making its scheme, Runnymede Borough Council has paid due regard to the - 

 

• Equality Act 2010, public sector equality duties with regard to – 
 

o age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion 
or belief, sex or sexual orientation, and 

 

• Child Poverty Act 2010, the duty to mitigate the effects of child poverty, and 
 

• Disabled Persons (Services, Consultation and Representation) Act 1986, and 
 

• Chronically Sick and Disabled Persons Act 1970, the duties relating to the welfare 
needs of disabled people, and 

 

• Housing Act 1996, the duty to prevent homelessness, and 
 
• Armed Forces Covenant, to recognise what our Armed Forces do for us, especially 

the injured and the bereaved 
 

The Default Scheme, which Runnymede Borough Council has adopted as its local 
scheme with local variations has been written with due regard to all of the above acts. 

 

The council has also decided to retain the 100% local scheme disregard for all types of 
war pensions from the council tax benefit scheme. 

 
 
1.6 Not Used  

 

2.0 Matters to be included2
 

 

2.1 A scheme must state the classes of person who are to be entitled to a reduction 
under the scheme. 

 
2.2 The classes may be determined by reference to, in particular - 

 
(a) the income of any person liable to pay council tax to the authority in 

respect of a dwelling; 

65



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 10 of 141 
 

 
(b) the capital of any such person; 

 
(c) the income and capital of any other person who is a resident of the 

dwelling; 
 

(d) the number of dependants of any person within paragraph (a) or (c); 
 

(e) whether the person has made an application for the reduction. 
 
2.3 A scheme must set out the reduction to which persons in each class are to be 

entitled; and different reductions may be set out for different classes. 
 
2.4 A scheme must state - 

 
(a) classes of person which must or must not be included in a scheme; 

 
(b) reductions, including minimum or maximum reductions, which must be 

applicable to persons in stated classes; 
 

(c) requirements which must be met by the procedure mentioned in 2.5 
 
2.5 A scheme must state the procedure by which a person may apply for a 

reduction under the scheme. 
 
2.6 A scheme must state the procedure by which a person can make an appeal 

against any decision of the authority which affects - 
 

(a) the person’s entitlement to a reduction under the scheme, or 
 

(b) the amount of any reduction to which the person is entitled. 
 
2.7 Subject to compliance with the Prescribed Requirements, a scheme may make 

provision that is equivalent to provisions made or capable of being made under - 
 

(a) sections 131 to 133 of the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 
1992 (council tax benefit); 

 
(b) sections 134 to 137 of that Act (general provisions about income-related 

benefits) so far as applying in relation to council tax benefit; 
 

(c) section 1 of the Social Security Administration Act 1992 (entitlement to 
benefit dependent on claim) so far as applying in relation to council tax 
benefit; 

 
(d) section 6 of that Act (regulations about council tax benefit 

administration), 
(e) as it had effect on the day on which the 2012 Act was passed and with such 

modifications as the authority thinks fit. 
 
2.8 In exercising any function relating to its scheme, the authority must have regard 

to any guidance issued by the Secretary of State 
 
 

2 Sch 1A LGFA 1992 as inserted by Sch 4 LGFA 2012 
 
 

66



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 11 of 141 
 

 
Chapter 1 - Prescribed Statutory Requirements 

 
 
Part 1 - Introduction 

 
 
1. Citation, amendment and application 

 

(1) This scheme may be cited as The Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax 
Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 2023 and comes into effect on 
1st April 2023. 

 

(2) This scheme applies in relation to the billing authority in England known as 
Runnymede Borough Council and references in this scheme to “the authority” shall be 
to Runnymede Borough Council unless the context otherwise requires. 

 

(3) If this scheme omits or is inconsistent with any of the requirements relating to 
persons who are not pensioners contained in The Council Tax Reduction Schemes 
(Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 (including any re-enactment or 
amendments thereof), the scheme shall be construed in such a way as to correct the 
omission or inconsistency. 

 
 
Part 2 - Interpretation 

 
 
2. Interpretation3

 
 

(1) In this scheme - 
 

“the 1992 Act” means the Local Government Finance Act 1992; 
“the 2012 Act” means Local Government Finance Act 2012; 
“Abbeyfield Home” means an establishment run by the Abbeyfield Society 
including all bodies corporate or unincorporated which are affiliated to that society; 

 

“adoption leave” means a period of absence from work on ordinary or additional 
adoption leave by virtue of section 75A or 75B of the Employment Rights Act 1996 

 

“AFIP” means an armed forces independence payment payable in accordance with an 
armed and reserve forces compensation scheme established under section 1(2) of the 
Armed Forces (Pensions and Compensation) Act 2004; 

 

“applicable amount” means the amount calculated in accordance with part 11 and 
schedule 1 

 

“applicant” means a person who has made an application; 
“application” means an application for a reduction under a scheme; 
“assessment period” means - 

(a) In relation to the earnings of an employed earner, in accordance with paragraph 53 
for the purpose of calculating the weekly earnings of the applicant, or 

 

(b) in relation to the earnings of a self-employed earner, in accordance with 
paragraph 54 for the purpose of calculating the weekly earnings of the applicant; or 

 

(c) in relation to any other income, in accordance with paragraph 55 for the purpose 
of calculating the weekly income of the applicant; 

 

 
 

3 Reg 2, SI 2012/2885 

67



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 12 of 141 
 

 
 
“attendance allowance” means - 

 

(a) an attendance allowance under Part 3 of the SSCBA 
 

(b) an increase of disablement pension under section 104 or 105 of that Act; 
 

(c) a payment by virtue of article 14, 15, 16, 43 or 44 of the Personal Injuries 
(Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any analogous payment; or; 

 

(d) any payment based on need for attendance which is paid as part of a war 
disablement pension; 

 

“the authority” means the billing authority that is Runnymede Borough Council to 
whose area a scheme has effect by virtue of paragraph 4(6) of Schedule 1A to the 
1992 Act; 
“basic rate” has the meaning given by the Income Tax Act 20074; 

 

“the benefit Acts” means the SSCBA, the Jobseekers Act 1995, the State Pension 
Credit Act 2002 and the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 

 

“board and lodging accommodation” means accommodation provided to a person or, if 
he is a member of a family, to him or any other member of his family, for a charge 
which is inclusive of the provision of that accommodation and at least some cooked 
or prepared meals which both are cooked or prepared (by a person other than the 
person to whom the accommodation is provided or a member of his family) and are 
consumed in that accommodation or associated premises; 

 

“care home” has the meaning given by section 3 of the Care Standards Act 2000 and in 
Scotland means a care home service within the meaning given by Schedule 12, 
Paragraph 2 of the Public Services Reform (Scotland) Act 2010 and in Northern Ireland 
means a nursing home within the meaning of Article 11 of the Health and Personal 
Social Services (Quality, Improvement and Regulation) (Northern Ireland) Order 2003 
or a residential care home within the meaning of Article 10 of that Order; 

 

“the Caxton Foundation” means the charitable trust of that name established on 28th 
March 2011  out of funds  provided  by the Secretary of  State for the benefit  of 
certain persons suffering from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in 
accordance with its provisions; 

 

“child” means a person under the age of 16; 
 

“child benefit” has the meaning given by section 141 of the SSCBA; 
 
“child disability payment” has the meaning given by regulation 2 of the DACYP 
Regulations;”; 
“child tax credit” means a child tax credit under section 8 of the Tax Credits Act 2002; 
“close relative” means a parent, parent-in-law, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter- 
in-law, step-parent, step-son, step-daughter, brother, sister, or if any of the preceding 
persons is one member of a couple, the other member of that couple; 

 

“concessionary payment” means a payment made under arrangements made by the 
Secretary of State with the consent of the Treasury which is charged either to the 
National Insurance Fund or to a Departmental Expenditure Vote to which payments of 
benefit or tax credits under the benefit Acts or the Tax Credits Act 2002 are charged; 

 

“contributory employment and support allowance” means a contributory allowance 
under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 

 
4 2007 c. 3; section 989 defines basic rate by reference to section 6(2). Section 6(2) was amended by section 5 of the 
Finance Act 2008 (c. 9) and section 6 of, and paragraphs 1 and 2 of part 1 of Schedule 2 to, the Finance Act 2009 (c. 10). 

68



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 13 of 141 
 

 
“council tax benefit” means council tax benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA;  
“couple” has the meaning given by paragraph 4; 

 
“the DACYP Regulations” means the Disability Assistance for Children and 
Young People (Scotland) Regulations 2021(4);”; 
“Default Scheme Regulations” means the Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Default 
Scheme) (England) Regulations 20125;  
“designated office” means the office of an authority designated by it for the receipt of 
applications - 

 

(a) by notice upon or with a form supplied by it for the purpose of making an 
application; 

 

(b) by reference upon or with such a form to some other document from it and sent 
by electronic means or otherwise on application and without charge; or 

(c) by any combination of the provisions set out in paragraphs (a) and (b); 
“disability living allowance” means a disability living allowance under section 71 of the 
SSCBA; 
 
“earned income” means combined Self-employed and employed earnings; 

 

“earnings” has the meaning given by paragraph 57 or 59 as the case may be; 
 

“the Eileen Trust” means the charitable trust of that name established on 29th March 
1993 out of funds provided by the Secretary of State for the benefit of persons eligible 
for payment in accordance with its provisions; 

 

“electronic communication” has the same meaning as in section 15(1) of the 
Electronic Communications Act 2000; 

 

“employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(a) of the 
SSCBA and also includes a person who is in receipt of a payment which is payable 
under any enactment having effect in Northern Ireland and which corresponds to 
statutory sick pay or statutory maternity pay; 

 

“employment zone” means an area within Great Britain designated for the purposes of 
section 60 of the Welfare Reform and Pensions Act 1999 and an “employment zone 
programme” means a programme established for such an area or areas designed to 
assist claimants for a jobseeker’s allowance to obtain sustainable employment; 

 

“enactment” includes an enactment comprised in, or in an instrument made under, an 
Act of the Scottish Parliament; 

 

“extended  reduction (qualifying income-related benefit)”  means  a  reduction  under 
this scheme for  which  a  person  is  eligible under Part 20; 

 

“extended reduction period” means the period for which a person is in receipt of an 
extended reduction in accordance with paragraph 92, 97 and 101; 

 

“extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)” means a reduction under this 
scheme for which a person is eligible in accordance with Part 20; 

 

“family” has the meaning given by paragraph 6; 
 

“the Fund” means moneys made available from time to time by the Secretary of State 
for the benefit of persons eligible for payment in accordance with the provisions of a 
scheme established by the Secretary of State on 24th April 1992 or, in Scotland, on 

 
 

5 SI 2012/2886 

69



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 14 of 141 
 

 
10th April 1992; 
 
““Grenfell Tower support payment” means a payment made to a person because 
that person was affected by the fire on 14th June 2017 at Grenfell Tower, or a 
payment to the personal representative of such a person— 
(a) from the £5 million fund announced on 16th June 2017 for the benefit of 
certain persons affected by the fire on 14th June at Grenfell Tower and 
known as the Grenfell Tower Residents’ Discretionary Fund; 
(b) by the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea; or 
(c) by a registered charity;”; 
 

“guarantee credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 2 of the State 
Pension Credit Act 2002; 

 

“a guaranteed income payment” means a payment made under article 15(1)(c) or 
29(1)(a) of the Armed Forces and Reserve Forces (Compensation Scheme) Order 
2011; 
 
“historical child abuse payment” means a payment made under— 
(a) Part 1 of the Historical Institutional Abuse (Northern Ireland) Act 2019(5); 
(b) Part 4 of the Redress for Survivors (Historical Child Abuse in Care) 
(Scotland) Act 2021(6);”; 

 

“housing benefit” means housing benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
 

“housing costs element” has the meaning given by regulation 21 of the Universal 
Credit Regulations 2012; 

 

“an income-based jobseeker’s allowance” and “a joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance” 
have the meanings given by the Jobseekers Act 1995 by virtue of section 1(4) of that 
Act; 

 

“income-related employment and support allowance” means an income-related 
allowance under Part 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 

 

“independent hospital” - 
 

(a) in England means a hospital as defined by section 275 of the National Health 
Service Act 2006 that is not a health service hospital as defined by that section; 

 

(b) in Wales has the meaning given by section 2 of the Care Standards Act 2000; and 
 

(c) in Scotland means an independent health care service as defined by section 10F 
of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978; 

 

“the Independent Living Fund (2006)” means the Trust of that name established by a 
deed dated 10th April 2006 and made between the Secretary of State for Work and 
Pensions of the one part and Margaret Rosemary Cooper, Michael Beresford Boyall 
and Marie Theresa Martin of the other part; 

 

“invalid carriage or other vehicle” means a vehicle propelled by a petrol engine or by 
electric power supplied for use on the road and to be controlled by the occupant; 
 
“local Welfare Support payments” means any local welfare provision payments funded 
by central government   

 

“the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund” means the company limited by 
guarantee (number 5505072), and registered charity of that name established on 11th 

70



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 15 of 141 
 

July 2005 for the purpose of (amongst other things) relieving sickness, disability or 
financial need of victims (including families or dependants of victims) of the terrorist 
attacks carried out in London on 7th July 2005; 

 

“lone parent” means a person who has no partner and who is responsible for and a 
member of the same household as a child or young person; 

 

“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust” means the trust of that name, established on 
29th January 1990 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for the benefit 
of certain persons suffering from haemophilia; 

 

“the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No 2) Trust” means the trust of that name, 
established on 3rd May 1991 partly out of funds provided by the Secretary of State, for 
the benefit of certain persons suffering from haemophilia and other beneficiaries; 

 

“the Macfarlane Trust” means the charitable trust, established partly out of funds 
provided by the Secretary of State to the Haemophilia Society, for the relief of poverty 
or distress among those suffering from haemophilia; 

 

“main  phase  employment  and  support  allowance”  means  an  employment  and 
support allowance where the calculation of the amount payable in respect of the 
applicant includes a component under section 2(1)(b) of the Welfare Reform Act 2007; 
 
“maternity leave” means a period during which a woman is absent from work because 
she is pregnant or has given birth to a child, and at the end of which she has a right to 
return to work either under the terms of her contract of employment or under Part 8 of 
the Employment Rights Act 1996; 

 

“maximum council tax reduction” means the amount determined in accordance with 
paragraph 47; 

 

“member of a couple” means a member of a married or unmarried couple; 
 

“MFET Limited” means the company limited by guarantee (number 7121661) of that 
name, established for the purpose in particular of making payments in accordance with 
arrangements made with the Secretary of State to persons who have acquired HIV as a 
result of treatment by the NHS with blood or blood products; 

 

“mobility supplement” means a supplement to which paragraph 13 of Schedule 3 
refers; 

 

“mover” means an applicant who changes the dwelling in which the applicant is 
resident, and in respect of which the applicant is liable to pay council tax, from a 
dwelling in the area of one authority to a dwelling in the area of a second authority; 

 

  “net earnings” means such earnings as are calculated in accordance with paragraph 
58 (calculation of net earnings of employed earners); 

 

“net profit” means such profit as is calculated in accordance with paragraph 67 
(calculation of net profit of self-employed earners); 

 

“new dwelling” means, for the purposes of the definition of “second authority” and 
paragraphs 94 and 99 the dwelling to which an applicant has moved, or is about to 
move, in which the applicant will be resident; 

 

“non-dependant” has the meaning given by paragraph 9; 
 

“occasional assistance” means any payment or provision made by a local authority, the 
Welsh Ministers or the Scottish Ministers for the purposes of— 

 

(a) meeting, or helping to meet an immediate short-term need— 
 

(i) arising out of an exceptional event or exceptional circumstances, or 
 

71



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 16 of 141 
 

(ii) that needs to be met to avoid a risk to the well-being of an individual, and 
 

(b) enabling qualifying individuals to establish or maintain a settled home, and— 
 

(i) “local authority” has the meaning given by section 270(1) of the Local 
Government Act 1972; and 

 

(ii) “qualifying individuals” means individuals who have been, or without the 
assistance might otherwise be— 

 

(aa) in prison, hospital, an establishment providing residential care or 
other institution, or 

 

(bb) homeless or otherwise living an unsettled way of life; 
 
 

 

and “local authority” means a local authority in England within the meaning of the Local 
Government Act 1972; 

 

“occupational pension” means any pension or other periodical payment under an 
occupational pension scheme but does not include any discretionary payment out of a 
fund established for relieving hardship in particular cases; 

 

“occupational pension scheme” has the same meaning as in section 1 of the Pension 
Schemes Act 1993 
“parental bereavement leave” means leave under section 80EA of the 
Employment Rights Act 1996(6); 
“partner”, in relation to a person, means - 

 

(a) where that person is a member of a couple, the other member of that couple; 
 

(b) subject to paragraph (c), where that person is polygamously married to two or more 
members of his household, any such member to whom he is married; or 

 

(c) where that person is polygamously married and has an award of universal credit 
with the other party to the earliest marriage that still subsists, that other party to the 
earliest marriage; 

 

“paternity leave” means a period of absence from work on ordinary paternity leave by 
virtue of section 80A or 80B of the Employment Rights Act 1996 or on additional 
paternity leave by virtue of section 80AA or 80BB of that Act; 

 

“pension fund holder” means with respect to a personal pension scheme or an 
occupational pension scheme, the trustees, managers or scheme administrators, as the 
case may be, of the scheme concerned; 

 

“pensionable age” has the meaning given by the rules in paragraph 1 of Schedule 4 
to the Pensions Act 1995; 

 

“pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(a); 
 

“person on income support” means a person in receipt of income support; 
 

“person treated as not being in Great Britain” has the meaning given by paragraph 12; 
“person who is not a pensioner” has the meaning given by paragraph 3(b); 
“personal independence payment” has the meaning given by Part 4 of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2012; 

 

“personal pension scheme” means - 
 

(a) a personal pension scheme as defined by section 1 of the Pension Schemes Act 
1993; 

 
 

72



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 17 of 141 
 

 

(b) an annuity contract or trust scheme approved under section 620 or 621 of the 
Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 or a substituted contract within the 
meaning of section 622(3) of that Act which is treated as having become a 
registered pension scheme by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(f) of Schedule 36 to the 
Finance Act 2004; 

 

(c) a personal pension scheme approved under Chapter 4 of Part 14 of the Income 
and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 which is treated as having become a registered 
pension scheme by virtue of paragraph 1(1)(g) of Schedule 36 to the Finance Act 2004; 

 

“policy of life insurance” means any instrument by which the payment of money is 
assured on death (except death by accident only) or the happening of any 
contingency dependent on human life, or any instrument evidencing a contract which is 
subject to payment of premiums for a term dependent on human life; 

 

“polygamous marriage” means any marriage to which paragraph 5 applies; 
 

“qualifying age for state pension credit” means (in accordance with section 1(2)(b) and 
(6) of the State Pension Credit Act 2002) - 

 

(a) in the case of a woman, pensionable age; or 
 

(b) in the case of a man, the age which is pensionable age in the case of a woman 
born on the same day as the man; 

 

“prescribed requirements” means The Council Tax Reduction Schemes (Prescribed 
Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 
“qualifying contributory benefit” means - 

 

(a) severe disablement allowance; 
 

(b) incapacity benefit; 
 

(c) contributory employment and support allowance; 
“qualifying income-related benefit” means - 
(a) income support; 

 

(b) income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
 

(c) income-related employment and support allowance; 
 

 
“qualifying person” means— 
(a) a person in respect of whom payment has been made from the Fund, the 
Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the Scottish 
Infected Blood Support Scheme, an approved blood scheme, the London 
Emergencies Trust, the We Love Manchester Emergency Fund, the Windrush 
Compensation Scheme or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; or 
(b) a person who has received a Grenfell Tower support payment;”or 
(c) “a historical child abuse payment or a Windrush payment”; 

 

“reduction week” means a period of seven consecutive days beginning with a 
Monday and ending with a Sunday; 
“relative” means a close relative, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, nephew or niece; 
“relevant week”, in relation to any particular day, means the week within which the 
day in question falls; 

 

“remunerative work” has the meaning given by paragraph 10; 
 

“rent” means “eligible rent” to which regulation 12 of the Housing Benefit (Persons who 
have attained the qualifying  age for  state pension  credit)  Regulations  2006 refer,  

73



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 18 of 141 
 

 
less  any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under 
paragraph 48 (non- dependant deductions); 

 

“savings credit” is to be construed in accordance with sections 1 and 3 of the State 
Pension Credit Act 2002; 

 

“scheme” means council tax reduction scheme 
 

“second authority” means the authority to which a mover is liable to make payments 
for the new dwelling; 

 

“self-employed earner” is to be construed in accordance with section 2(1)(b) of the 
SSCBA; 

 

“self-employment route” means assistance in pursuing self-employed earner’s 
employment whilst participating in - 

 

(a) an employment zone programme; 
 

(b) a programme provided by or under arrangements made pursuant to section 2 of the 
Employment and Training Act 1973 (functions of the Secretary of State) or section 2 of 
the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 (functions in relation to  
training for employment, etc.); or 

 

(c) a scheme prescribed in regulation 3 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance (Schemes for 
Assisting Persons to Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013 

 

“service user group” means a group of individuals that is consulted by or on behalf of - 
 

(a) a Health Board, Special Health Board or the Agency in consequence of a function 
under section 2B of the National Health Service (Scotland) Act 1978, 

 

(b) a landlord authority in consequence of a function under section 105 of the 
Housing Act 1985, 

 
(c) a public authority in Northern Ireland in consequence of a function under section 
49A of the Disability Discrimination Act 1995, 
(d) a public authority in consequence of a function relating to disability under section 
49 of the Equality Act 2010; 

 

(e) a best value authority in consequence of a function under section 3 of the Local 
Government Act 1999, 

 

(f) a local authority landlord or registered social landlord in consequence of a function 
under section 53 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 2001, 

 

(g) a relevant English body or a relevant Welsh body in consequence of a function 
under section 242 of the National Health Service Act 2006, 

 

(h) a Local Health Board in consequence of a function under section 183 of the 
National Health Service (Wales) Act 2006, 

 

(i) the Care Quality Commission in exercise of a function under section 4 or 5 of the 
Health and Social Care Act 2008, 

 

(j) the regulator or a private registered provider of social housing in consequence of a 
function under section 98, 193 or 196 of the Housing and Regeneration Act 2008, or 

 

(k) a public or local authority in Great Britain in consequence of a function conferred 
under any other enactment, 

 

for the purposes of monitoring and advising on a policy of that body or authority which 
affects or may affect persons in the group, or of monitoring or advising on services 
provided by that body or authority which are used (or may potentially be used) by those 
persons; 

74



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 19 of 141 
 

 
“single applicant” means an applicant who neither has a partner nor is a lone parent; 
“the Skipton Fund” means the ex-gratia payment scheme administered by the Skipton 
Fund Limited, incorporated on 25th March 2004, for the benefit of certain persons 
suffering from hepatitis C and other persons eligible for payment in accordance with the 
scheme’s provisions; 

 

“sports award” means an award made by one of the Sports Councils named in section 
23(2) of the National Lottery etc Act 1993 out of sums allocated to it for 
distribution under that section; 

 

“the SSCBA” means the Social Security Contributions and Benefits Act 1992; 
 

“state pension credit” means state pension credit under the State Pension Credit Act 
2002; 
 
“statutory parental bereavement pay” means a payment to which a person is 
entitled in accordance with section 171ZZ6 of the Social Security Contribution 
and Benefits Act 1992(7); 
 

“student” has the meaning given by paragraph 77; 
 

“tax year” means a period beginning with 6th April in one year and ending with 5th 
April in the next; 

 

“training allowance” means an allowance (whether by way of periodical grants or 
otherwise) payable - 

 

(a) out of public funds by a Government department or by or on behalf of the 
Secretary of State, Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and 
Islands Enterprise, the Young People’s Learning Agency for England, the Chief 
Executive of Skills Funding or the Welsh Ministers; 

 

(b) to a person for his maintenance or in respect of a member of his family; and 
 

(c) for the period, or part of the period, during which he is following a course of 
training or instruction provided by, or in pursuance of arrangements made with, that 
department or approved by that department in relation to him or so provided or 
approved by or on behalf of the Secretary of State, Skills Development Scotland, 
Scottish Enterprise or Highlands and Islands Enterprise or the Welsh Ministers, 
but it does not include an allowance paid by any Government department to or in 
respect of a person by reason of the fact that he is following a course of full-time 
education, other than under arrangements made under section 2 of the Employment 
and Training Act 1973, or is training as a teacher; 

 

“the Trusts” (except where the context otherwise requires) means the Macfarlane Trust, 
the Macfarlane (Special Payments) Trust and the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No 
2) Trust and “Trustees” is to be construed accordingly; 

“universal credit” has the meaning given by section 1 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012  

“uprating Act” means the Welfare Benefit Uprating Act 2013, as amended and the Welfare 
Benefits Uprating Order 2015 as amended 

“voluntary organisation” means a body, other than a public or local authority, the 
activities of which are carried on otherwise than for profit; 

 

“week” means a period of seven days beginning with a Monday; 
 

“war disablement pension” means any retired pay or pension or allowance payable in 
respect of disablement under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of the Income  

75



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 20 of 141 
 

 
Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003; 

 

“war pension” means a war disablement pension, a war widow’s pension or a war 
widower’s pension; 

 

“war widow’s pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a woman as a 
widow or to a surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of 
the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or 
disablement of any person 

 

“war widower’s pension” means any pension or allowance payable to a man as a 
widower or to a surviving civil partner under an instrument specified in section 639(2) of 
the Income Tax (Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003 in respect of the death or 
disablement of any person; 

 

“water charges” means - 
 

(a) as respects England and Wales, any water and sewerage charges under Chapter 
1 of Part 5 of the Water Industry Act 1991, 

 

(b) as respects Scotland, any water and sewerage charges established by Scottish 
Water under a charges scheme made under section 29A of the Water Industry 
(Scotland) Act 2002, 

 

in so far as such charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his 
home; 
 
“the Windrush Compensation Scheme” means— 
(a) the scheme of that name(8) operated by the Secretary of State for the purpose of 
compensating individuals who have suffered loss in connection with being unable to 
demonstrate their lawful status in the United Kingdom; and (b) the policy entitled 
“Windrush Scheme: Support in urgent and exceptional circumstances”(9) which was 
operated by the Secretary of State for the purpose of compensating individuals who, for 
urgent and exceptional reasons, required support in advance of the scheme referred to 
in paragraph (a) of this definition becoming operational; 
 
“Windrush payment” means a payment made under the Windrush Compensation 
Scheme (Expenditure) Act 2020(7);”. 

 

“working tax credit” means a working tax credit under section 10 of the Tax Credits 
Act 2002; 

 

“young person” means a person who falls within the definition of qualifying young 
person in section 142 of the SSCBA. 

 

(2) In this scheme, where an amount is to be rounded to the nearest penny, a fraction 
of a penny must be disregarded if it is less than half a penny and must otherwise be 
treated as a whole penny. 

 

(3) For the purpose of this scheme, a person is on an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance on any day in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance is 
payable to him and on any day - 

 

(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance but where the allowance is not because of a reduction paid in 
accordance with Section 26 or Section 27 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012; or 
(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 4 of Schedule 1 to that 
Act and which falls immediately before a day in respect of which an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for Section 26 
or Section 27 of the Welfare reform Act 2012; or 

 

76



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 21 of 141 
 

(c) in respect of which an income-based jobseeker’s allowance would be payable but 
for a restriction imposed pursuant to section 6B, 7, 8 or 9 of the Social Security Fraud 
Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions). 

 

(4) For the purposes of this scheme, a person is on an income-related employment 
and support allowance on any day in respect of which an income-related employment 
and support allowance is payable to him and on any day - 

 

(a) in respect of which he satisfies the conditions for entitlement to an income-related 
employment and support allowance but where the allowance is not paid in accordance 
with section 18 of the Welfare Reform Act (disqualification); or 

 

(b) which is a waiting day for the purposes of paragraph 2 of Schedule 2 to that Act 
(employment and support allowance supplementary provisions) and which falls 
immediately before a day in respect of which an income-related employment and 
support allowance is payable to him or would be payable to him but for section 18 of 
that Act. 

 

(5) For the purposes of this scheme, two persons shall be taken to be estranged 
only if their estrangement constitutes a breakdown of the relationship between them. 

 

(6) In this scheme, references to any person in receipt of state pension credit 
includes a person who would be in receipt of state pension credit but for regulation 13 
of the State Pension Credit Regulations 2002 (small amounts of state pension credit). 

 
 
3. Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners6

 
 

(1) In this scheme a person is - 
 

(a) a “pensioner” if - 
 

(i) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; and 
 

(ii) he is not, or, if he has a partner, his partner is not - 
 

(aa)  a person on income support, on an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance or on an income-related employment and support 
allowance; or 

 

(bb)  a person with an award of universal credit; and 
 

(b) a “person who is not a pensioner” if - 
 

(i) he has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
 

(ii) he has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and he, or if 
he has a partner, his partner, is - 

 

(aa)  a person on income support, on income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance or an income-related employment and support 
allowance; or 

 

(bb)  a person with an award of universal credit. 
 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (a)(ii)(bb) and (b)(iii)(bb) in paragraph (1) an 
award of universal credit is to be disregarded during the relevant period. 

 
(3) In this  regulation – 
“assessment period” has the same meaning as in the Universal Credit Regulations 
2013; 
“relevant period” means the period beginning with the day on which P and each 
partner of P has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and ending with 
the day on which the last assessment period for universal credit ends.”  

77



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 22 of 141 
 

4. Meaning of “couple”7
 

 

(1) In this scheme “couple” means - 
 

(a) a  man  and  woman  who  are  married  to  each  other  and  are  members  of 
the  same household; 

 

(b) a man and woman who are not married to each other but are living together as 
if they were a married couple or civil partners ; 

 

(c) two people of the same sex who are civil partners of each other and are members 
of the same household; or 

 

(d) two people of the same sex who are not civil partners of each other but are living 
together as if they were civil partners. 

 

(2) Two people of the same sex are to be treated as living together as if they were civil 
partners if, and only if, they would be treated as living together as husband and wife 
were they of opposite sexes. 

 
 
5. Polygamous marriages8

 
 

This paragraph applies to any case where - 
 

(a) a person is a husband or wife by virtue of a marriage entered into under a law 
which permits polygamy; and 

 

(b) either party to the marriage has for the time being any spouse additional to 
the other party. 

 

(2) For the purposes of paragraph 4 neither party to the marriage is to be taken to be 
a member of a couple. 

 
 
6. Meaning of “family”9

 
 

(1) In this scheme “family” means - 
 

(a) a couple; 
 

(b) a couple and a member of the same household for whom one of them is or 
both are responsible and who is a child or a young person; or 

 

(c) a person who is not a member of a couple and a member of the same household 
for whom that person is responsible and who is a child or a young person. 

 

(2) The references to a child or young person in sub-paragraph (1)(b) and (c) include a 
child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA applies for the 
purposes of entitlement to child benefit, but only for the period prescribed under section 
145A(1). 

 

(3) The references to a young person in paragraph (1)(b) and (c) do not include a 
young person who is - 

 

(a) on  income  support,  an  income-based  jobseeker’s  allowance  or  an 
income-related employment and support allowance; or 

 

(b) a person to whom section 6 of the Children (Leaving Care) Act 2000 (exclusion 
from benefits) applies. 

 

 
 
 

7 Reg 4, SI 2012/2885 

78



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 23 of 141 
 

 
7. Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not 
responsible for another10

 
 

(1) A person is to be treated as responsible for a child or young person who is 
normally living with him, including a child or young person to whom paragraph 6(2) 
applies. 

 

(2) Where a child or young person spends equal amounts of time in different 
households, or where there is a question as to which household he is living in, the child 
or young person must be treated for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) as normally 
living with - 

 

(a) the person who is receiving child benefit in respect of that child or young person, or 
 

(b) if there is no such person— 
 

(i) where only one claim for child benefit has been made in respect of him, 
the person who made that claim, or 

 

(ii) in any other case the person who has the primary responsibility for him. 
 

(3) For the purposes of this scheme, a child or young person is the responsibility of 
only one person in any reduction week and any person other than the one treated as 
responsible for the child or young person under this regulation is to be treated as not so 
responsible. 

 
 
8. Households11

 
 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), an applicant and any partner and, where the 
applicant or his partner is treated, by virtue of paragraph 7, as responsible for a child 
or young person, that child or young person and any child of that child or young 
person, are to be treated as members of the same household notwithstanding that any 
of them is temporarily absent from that household. 

 

(2) A child or young person is not to be treated as a member of the applicant’s 
household where he is - 

 

(a) placed with the applicant or his partner by a local authority under section 22C or 
23(2)(a) of the Children Act 1989 or by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) 
of that Act, or in Scotland boarded out with the applicant or his partner under a relevant 
enactment; or 

 

(b) placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with the applicant or his partner prior to 
adoption; or 

 

(c) placed for adoption with the applicant or his partner in accordance with the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009 
or the Adoption (Northern Ireland) Order 1987. 

 

(3) Subject to sub paragraph (4), sub paragraph (1) does not apply to a child or young 
person who is not living with the applicant and who - 

 

(a) is being looked after by, or in Scotland is in the care of, a local authority under a 
relevant enactment; or 

 

(b) has been placed, or in Scotland boarded out, with a person other than the 
applicant prior to adoption; or 

 

(c) has been placed for adoption in accordance with the Adoption and Children Act 

79



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 24 of 141 
 

 
 
2002 or the Adoption Agencies (Scotland) Regulations 2009. 

 

(4) The authority must treat a child or young person to whom sub-paragraph (3)(a) 
applies as being a member of the applicant’s household in any reduction week where - 

 

(a) that child or young person lives with the applicant for part or all of that reduction 
week; and 

 

(b) the authority considers that it is reasonable to do so taking into account the 
nature and frequency of that child’s or young person’s visits. 

 

(5) In this paragraph “relevant enactment” means - 
 

(a) the Army Act 1955; 
 

(b) the Air Force Act 1955; 
 

(c) the Naval Discipline Act 1957; 
 

(d) the Matrimonial Proceedings (Children) Act 1958;  
 

(e) the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 
 

(f) the Family Law Reform Act 1969; 
 

(g) the Children and Young Persons Act 1969;  
 

(h)  the Matrimonial Causes Act 1973; 
 

(i) the Children Act 1975; 
 

(j) the Domestic Proceedings and Magistrates’ Courts Act 1978;  
 

(k) the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 2007; 
 

(l) the Family Law Act 1986;  
 
 

(m) the Children Act 1989; 
 

(n) the Children (Scotland) Act 1995; and 
 

(o) the Legal Aid, Sentencing and Punishment of Offenders Act 2012. 
 
 
9. Non-dependants12

 
 

(1) In this scheme, “non-dependant” means any person, except someone to whom 
sub-paragraph (2) applies, who normally resides with an applicant or with whom an 
applicant normally resides. 

 

(2) This paragraph applies to - 
 

(a) any member of the applicant’s family; 
 

(b) if the applicant is polygamously married –  
(i) where the applicant has (alone or jointly with his partner) any ward of universal 

credit, any (aa) party to such a marriage other than the applicant’s partner; and 
(bb) any child or young person who is a member of his household and for whom 
he or his partner or another party to the polygamous marriage is responsible; or 

(ii) in any other case, any partner of his and any child or young person who is a 
member of his household and for whom he or one of his partners is responsible   

 

(c) a child or young person who is living with the applicant but who is not a member of 
his household by virtue of regulation 8 (households); 

 

(d) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who, with the applicant, is jointly and 
severally liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling for any day under section 6 

80



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 25 of 141 
 

or 7 of the 1992 Act (persons liable to pay council tax); 
 

(e) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any person who is liable to make payments on a 
commercial basis to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in respect of the occupation 
of the dwelling; 

 

(f) a person who lives with the applicant in order to care for him or a partner of his 
and who is  engaged by  a charitable  or  voluntary  organisation  which  makes  a 
charge to the applicant or his partner for the services provided by that person. 

 

(3) Excepting persons to whom sub-paragraph (2)(a) to (c) and (f) refer, a person to 
whom any of the following paragraphs applies is a non-dependant - 

 

(a) a person who resides with the person to whom he is liable to make payments in 
respect of the dwelling and either - 

 

(i) that person is a close relative of his or his partner; or 
 

(ii) the tenancy or other agreement between them is other than on a 
commercial basis; 

 

(b) a person whose liability to make payments in respect of the dwelling appears to the 
authority to have been created to take advantage of a scheme except someone who 
was, for any period within the eight weeks prior to the creation of the agreement giving 
rise to the liability to make such payments, otherwise liable to make payments of rent in 
respect of the same dwelling; 

 

(c) a person who becomes jointly and severally liable with the applicant for council 
tax in respect of a dwelling and who was, at any time during the period of eight weeks 
prior to his becoming so liable, a non-dependant of one or more of the other residents  
in that dwelling who are so liable for the tax, unless the change giving rise to the new 
liability was not made to take advantage of a scheme. 

 
 
10. Remunerative work13

 
 

(1) Subject to the following provisions , a person must be treated for the purposes  as 
engaged in remunerative work if he is engaged, or, where his hours of work fluctuate, 
he is engaged on average, for not less than 16 hours a week, in work for which 
payment is made or which is done in expectation of payment. 

 

(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), in determining the number of hours for which a 
person is engaged in work where his hours of work fluctuate, regard must be had to the 
average of hours worked over - 

 

(a) if there is a recognisable cycle of work, the period of one complete cycle, 
including, where the cycle involves periods in which the person does not work, those 
periods but disregarding any other absences; 

 

(b) in any other case, the period of 5 weeks immediately prior to the date of 
application, or such other length of time as may, in the particular case, enable the 
person’s weekly average hours of work to be determined more accurately. 

 

(3) Where, for the purposes of sub paragraph (2)(a), a person’s recognisable cycle of 
work at a school, other educational establishment or other place of employment is one 
year and includes periods of school holidays or similar vacations during which he does 
not work, those periods and any other periods not forming part of such holidays or 
vacations during which he is not required to work must be disregarded in establishing 
the average hours for which he is engaged in work. 

 

(4) Where no recognisable cycle has been established in respect of a person’s work, 
regard must be had to the number of hours or, where those hours will fluctuate, the 
average of the hours, which he is expected to work in a week. 

 

(5) A person must be treated as engaged in remunerative work during any period for 

81



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 26 of 141 
 

which he is absent from work referred to in sub paragraph (1) if the absence is either 
without good cause or by reason of a recognised, customary or other holiday. 

 
(6) A person on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or an 
income-related employment and support allowance for more than 3 days in any 
reduction week must be treated as not being in remunerative work in that week. 

 

(7) A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on 
which the person is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave, shared 
parental leave, parental bereavement leave or is absent from work because he is 
ill. 

 

(8) A person must not be treated as engaged in remunerative work on any day on 
which he is engaged in an activity in respect of which - 

 

(a) a sports award has been made, or is to be made, to him; and 
 

(b) no other payment is made or is expected to be made to him. 
 
 
Part 3 - Prescribed classes of persons 

 
 
11. Pensioners14

 
 

(1) Pensioners are a class of person prescribed for the purposes of paragraph 2(9)(b) 
of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and who are included in the authority’s scheme 
under The Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Pensioners) 
2014. 

 
 
12. Persons treated as not being in Great Britain15

 
 

(1) Persons treated as not being in Great Britain are a class of person prescribed for 
the purposes of paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not 
be included in an authority’s scheme. 

 

(2) Except where a person falls within sub-paragraph (5) or (6), a person is to be 
treated as not being in Great Britain if the person is not habitually resident in the United 
Kingdom, the Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland. 

 

(3) A person must not be treated as habitually resident in the United Kingdom, the 
Channel Islands, the Isle of Man or the Republic of Ireland unless the person has a 
right to reside in one of those places. 

 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a right 
which exists by virtue of, or in accordance with— 
(a) regulation 13 of the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 2016; 
(b) regulation 16 of the EEA Regulations17, but only in a case where the right exists 
under that regulation because the applicant satisfies the criteria in paragraph (5) of that 
regulation. 

 
 

14 Reg 11, SI 2012/2885 
15 Reg 12, SI 2012/2885 
16 Reg 13 of the 2006 regulations replaced by Reg 13 of the 2016 regulations   
17 Reg 15A was inserted by reg 3 of, and paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 to, S.I. 2012/1547; paragraph (4A) was inserted by 
regulation 2 of, and paragraph 3 of the Schedule to, S.I. 2012/2560 
18 A consolidated version of this Treaty was published in the Official Journal on 30.3.2010 C 83 
19 Reg 6(2) was amended by regulation 5 of, and paragraph 3 of Schedule 2 to, S.I. 2011/544. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

82



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 27 of 141 
 

 
 

(4A) For the purposes of paragraph (3), a right to reside does not include a 
right 
which exists by virtue of a person having been granted limited leave to enter, or 
remain 
in, the United Kingdom under the Immigration Act 1971(10) by virtue of— 
(a) article 3 (grant of leave to EEA and Swiss nationals) of the Immigration 
(European Economic Area Nationals) (EU Exit) Order 2019(11) made under 
section 3A of that Act; 
(b) Appendix EU to the immigration rules made under section (2) of that Act; or 
(c) being a person with a Zambrano right to reside as defined in Annex 1 of 
Appendix EU to the immigration rules made under section 3(2) of that Act.” 

 
(5) A person falls within this paragraph if the person is— 
 
(za) a person granted leave in accordance with the immigration rules made under 
section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971(8), where such leave is granted by virtue of— 
(i) the Afghan Relocations and Assistance Policy; or 
(ii) the previous scheme for locally-employed staff in Afghanistan (sometimes referred 
to as the ex-gratia scheme); 
 
(zb) a person in Great Britain not coming within sub-paragraph (za) or (e)(iv) who left 
Afghanistan in connection with the collapse of the Afghan government that took place 
on 15th August 2021; 
(a) a qualified person for the purposes of regulation 6 of the EEA Regulations19 as a 
worker or a self-employed person; 

 

(b) a family member of a person referred to in sub-paragraph (a) within the meaning of 
regulation 7(1)(a), (b) or (c) of the EEA Regulations; 

 

(c) a person who has a right to reside permanently in the United Kingdom by virtue of 
regulation 15(1)(c), (d) or (e) of the EEA Regulations; 

 

(d) a person recorded by the Secretary of State as a refugee within the definition in 
Article 1 of the Convention relating to the Status of Refugees done at Geneva on 28th 
July 1951, as extended by Article 1(2) of the Protocol relating to the Status of Refugees 
done at New York on 31st January 1967; 

 

(e) a person who has been granted, or who is deemed to have been granted, leave 
outside the rules made under section 3(2) of the Immigration Act 1971 (b) where that 
leave is; 
  

i. discretionary leave to enter or remain in the United Kingdom, 
ii. leave to remain under the Destitution Domestic Violence concession (c) which 

came into effect on 1 April 2012,  
iii. leave deemed to have been granted by virtue of regulation 3 of the Displaced 

Persons (Temporary Protection) Regulations 2005 (d); or 
iv. granted under the Afghan Citizens Resettlement Scheme(9); 

 
 
 

(f) a person who has humanitarian protection granted under those rules; or 
 

(g) a person who is not a person subject to immigration control within the meaning of 
section 115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 and who is in the United 
Kingdom as a result of his deportation, expulsion or other removal by compulsion of law 
from another country to the United Kingdom. 

 
(h) In receipt of income support, or on an income-related employment and support 

83



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 28 of 141 
 

allowance; or 
 
(ha) in receipt of an income-based jobseeker’s allowance and has a right to reside 
other than a right to reside falling within paragraph (4);    
 

 

(6) A person falls within this paragraph if the person is a Crown servant or member of 
Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas. 

 

(7) A person mentioned in sub-paragraph (6) is posted overseas if the person is 
performing overseas the duties of a Crown servant or member of Her Majesty’s forces 
and was, immediately before the posting or the first of consecutive postings, habitually 
resident in the United Kingdom. 

 

(8) In this scheme - 
 

“claim for asylum” has the same meaning as in section 94(1) of the Immigration and 
Asylum Act 1999; 
“Crown servant” means a person holding an office or employment under the Crown; 
“EEA Regulations” means the Immigration (European Economic Area) Regulations 
2016(12); and 

 

“Her Majesty’s forces” has the same meaning as in the Armed Forces Act 2006 
 
 
13. Persons subject to immigration control20

 
 

(1) Persons subject to immigration control are a class of person prescribed for the 
purposes of paragraph 2(9)(b) of Schedule 1A to the 1992 Act and which must not be 
included in an authority’s scheme. 

 

(2) “Person subject to immigration control” has the same meaning as in section 
115(9) of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999. 

 
 
Part 4 - Procedural Matters 

 
14. Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under the authority’s 
scheme21

 
 
 

20 Reg 13, SI 2012/2885 SI 2022/44/ 
21 Sch 7 part 1 SI 2012/2885 
 
 

(1) Sub-paragraphs (2) to (11) apply to an application made under the authority’s 
scheme. 

 

(2) An application may be made - 
 

(a) in writing, 
 

(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 5  
 
(c) A form supplied through the DWP may be accepted in applying for Council Tax 

Support but the local authority may require additional application forms completed 
as they see fit in individual circumstances 

 
 

(3) An application which is made in writing must be made to the designated office of 
the authority on a properly completed form. 

 

(4) The form can be downloaded from the authority’s website (www.Runnymede.gov.uk) or 
a copy obtained from the authority’s offices at Civic Centre, Station Road, Addlestone, 
Surrey, KT15 2AH    

84



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 29 of 141 
 

 

(5) Where an application made in writing is defective because - 
 

(a) it was made on the form supplied for the purpose but that form is not accepted 
by the authority as being properly completed; or 

 

(b) it was made in writing but not on the form approved for the purpose and the 
authority does not accept the application as being in a written form which is sufficient in 
the circumstances of the case having regard to the sufficiency of the written information 
and evidence, 

 

the authority may, in a case to which sub-paragraph (5)(a) applies, request the 
applicant to complete the defective application or, in the case to which sub-paragraph 
(5)(b) applies, supply the applicant with the approved form or request further 
information and evidence. 

 

(6) An application made on a form provided by the authority is properly completed 
if it is completed in accordance with the instructions on the form, including any 
instructions to provide information and evidence in connection with the application. 

 

(7) If an application made by electronic communication is defective the authority 
must provide the person making the application with an opportunity to correct the 
defect. 

 

(8) An application made by electronic communication is defective if the applicant 
does not provide all the information the authority requires. 

 
 
15. Procedure by which a person may appeal against certain decisions of the 
authority22

 
 

(1) A person who is aggrieved by a decision of the authority which affects - 
 

(a) the person’s entitlement to a reduction under its scheme, or 
 

(b) the amount of any reduction to which that person is entitled, 
 

may serve a written notice on the authority stating the matter by which, and the grounds 
on which, he is aggrieved. 
 
(2) The authority must - 

 

(a) consider the matter to which the notice relates; 
 

(b) notify the aggrieved person in writing - 
 

(i) that the ground is not well founded, giving reasons for that belief; or 
 

(ii) that steps have been taken to deal with the grievance, stating the steps 
taken. 

 

(3) Where, following notification under sub-paragraph (2)(b)(i) or (ii), the person is still 
aggrieved, or if the authority fails to notify the person aggrieved in accordance with sub- 
paragraph (2)(b) within two months of the service of his notice, he may appeal to a 
valuation tribunal under section 16 of the 1992 Act. 

 

 
16. Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction23

 
 

(1) An application to the authority for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c) of the 1992 
Act must be made - 

 

(a) in writing, 
 

(b) by means of an electronic communication in accordance with Part 5 : or 
 
 

22 Sch 7 part 2, SI 2012/2885 

85



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 30 of 141 
 

 
 

(c) where the authority has published a telephone number for the purpose of receiving 
such applications, by telephone. 

 

(2) Where— 
 

(a) the authority has made a determination under section 13A(1)(c) in relation to a class 
of case in which liability is to be reduced; and 

 

(b) a person in that class would otherwise be entitled to a reduction under its scheme, 
that person’s application for a reduction under the authority’s scheme may also be 
treated as an application for a reduction under section 13A(1)(c). 

 
 
Part 5 - Electronic Communication 

 
 
17. Interpretation24

 
 

In this part - 
“information” includes an application, a certificate, notice or other evidence; and 
“official computer system” means a computer system maintained by or on behalf 
of the authority for sending, receiving, processing or storing of any information. 

 
 
18. Conditions for the use of electronic communication 

 

(1) The authority may use an electronic communication in connection with 
applications for, and awards of, council tax reductions under its scheme. 

 

(2) A person other than that authority may use an electronic communication in 
connection with the matters referred to in sub-paragraph (1) if the conditions specified 
in sub-paragraphs (3) to (6) are satisfied. 

 

(3) The first condition is that the person is for the time being permitted to use an 
electronic communication by an authorisation given by means of a direction of the 
Chief Executive of the authority 

 
(4) The second condition is that the person uses an approved method of - 

 

(a) authenticating the identity of the sender of the communication; 
 

(b) electronic communication; 
 

(c) authenticating any   application or   notice delivered   by   means   of an 
electronic communication; and 

 

(d) subject to sub-paragraph (7), submitting to the authority any information. 
 
 

(5) The third condition is that any information sent by means of an electronic 
communication is in a form approved for the purposes of this part. 

 

(6) The fourth condition is that the person maintains such records in written or 
electronic form as may be specified in a direction given by the Chief Executive of the 
authority. 

 
 
 
 

23 Sch 7 part 3, SI 2012/2885 
24 Paras 17. 
- 23, Sch 7 part 4, SI 2012/2885 

86



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 31 of 141 
 

 
 

(7) Where the person uses any method other than the method approved of 
submitting any information, that information is to be treated as not having been 
submitted. 

 

(8) In this paragraph “approved” means approved by means of a direction given by 
the Chief Executive of the authority for the purposes of this Part. 

 
 
19. Use of intermediaries 

 

The authority may use intermediaries in connection with - 
 

(a) the delivery of any information by means of an electronic communication; and 
 

(b) the authentication or security of anything transmitted by such means, 
 

and may require other persons to use intermediaries in connection with those matters. 
 
 
20. Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication 

 

(1) Any information which is delivered by means of an electronic communication is to 
be treated as having been delivered in the manner or form required by any provision of 
the authority’s scheme on the day the conditions imposed - 

 

(a) by this part; and 
 

(b) by or under an enactment, 
are satisfied. 

(2) The authority may, determine that any information is to be treated as delivered on a 
different day (whether earlier or later) from the day provided for in sub-paragraph (1). 

 

(3) Information may not be taken to have been delivered to an official computer 
system by means of an electronic communication unless it is accepted by the system to 
which it is delivered. 

 
 
21. Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information 

 

If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the identity of - 
 

(a) the sender of any information delivered by means of an electronic communication 
to an official computer system; or 

 

(b) the recipient of any such information delivered by means of an electronic 
communication from an official computer system, 

 

the sender or recipient, as the case may be, is to be presumed to be the person 
whose name is recorded as such on that official computer system. 

 
 
22. Proof of delivery of information 

 

(1) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the use of 
an electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any information this is 
presumed to have been the case where - 

 

(a) any such information has been delivered to the relevant authority, if the delivery 
of that information has been recorded on an official computer system; or 

 

(b) any such information has been delivered by the relevant authority, if the delivery 
of that information has been recorded on an official computer system. 

 

(2) If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, that the 
use of an electronic communication has resulted in the delivery of any such information 
this is presumed not to be the case, if that information delivered to the relevant 

87



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 32 of 141 
 

authority has not been recorded on an official computer system. 
 

(3) If  it  is necessary to  prove,  for  the  purpose  of  any  legal  proceedings,  when 
any such information sent by means of an electronic communication has been 
received, the time and date of receipt is presumed to be that recorded on an official 
computer system. 

 
 
23. Proof of content of information 

 

If it is necessary to prove, for the purpose of any legal proceedings, the content of 
any information sent by means of an electronic communication, the content is  
presumed to be that recorded on an official computer system. 

 
 
Part 6 - Extended Reductions: Movers25

 
 
 
24. Extended reductions: movers into an authority’s area 

 

Where— 
 

(a) an application is made to the authority for a reduction under this scheme, and (b) 
the applicant or the partner of the applicant, is in receipt of an extended reduction 
from— 

 

(i) another billing authority in England; or 
 

(ii) a billing authority in Wales, 
 

the current authority must reduce any reduction to which the applicant is entitled under 
this scheme by the amount of that extended reduction 

 
 
Part 7 - Applications 

 
 
25. Making an application26

 
 

(1) In the case of a couple or members of a polygamous marriage an application is 
to be made by whichever one of them they agree should so apply or, in default of 
agreement, by such one of them as the authority determines. 

 

(2) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable 
for the time being to act, and - 

 

(a) a deputy has been appointed by the Court of Protection with power to apply, or 
as the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 

 

(b) in Scotland, his estate is being administered by a judicial factor or any guardian 
acting or appointed under the Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has 
power to apply or, as the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or an attorney 
with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may be, receive 
benefit, has been appointed by that person under the Powers of Attorney Act 1971, 
the Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the Mental Capacity Act 2005 or 
otherwise, that deputy, judicial factor, guardian or attorney, as the case may be, 
may make an application on behalf of that person. 

 
 
 

25 Sch 8 part 1 SI 2012/2885 
26 Sch 8(5) SI 2012/2885 

88



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 33 of 141 
 

 
 
 

(3) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is unable 
for the time being to act and sub-paragraph (2) does not apply to him, the  authority 
may, upon written application made to them by a person who, if a natural person, is 
over the age of 18, appoint that person to exercise on behalf of the person who is 
unable to act, any right to which that person might be entitled under the authority’s 
scheme and to receive and deal on his behalf with any sums payable to him. 

 

(4) Where a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling is for the 
time being unable to act and the Secretary of State has appointed a person to act  
on his behalf under regulation 33 of the Social Security (Claims and Payments) 
Regulations 1987 (persons unable to act), the authority may if that person agrees, treat 
him as if he had been appointed by them under sub-paragraph (3). 

 

(5) Where the authority has made an appointment under sub-paragraph (3) or treated a 
person as an appointee under sub-paragraph (5) - 

 

(a) it may at any time revoke the appointment; 
 

(b) the person appointed may resign his office after having given 4 weeks notice in 
writing to the authority of his intention to do so; 

 

(c) any such appointment terminates when the authority is notified of the 
appointment of a person mentioned in sub-paragraph (2). 

 

(6) Anything required by this scheme to be done by or to any person who is for the 
time being unable to act may be done by or to the persons mentioned in sub-
paragraph (2) above or by or to the person appointed or treated as appointed under 
this paragraph and the receipt of any such person so appointed shall be a good 
discharge to the authority for any sum paid. 

 

(7) The authority must - 
 

(a) inform any person making an application of the duty imposed by paragraph 
29(1)(a); 

 

(b) explain the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply 
with that duty; and 

 

(c) set out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the 
reduction or its amount. 

89



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 34 of 141 
 

 
 
26. Date on which an application is made27

 
 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), the date on which an application is made is - 
 

(a) in a case where - 
 

(i) an award of income support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an 
income- related employment and support allowance or an award of universal 
credit has been made to the applicant or his partner, and 

 

(ii) the application for a reduction is made within one month of the date on 
which the claim for that income support, jobseeker's allowance, employment 
and support allowance or universal credit was received, 

 

the first day of entitlement to income support, an income-based jobseeker's 
allowance, an income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit 
arising from that claim; 
(b)  in a case where - 

 

(i) an  applicant  or  his  partner  is  a  person  on  income  support,  an 
income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment and 
support allowance or has an award of universal credit, 

 

(ii) the applicant becomes liable for the first time to pay council tax in respect of 
the dwelling which he occupies as his home, and 

 

(iii) the application for a reduction is received at the designated office within one 
month of the date of the change, 

 

the date on which the change takes place; 
(c)  in a case where - 

 

(iv) an applicant is the former partner of a person who was, at the date of his 
death or their separation, entitled to a reduction under an authority’s scheme, 
and 

 

(v) the applicant makes an application for a reduction under that scheme 
within one month of the date of the death or the separation, 

 

the date of the death or separation; 
(d)  except where paragraph (c) is satisfied, in a case where a properly completed 

application is received within one month, or such longer period as the authority 
considers reasonable, of  the date  on which  an  application form  was issued  
to the  applicant following the applicant first notifying, by whatever means, the 
authority of an intention to make an application, the date of first notification; 

 

(e) in any other case, the date on which an application is received at the designated 
office. 

 

(2) For the purposes only of sub-paragraph (1)(a) a person who has been awarded  
an income- based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support 
allowance is to be treated as entitled to that allowance for any days which immediately 
precede the first day in that award and on which he would, but for regulations made 
under - 

 

(a) in the case of income-based jobseeker’s allowance, paragraph 4 of Schedule 
1 to the Jobseekers Act 1995 (waiting days); or 

 

(b) not used 
 

 
 

27 Sch 8(4) SI 2012/2885 

90



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 35 of 141 
 

 
 
(3) Where the defect referred to in paragraph 14(10) (applications by telephone) - 

 

(a) is  corrected  within  one  month, or  such  longer  period  as  the  authority 
considers reasonable, of the date the authority last drew attention to it the authority 
must treat the application as if it had been duly made in the first instance; 

 

(b) is not corrected within one month, or such longer period as the authority considers 
reasonable, of the date the authority last drew attention to it, the authority must treat the 
application as if it had been duly made in the first instance where it considers it has 
sufficient information to decide the application. 

 

(4) An authority must treat a defective application as if it had been validly made in 
the first instance if, in any particular case, the conditions specified in sub-paragraph 
(5)(a), (b) or (c) are satisfied. 

 

(5) The conditions are that - 
 

(a) where paragraph 14(5)(a) (incomplete form) applies, the authority receives at its 
designated office the properly completed application or the information requested to 
complete it or the evidence within one month of the request, or such longer period as 
the authority may consider reasonable; or 

 

(b) where paragraph 14(5)(b) (application not on approved form or further information 
requested by authority) applies - 

 

(i) the approved form sent to the applicant is received at the designated office 
properly completed within one month of it having been sent to him; or, as the 
case may be, 

 

(ii) the applicant supplies whatever information or evidence was requested 
under paragraph 14(5) within one month of the request, or, 

 

in either case, within such longer period as the authority may consider reasonable; or 
 

(c) where the authority has requested further information, the authority receives at its 
designated office the properly completed application or the information requested to 
complete it within one month of the request or within such longer period as the authority 
considers reasonable. 

 

(6) Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in 
Great Britain, where a person has not become liable for council tax to the authority  
but it is anticipated that he will become so liable within the period of 8 weeks (the 
relevant period), he may apply for a reduction under this scheme at any time in that 
period in respect of that tax and, provided that liability arises within the relevant period, 
the authority must treat the application as having been made on the day on which the 
liability for the tax arises. 

 

(7) Except in the case of an application made by a person treated as not being in Great 
Britain, where the applicant is not entitled to a reduction under this scheme in the 
reduction week immediately following the date of his application but the authority is of 
the opinion that unless there is a change of circumstances he will be entitled to a 
reduction under its scheme for a period beginning not later than— 

 

(a) in the case of an application made by a person who has attained, or whose partner 
has attained, the age which is 17 weeks younger than the qualifying age for state 
pension credit, 

 

the seventeenth reduction week following the date on which the application is made, or 
 

(b) in the case of an application made by a person who is not a pensioner, the 

91



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 36 of 141 
 

 
 
thirteenth reduction week following the date on which the application is made, 

 

the authority may treat the application as made on a date in the reduction week 
immediately preceding the first reduction week of that period of entitlement and award a 
reduction accordingly. 

 

(8) In this paragraph “appropriate DWP office” means an office of the Department for 
Work and Pensions dealing with state pension credit or an office which is normally open 
to the public for the receipt of claims of income support, a job seekers allowance, 
employment and support allowance or Universal Credit. 

 
 
27. Information and evidence28

 
 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (3), a person who makes an application for a reduction 
under the authority’s scheme must satisfy sub-paragraph (2) in relation both to himself 
and to any other person in respect of whom he is making the application. 

 

(2) This sub-paragraph is satisfied in relation to a person if - 
 

(a) the application is accompanied by - 
 

(i) a statement of the person’s national insurance number and information or 
evidence establishing that that number has been allocated to the person; or 

 

(ii) information or evidence enabling the authority to ascertain the national 
insurance number that has been allocated to the person; or 

 

(b) the person has made an application for a national insurance number to be 
allocated to him and the application for the reduction is accompanied by - 

 

(i) evidence of the application for a national insurance number to be so 
allocated; and 

 

(ii) the information or evidence enabling it to be so allocated. 
 

(3) Sub-paragraph (2) does not apply - 
 

(a) in the case of a child or young person in respect of whom an application for a 
reduction is made; 

 

(b) to a person who - 
 

(i) is a person treated as not being in Great Britain for the purposes ; 
 

(ii) is subject to immigration control within the meaning of section 115(9)(a) 
of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999; and 

 

(iii) has not previously been allocated a national insurance number. 
 

(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (5), a person who makes an application, or a person 
to whom a reduction  under  the authority’s scheme has been awarded, must furnish 
such  certificates, documents, information and evidence in connection with the 
application or the award, or any question  arising out  of the application or  the  
award,  as may reasonably be required by the authority in order to determine that 
person's  entitlement  to, or continuing entitlement  to a reduction under its scheme 
and must do so within one month of the authority requiring him to do so or such longer 
period as the authority may consider reasonable. 

 

(5) Nothing in this paragraph requires a person to furnish any certificates, 
documents, information or evidence relating to which sub-paragraph (7) applies; 

 

(6) Where the authority makes a request under sub-paragraph (4), it must - 

92



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 37 of 141 
 

 
 
(a) inform the applicant or the person to whom a reduction under its scheme 
has been awarded of his duty under paragraph 29 (duty to notify change of 
circumstances) to notify the authority of any change of circumstances; and 

 

(b) without prejudice to the extent of the duty owed under paragraph 29, indicate to 
him either orally  or  by notice  or  by  reference  to  some  other  document  available 
to  him  on application and without charge, the kind of change of circumstances which 
must be notified. 

 

(7) This sub-paragraph applies to any of the following payments - 
 

(a) a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, 
MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the London Bombings 
Relief Charitable Fund; 

 

(b) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 16 of Schedule 3 (payments 
made under certain trusts and certain other payments), other than a payment under the 
Independent Living Fund (2006); 

 

(c) a payment which is disregarded under paragraph 48(9). 
 

(8) Where an applicant or a person to whom a reduction under the authority’s scheme 
has been awarded or any partner has attained the qualifying age for state pension 
credit and is a member of, or a person deriving entitlement to a pension under, a 
personal pension scheme, he must where the authority so requires furnish the following 
information29 - 

 

(a) the name and address of the pension fund holder; 
 

(b) such other information including any reference or policy number as is needed to 
enable the personal pension scheme to be identified. 

 
 
28. Amendment and withdrawal of application30

 
 

(1) A person who has made an application may amend it at any time before a 
decision has been made on it by a notice in writing delivered or sent to the designated 
office. 

 
 

(2) Any application amended in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) will be 
treated as if it had been amended in the first instance.  

 

(3) A person who has made an application may withdraw it at any time before a 
decision has been made on it by notice to the offices of the authority.  

 

(4) Any notice of withdrawal given in accordance with sub-paragraph (3) has effect 
when it is received.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

29 For provisions requiring a pension fund holder to provide information to the billing authority see regulations under 
section 14A of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 

93



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 38 of 141 
 

 
29. Duty to notify changes of circumstances31

 
 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraphs (3), (6) and (7), an applicant (or any person acting on his 
behalf) must comply with sub-paragraph (2) if there is a relevant change of 
circumstances at any time - 

 

(a) between the making of an application and a decision being made on it, or 
 

(b) after  the  decision  is  made  (where  the  decision  is that  the applicant  is 
entitled  to a reduction under this authority’s scheme) including at any time while 
the applicant is in receipt of such a reduction. 

 

(2) The applicant (or any person acting on his behalf) must notify any change of 
circumstances which the applicant (or that person) might reasonably be expected to 
know might affect his entitlement to, or the amount of, a reduction under the authority’s 
scheme (a “relevant change of circumstances”) by giving notice to the authority - 

 

(a) in writing; or 
 

(b) by telephone in any case or class of case where the authority determines that notice 
may be given by telephone; or 

(c) by any other means which the authority agrees to accept in any particular case, 
within a period of 21 days beginning with the day on which the change occurs, or as 
soon as reasonably practicable after the change occurs, whichever is later. 

 

(3) The duty imposed on a person by sub-paragraph (1) does not extend to notifying - 
 

(a) changes in the amount of council tax payable to the authority; 
 

(b) changes in the age of the applicant or that of any member of his family; 
 

(c) in the case of an applicant in receipt of a relevant benefit, changes in 
circumstances which affect the amount of the benefit but not the amount of the 
reduction under the authority’s scheme to which he is entitled, other than the cessation 
of that entitlement to the benefit. 

 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(c) “relevant benefit” means income 
support, an income-based jobseeker's allowance or an income-related employment 
and support allowance or universal credit. 

 

(5) Notwithstanding sub-paragraph (3)(b) or (c) an applicant is required by sub- 
paragraph (1) to notify the authority of any change in the composition of his family 
arising from the fact that a person who was a member of his family is now no longer 
such a person because he has ceased to be a child or young person. 

 

 

94



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 39 of 141 
 

PART 8 - Decisions by an authority 
 
 
30. Decision by authority32

 
 

The authority must make a decision on an application under its scheme within 14 
days of paragraphs 26 and 27 being satisfied, or as soon as reasonably practicable 
thereafter. 

 
 
31. Notification of decision33

 
 

(1) The authority must notify in writing any person affected by a decision made by it 
under its scheme - 

 

(a) in the case of a decision on an application, forthwith or as soon as reasonably 
practicable thereafter; 

 

(b) in any other case, within 14 days of that decision or as soon as reasonably 
practicable thereafter. 

 

(2) Where the decision is to award a reduction the notification under  sub-paragraph 
(1) must include a statement - 

 

(a) informing the person affected of the duty imposed by paragraph 29; 
 

(b) explaining the possible consequences (including prosecution) of failing to comply 
with that duty; and 

 

(c) setting out the circumstances a change in which might affect entitlement to the 
reduction or its amount. 

 

(3) Where the decision is to award a reduction, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) 
must include a statement as to how that entitlement is to be discharged. 

 

(4) In any case, the notification under sub-paragraph (1) must inform the person 
affected of the procedure by which an appeal may be made and must refer the person 
to the provisions in the authority’s scheme relating to the procedure for making an 
appeal. 

 

(5) A person affected to whom the  authority sends or delivers a notification of 
decision may, within one month of the date of the notification of that decision request in 
writing the authority to provide a written statement setting out the reasons for its 
decision on any matter set out in the notice. 

 

(6) The written statement referred to in sub-paragraph (2) must be sent to the person 
requesting it within 14 days or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter. 

 

(7) For the purposes of this paragraph a person is to be treated as a person affected by 
a decision of the authority under its scheme where the rights, duties or obligations of 
that person are affected by that decision and the person falls within sub-paragraph (6). 

 

(8) This paragraph applies to - 
 

(a) the applicant; 
 

(b) in the case of a person who is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling 
and is unable for the time being to act - 

 

(i) a deputy appointed by the Court of Protection with power to claim, or as 
the case may be, receive benefit on his behalf; or 

 

32 Sch 8(11) SI 2012/2885 

95



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 40 of 141 
 

 
 

(ii) in Scotland, a judicial factor or any guardian acting or appointed under the 
Adults with Incapacity (Scotland) Act 2000 who has power to apply or, as the 
case may be, receive benefit on the person’s behalf; or 

 

(iii) an attorney with a general power or a power to apply or, as the case may 
be, receive benefit,  has  been  appointed  by  that  person  under  the  Powers 
of  Attorney  Act 1971, the Enduring Powers of Attorney Act 1985 or the 
Mental Capacity Act 2005 or otherwise, 

 

(c) a person appointed by an authority under paragraph 25(3); 
 
 
PART 9 - Award or payment of reduction 

 
 
32. Payment where there is joint and several liability 

 

(1) Where— 
 

(a) a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme in respect of his liability for the 
authority’s council tax as it has effect in respect of a chargeable financial year; 

 

(b) the person entitled to the reduction is jointly and severally liable for the council tax; 
and 

 

(c) the authority determines that discharging his entitlement by reducing the amount of 
his liability to which regulation 20(2) of the Council Tax (Administration and 
Enforcement) Regulations 1992 refers would be inappropriate, 

 

it may make a payment to him of the amount of the reduction to which he is entitled, 
rounded where necessary to the nearest penny. 

 

(2) Subject to sub-paragraph (3) any payment made under sub-paragraph (1) must be 
made to the person who is entitled to the reduction. 

 

(3) Where a person other than a person who is entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme made the application and that first person is a person acting pursuant to an 
appointment under paragraph 25(3) or is treated as having been so appointed by virtue 
of paragraph 25(4), the amount of the reduction may be paid to that person 

 
 
33. 35. Not used. 

96



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 41 of 141 
 

Chapter 2 - Local Scheme Requirements 
 
 
Part 10 - Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme 

 
 
36. Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme35

 
 

(1) The classes of person described in paragraphs 37 to 38 are in relation to a person 
who is not pensioner and are entitled to a reduction under this scheme. 

 

(2) In those paragraphs, references to the applicant’s income or capital include, in a 
case where that income or capital cannot accurately be determined, references to the 
applicant’s estimated income or capital. 

 
 
37. Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is equal to or less 
than the applicable amount  

 

On any day class D consists of any person who is not a pensioner - 
 

(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 
resident; 

 

(b) who, subject to paragraph 40 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent 
from the dwelling throughout the day; 

 

(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
 

(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme; 

 

(e) whose income (if any) for the relevant week is equal to or less than his applicable 
amount; 

 

(f) who has made an application, or is treated as having made an application, for a 
reduction under this scheme; and 

 

(g) who does not possess capital of more than £16,000 
 
 
38. Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the 
applicable amount37

 
 

On any day class E consists of any person who is not a pensioner- 
 

(a) who is for that day liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a 
resident; 

 

(b) who, subject to paragraph 40 (periods of absence from a dwelling), is not absent 
from the dwelling throughout the day; 

 

(c) in respect of whom a maximum council tax reduction amount can be calculated; 
 

(d) who does not fall within a class of person not entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme; 

 

(e) whose income for the relevant week is greater than his applicable amount; 
 

(f) in respect of whom amount A exceeds amount B where - 
 

(i) amount A is the maximum council tax reduction in his case; and 
 
 
 

35 Reg. 12, SI 2012/2886 

97



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 42 of 141 
 

 
 

(ii) amount B is 20 per cent of the difference between his income for the 
relevant week and his applicable amount; 

 

(g) who has made an application, or is treated as having made an application, for a 
reduction under this scheme; and 

 

(h) who does not possess capital of more than £16,000 
 
 
39. Class F - Not used38

 
 
 
40. Periods of absence from a dwelling39

 
 

(1) A person is not absent from a dwelling in relation to any day which falls within a 
period of temporary absence from that dwelling.  

 
(2) In sub-paragraph (1), a “period of temporary absence” means -  
 
a) a period of absence not exceeding 13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day on 
which a person resides in residential accommodation in Great Britain where and for so 
long as -  
 
(i) the person resides in that accommodation;  
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and  
(iii) that period of absence does not form part of a longer period of absence from the 
dwelling of more than 52 weeks,  
 
where he has entered the accommodation for the purpose of ascertaining whether it 
suits his needs and with the intention of returning to the dwelling if it proves not to suit 
his needs;  
 
(b) subject to subparagraph (2B), a period of absence within Great Britain not exceeding 
13 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of absence from the dwelling, where and for 
so long as -  
 
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling;  
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; and  
(iii) that period is unlikely to exceed 13 weeks;  
 
(c) subject to sub-paragraph (2D), a period of absence within Great Britain not 
exceeding 52 weeks, beginning with the first whole day of that absence, where and for 
so long as -  
 
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling;  
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;  
(iii) the person is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3) applies; and  
(iv) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 52 weeks or, in exceptional 
circumstances, is unlikely substantially to exceed that period, and  
 
(d) subject to sub-paragraphs (2F), (3C), (3E) and (3G) and where sub-paragraph (2E) 
applies, a period of absence outside Great Britain not exceeding 4 weeks, beginning 
with the first day of that absence from Great Britain where and for so long as—  
 
(i) the person intends to return to the dwelling;  
(ii) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resides is not let or sub-let; and  
(iii) the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks.;  

98



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 43 of 141 
 

 
(2A) The period of 13 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(b) shall run or continue to 
run during any period of absence from Great Britain.  
 
(2B) Where—  
(a) a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain (period 
A);  
(b) that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within Great 
Britain, for less than 13 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from that dwelling; 
and  
c) at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of 
temporary absence, then any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s return 
to the dwelling, shall not be treated as a period of temporary absence under sub-
paragraph (2)(b).  
 
(2C) The period of 52 weeks referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(c) shall run or continue to 
run during any period of absence from Great Britain.  
 
(2D) Where —  
(a) a person returns to Great Britain after a period of absence from Great Britain (period 
A);  
(b) that person has been absent from the dwelling, including any absence within Great 
Britain, for less than 52 weeks beginning with the first day of absence from that dwelling; 
and  
(c) at the outset of, or during, period A, period A ceased to be treated as a period of 
temporary absence,  
then, any day that follows period A and precedes the person’s return to the dwelling, shall 
not be treated as a period of temporary absence under sub-paragraph (2)(c).  
 
(2E) This sub-paragraph applies where—  
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;  
(b) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not 
absent from the dwelling.  
 
(2F) If the temporary absence referred to in sub-paragraph (2)(d) is in connection with the 
death of—  
(a) the person’s partner or a child or young person for whom the person or the person’s 
partner is responsible;  
(b) the person’s close relative;  
(c) the close relative of the person’s partner; or  
(d) the close relative of a child or young person for whom the person or the person’s 
partner is responsible,  
then the period of 4 weeks in the opening words of sub-paragraph (2)(d) may be extended 
by up to 4 further weeks if the relevant authority considers it unreasonable to expect the 
person to return to Great Britain within the first 4 weeks (and the reference in 
subparagraph (iii) of that paragraph to a period of 4 weeks shall, where the period is 
extended, be taken as referring to the period as so extended).;  
 
(3) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who -  
(a) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (3A) applies  
(i) in a dwelling, other than the dwelling referred to in sub-paragraph (1), or  
(ii) in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007,  
or is detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction;  
(b) is resident in a hospital or similar institution as a patient;  
(c) is undergoing, or whose partner or dependent child is undergoing, medical treatment, 
or medically approved convalescence, in accommodation other than residential 
accommodation;  

99



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 44 of 141 
 

(d) is following a training course;  
(e) is undertaking medically approved care of a person;  

(f) is undertaking the care of a child whose parent or guardian is temporarily absent from 
the dwelling normally occupied by that parent or guardian for the purpose of receiving 
medically approved care or medical treatment;  
(g) is receiving medically approved care provided in accommodation other than 
residential accommodation;  
(h) is a student;  
(i) is receiving care provided in residential accommodation and is not a person to whom 
sub- paragraph (2)(a) applies; or  
(j) has left the dwelling he resides in through fear of violence, in that dwelling, or by a 
person who was formerly a member of the family of the person first mentioned.  

 
(3A) This sub-paragraph applies to a person (“P”) who is—  
(a) detained in custody on remand pending trial;  
(b) detained pending sentence upon conviction; or  
(c) as a condition of bail required to reside—  
(i) in a dwelling, other than a dwelling P occupies as P’s home; or  
(ii) in premises approved under section 13 of the Offender Management Act 2007,  
and who is not also detained in custody following sentence upon conviction.  
 
(3B) This sub-paragraph applies where—  
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;  
(b) the person is a member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas, a mariner or a 
continental shelf worker;  
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not 
absent from the dwelling.  
 
(3C) Where sub-paragraph (3B) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not 
exceeding 26 weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be 
treated as a period of temporary absence where and for so long as—  
(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling;  
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;  
(c) the period of absence from Great Britain is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks.  
 
(3D) This sub-paragraph applies where—  
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;  
(b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (b), (c), (g) or (j) of 
subparagraph (3);  
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not 
absent from the dwelling.  
 
(3E) Where sub-paragraph (3D) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not 
exceeding 26 weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be 
treated as a period of temporary absence where and for so long as—  
(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling;  
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let;  
(c) the period of absence is unlikely to exceed 26 weeks, or in exceptional 
circumstances, is unlikely substantially to exceed that period.  
 
(3F) This sub-paragraph applies where—  
(a) a person is temporarily absent from Great Britain;  
(b) the person is a person described in any of paragraphs (a), (d), (e), (f), (h) or (i) of 
sub-paragraph (3);  
(c) immediately before that period of absence from Great Britain, the person was not 
absent from the dwelling.  
 

100



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 45 of 141 
 

(3G) Where sub-paragraph (3F) applies, a period of absence from Great Britain not 
exceeding 4 weeks, beginning with the first day of absence from Great Britain, shall be 
treated as a period of temporary absence where and for so long as—  
(a) the person intends to return to the dwelling;  
(b) the part of the dwelling in which he usually resided is not let or sub-let; (c) the period 
of absence is unlikely to exceed 4 weeks, or in exceptional circumstances, is unlikely 
substantially to exceed that period.  
 
(4) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is -  
(a) detained in custody pending sentence upon conviction or under a sentence imposed 
by a court (other than a person who is detained in hospital under the provisions of the 
Mental Health Act 1983, or, in Scotland, under the provisions of the Mental Health (Care 
and Treatment) (Scotland) Act 2003 or the Criminal Procedure (Scotland) Act 1995) or, 
in Northern Ireland, under Article 4 or 12 of the Mental Health (Northern Ireland) Order 
1986; and  
(b) on temporary release from detention in accordance with Rules made under the 
provisions of the Prison Act 1952(86) or the Prisons (Scotland) Act 1989(87).  
 
(5) Where sub-paragraph (4) applies to a person, then, for any day when he is on 
temporary release -  
(a) if such temporary release was immediately preceded by a period of temporary 
absence under sub-paragraph (2)(b) or (c), he must be treated, for the purposes of sub- 
paragraph (1), as if he continues to be absent from the dwelling, despite any return to 
the dwelling;  
(b) for the purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a), he must be treated as if he remains in 
detention;  
(c) if he does not fall within paragraph (a), he is not to be considered to be a person who 
is liable to pay council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he is a resident.  

 
(6) In this paragraph -  
 
“continental shelf worker” means a person who is employed, whether under a contract of 
service or not, in a designated area or a prescribed area in connection with any of the 
activities mentioned in section 11(2) of the Petroleum Act 1998;  
 
“designated area” means any area which may from time to time be designated by Order 
in Council under the Continental Shelf Act 1964 as an area within which the rights of the 
United Kingdom with respect to the seabed and subsoil and their natural resources may 
be exercised;  
 
“mariner” means a person who is employed under a contract of service either as a 
master or member of the crew of any ship or vessel, or in any other capacity on board 
any ship or vessel, where—  
(a) the employment in that capacity is for the purposes of that ship or vessel or its crew 
or any passengers or cargo or mails carried by the ship or vessel; and  
(b) the contract is entered into in the United Kingdom with a view to its performance (in 
whole or in part) while the ship or vessel is on its voyage;  
 
“medically approved” means certified by a medical practitioner;  
 
“member of Her Majesty’s forces posted overseas” means a person who is a member of 
the regular forces or the reserve forces (within the meaning of section 374 of the Armed 
Forces Act 2006), who is absent from the main dwelling because the person has been 
posted outside of Great Britain to perform the duties of a member of Her Majesty’s 
regular forces or reserve forces; and  

 

101



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 46 of 141 
 

“patient” means a person who is undergoing medical or other treatment as an in-patient 
in any hospital or similar institution;  
 
“prescribed area” means any area over which Norway or any member State (other than 
the United Kingdom) exercises sovereign rights for the purpose of exploring the seabed 
and subsoil and exploiting their natural resources, being an area outside the territorial 
seas of Norway or such member State, or any other area which is from time to time 
specified under section 10(8) of the Petroleum Act 1998;  
 
“residential accommodation” means accommodation which is provided in -  
(a) a care home;  
(b) an independent hospital;  
(c) an Abbeyfield Home; or  
(d) an establishment managed or provided by a body incorporated by Royal Charter or 
constituted by Act of Parliament other than a local social services authority;  
 
41. Classes of person excluded from this scheme40

 
 

The classes of person described in paragraph 12, 13, 42, 42A and 43 are not entitled to 
a reduction under this scheme. 

 
 
42. Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit41

 
 

(1) Except where sub-paragraph (3) applies, the class of person described in this 
paragraph consists of any person whose capital exceeds £10,000; 

 

(2)  Where sub-paragraph (3) applies the class of person described in this 
paragraph consists of any person whose capital exceeds £16,000. 

 
(3) Sub-paragraph (3) applies where the applicant, or any partner, receives an 
enhanced disablement premium or severe disablement premium or Universal 
Credit or Universal Credit Limited Capability for Work in accordance with 
Employment and Support Allowance regulations 2008 or has a dependant in 
receipt of a disabled child premium.   

 
(4) Subject to paragraph 52, capital for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) is to be 
calculated in accordance with Part 17. 

 
42A. Class of person excluded from this scheme: valuation band F, G and H  
 
The class or person described in paragraph consists of any person whose liability 
for Council Tax is in respect of a chargeable dwelling which falls within valuation 
band F, G or H in accordance with section 5 of the 1992 Act.   
 
Where the eligible council tax has been reduced from Band F to E under section 
13 of the 1992 Act, then there will be an entitlement to Council Tax Support.  

 
43. Class of person excluded from this scheme: students42

 
 

The class of person described in this paragraph consists of any student to whom 
paragraph 79(1) applies. 

 
40 Reg. 20, SI 2012/2886 - amended 
41 Reg. 23, SI 2012/2886 
42 Reg. 24, SI 2012/2886 
43 Reg. 26, SI 2012/2886 - amended 
 
 

102



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 47 of 141 
 

Part 11 - Applicable amounts 
 
 
44. Applicable amounts 

 

Subject to paragraphs 45 and 46, the applicable amount for a week is the aggregate 
 
 
(1) of such of the following amounts as may apply in his case - 

 

(a) an amount in respect of himself or, if he is a member of a couple, an amount in 
respect of both of them, determined in accordance with paragraph 1 of Schedule 1; 

 

(b) an amount in respect of any child or young person who is a member of his 
family, determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of Schedule 1; 

 

(c) if he is a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young 
person, an amount determined in accordance with Part 2 of Schedule 1(family 
premium); 

 

(d) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him, determined in 
accordance with Parts 3 and 4 of Schedule 1 (premiums); 

 

(e) the amount of either the – 
(i) work-related activity component; or 

 

(ii) support component, 
 

which may be applicable to him in accordance with Part 5 of Schedule 1 (the 
components); 

 

(f) the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in 
accordance with Parts 7 and 8 of Schedule 1(transitional addition). 

 

(2) The right to prescribe the amounts of applicable amounts conferred by sub- 
paragraph (1) includes the right by the authority to set the amounts in accordance with 
the annual uprating of applicable amounts, to take effect at the beginning of each 
financial year. 

 

(3) In Schedule 1 - 
 

“additional spouse” means a spouse by the party to the marriage who is additional to 
the party to the marriage; 

 

“converted employment and support allowance” means an employment and support 
allowance which is not income-related and to which a person is entitled as a result of a 
conversion decision within the meaning of the Employment and Support Allowance 
(Existing Awards) Regulations 2008 

 

“patient” means a person (other than a person who is serving a sentence of 
imprisonment or detention in a youth custody institution) who is regarded as receiving 
free in-patient treatment within the meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social 
Security (Hospital In-Patients) Regulations 2005 

 
 
45. Polygamous marriages44

 
 

(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant who is not a pensioner is a member 
of a polygamous marriage, and does not have (alone or jointly with a party to a 
marriage), an award of universal credit. 

 
 

44 Reg. 27, SI 2012/2886 
 
 
 

 

103



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 48 of 141 
 

( 2 )  The applicable amount for a week of an applicant where this paragraph applies is 
the aggregate of such of the following amounts as may apply in his case - 

 

(a) the amount applicable to him and one of his partners determined in accordance 
with paragraph 1(3) of Schedule 1 as if he and that partner were a couple; 

 

(b) an amount equal to the difference between the amounts specified in sub- 
paragraphs (3) and (1)(b) of paragraph 1 of that Schedule in respect of each of his 
other partners; 
 
(c) an amount determined in accordance with paragraph 2 of that Schedule (main 
phase employment and support allowance) in respect of any child or young person for 
whom he or a partner of his is responsible and who is a member of the same 
household; 

 
(d) if he or another partner of the polygamous marriage is responsible for a child or   
young person who is a member of the same household, the amount specified in Part 2 
of that Schedule (family premium); 

 

(e) the amount of any premiums which may be applicable to him determined in 
accordance with Parts 3 and 4 of that Schedule (premiums); 

 

(f) the amount of either the— 
 

(i) work-related activity component; or  
(ii) support component, 

 

which may be applicable to him in accordance with Parts 5 and 6 of that Schedule (the 
components); 

 

(g) the amount of any transitional addition which may be applicable to him in 
accordance with Parts 7 and 8 of that Schedule (transitional addition). 

 
 
46. Applicable amount: persons who have an award of universal credit45

 
 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in determining the applicable amount for a week of an 
applicant - 

 

a)   who has, or 
 

(b)  who (jointly with his partner) has,an award of universal credit, the authority may use 
the calculation or estimate of the maximum amount of the applicant, or the applicant and 
his partner jointly (as the case may be), less the Housing Element, subject to the 
adjustment described in sub-paragraph (3). 

 

(2) In determining the applicable amount for a week of an applicant who is a member 
of a polygamous marriage, the fact that two people are husband and wife is to be 
disregarded if— 

 

(a) one of them is a party to an earlier marriage that still subsists; and 
 

(b) the other party to that earlier marriage is living in the same household. 
 

(3) The adjustment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is to multiply the maximum 
amount by 12 and divide the product by 52 

 

(4) In  this  paragraph “maximum  amount”  means  the  maximum  amount  calculated 
by  the Secretary of State in accordance with section 8(2) of the Welfare Reform Act 
2012. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

104



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 49 of 141 
 

 
Part 12 - Maximum council tax reduction 

 
 
47. Maximum council tax reduction under this scheme  
(1) Except where sub-paragraph (5) applies, subject to sub-paragraphs (6) to (8), the 
amount of a person’s maximum Council Tax reduction in respect of a day is 80 per cent 
of the amount A/B where—  
 
(a) subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), A is the amount set by the authority as the 
Council Tax for the relevant financial year in respect of the dwelling in which he is a 
resident and for which he is liable, subject to any other discount which may be 
appropriate to that dwelling under the 1992 Act; and  
 
(b) B is the number of days in that financial year,  
 
(c) less any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under 
paragraph 48 (non-dependant deductions: persons who are not pensioners).  
 
(2) The amount A in sub-paragraph (1) (a) for a dwelling that has a Council Tax band 
higher than Band D shall be limited, for all working age applicants, to the amount for a 
Band D dwelling for the relevant financial year.  

 
(3) Where the amount A is limited to Band D, any other discounts appropriate to the 
dwelling shall also be limited to the equivalent amounts for a Band D dwelling for the 
relevant financial year.  
 
(4) Sub-paragraph (5) applies where the applicant, or any partner, receives an 
enhanced disablement premium or severe disablement premium or Universal Credit 
Limited Capability for Work in accordance with Employment and Support Allowance 
regulations 2008 or has a dependant in receipt of a disabled child premium.  
 
(5) Where sub-paragraph (4) applies, subject to sub-paragraphs (6) to (8), the amount 
of a person’s maximum Council Tax reduction in respect of a day is 90 per cent of the 
amount A/B where –  
 
(a) A is the amount set by the authority as the Council Tax for the relevant financial 
year in respect of the dwelling in which he is resident and for which he is liable, subject 
to any discount which may be appropriate to that dwelling under the 1992 Act; and  
 
(b) B is the number of days in that financial year,  
 
(c) Less any deductions in respect of non-dependants which fall to be made under 
paragraph 48 (non-dependant deductions: persons who are not pensioners)  
 
(6) In calculating a person’s maximum Council Tax reduction under this scheme any 
reduction in the amount that person is liable to pay in respect of Council Tax, which is 
made in consequence of any enactment in, or made under, the 1992 Act (other than a 
reduction under this scheme), is to be taken into account.  
 
(7) Subject to sub-paragraph (8), where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for 
Council Tax in respect of a dwelling in which he is resident with one or more other 
persons, in determining the maximum Council Tax reduction in his case in accordance 
with sub-paragraphs (1), and sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) if applicable, the amount A is to 
be divided by the number of persons who are jointly and severally liable for that tax.  
 

105



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 50 of 141 
 

(8) Where an applicant is jointly and severally liable for Council Tax in respect of a 
dwelling with only his partner, sub-paragraph (7) does not apply in his case.  
 
(9) The reference in sub-paragraph (7) to a person with whom an applicant is jointly and 
severally liable for Council Tax does not include a student to whom paragraph 74(1) 
applies.  
 
(10)  In this paragraph “relevant financial year” means, in relation to any particular day, 
the financial year within which the day in question falls.  

 
 
48. Non-dependant deduction47

 
 

(1) Subject to the following provisions of this paragraph, the non-dependant deduction 
in respect of a day referred to in paragraph 47 will equate to the Council Tax Reduction 
Schemes (Prescribed Requirements) (England) Regulations 2012 as amended by the 
Government, except for those working age individuals (or partner) who have been 
assessed by the Secretary for State for Work and Pensions (DWP) for Universal Credit. 
The rate is - 

 

(a) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over in remunerative work, £12.85 x 1/7; 
 

(b) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (a) does 
not apply, £4.20 x 1/7. 

 

(2) In the case of a non-dependant aged 18 or over to whom sub-paragraph (1)(a) 
applies, where it is shown to the appropriate authority that his normal gross weekly 
income is - 

 

(a) less than £224.00, the non-dependant deduction to be made under this paragraph 
is the amount specified in sub-paragraph (1)(b); 

 

(b) not  less  than  £224.00  but  less  than  £389.00, the non-dependant deduction to 
be made under  this paragraph is £8.55; 

 

(c) not less  than £389.00 but  less than £484.00, the non-dependant deduction to 
be made under this paragraph is £10.70. 

 
(2A) for all working age individuals (or partner) who have been assessed by the 
Secretary for State for Work and Pensions (DWP) for Universal Credit. the rate is – 
 
(a) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or over not in remunerative work, £5.00 x    
1/7; 
(b) in respect of a non-dependant aged 18 or in remunerative work, £10.00 x    1/7; 

 

(3) Only one non-dependant deduction is to be made under this paragraph in respect of 
a couple or, as the case may be, members of a polygamous marriage (other than  
where there is an award of universal credit) and, where, but for this paragraph, the 
amount that would fall to be deducted in respect of one member of a couple or 
polygamous marriage is higher than the amount (if any) that would fall to be deducted in 
respect of the other, or any other member, the higher amount is to be deducted. 

 

(4) In applying the provisions of sub-paragraph (2) in the case of a couple or, as the 
case may be, a polygamous marriage, regard must be had, for the purpose of that 
paragraph, to the couple’s or, as the case may be, all members of the polygamous 
marriage’s joint weekly gross income. 

 

(5) Where in respect of a day - 
 

(a) a person is a resident in a dwelling but is not himself liable for council tax in 
respect of that dwelling and that day; 
(b) other residents in that dwelling (the liable persons) have joint and several liability  

106



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 51 of 141 
 

(c) for council tax in respect of that dwelling and that day otherwise than by virtue of 
section 9 of the 1992 Act (liability of spouses and civil partners); and 

 

(d) the person to whom sub-paragraph (a) refers is a non-dependant of two or more 
of the liable persons, 

 

the non-dependant deduction in respect of that non-dependant must be apportioned 
equally between those liable persons. 

 

(6) No non-dependant deduction is to be made in respect of any non-dependants 
occupying an applicant’s dwelling if the applicant or his partner is - 

 

(a) blind or treated as blind by virtue of paragraph 10 of Schedule 1 (additional 
condition for the disability premium); or 

 

(b) receiving in respect of himself - 
(i) attendance allowance, or would be receiving that allowance but for - 

(aa)   a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 
section 113(2) of the SSCBA; or 

 

(bb)   an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 
 

(ii) the care component of the disability living allowance, or would be receiving 
that component but for - 

 

(aa)  a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 
section 113(2) of the SSCBA; or 

 

(bb)   an abatement as a result of hospitalisation; or 
 

(iii) the daily living component of personal independence payment, or would be 
receiving that allowance but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with 
regulations under section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in- 
patients); or 

 

(iv) an AFIP, or would be receiving that payment but for a suspension of it in 
accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation 
scheme which allows for a suspension because a person is undergoing medical 
treatment in a hospital or similar institution 

 

(7) No non-dependant deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant if - 
 

(a) although he resides with the applicant, it appears to the authority that his normal 
home is elsewhere; or 

 

(b) he is in receipt of a training allowance paid in connection with youth training 
established under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of 
the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 

 

(c) he is a full-time student within the meaning of Part 18 (students); or 
 

(d) he is not residing with the applicant because he has been a patient for a period in 
excess of 52 weeks, and for these purposes - 

 

(i) “patient” has the meaning given in paragraph 40(6), and 
 

(ii) where a person has been a patient for two or more distinct periods 
separated by one or more intervals each not exceeding 28 days, he is to be 
treated as having been a patient continuously for a period equal in duration to 
the total of those distinct periods. 

 

(8) No non-dependant deduction is to be made in respect of a non-dependant - 
(a) who is on income support, state pension credit, an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance, an income-related employment and support allowance or universal credit; or 

 

(b) to whom Schedule 1 to the 1992 Act applies (persons disregarded for purposes of 

107



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 52 of 141 
 

discount) but this paragraph does not apply to a non-dependant who is a student to 
whom paragraph 4 of that Schedule refers. 

 

(9) In the application of sub-paragraph (2) there is to be disregarded from the non- 
dependant’s gross weekly income - 

 

(a) any attendance allowance, disability living allowance, personal independence or 
an AFIP payment received by him; 

 

(b) any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund 
(2006); which, had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 60 (calculation of 
income other than earnings), would have been disregarded under paragraph 28 of 
Schedule 3 (income in kind); and 

 

(c) any payment which, had his income fallen to be calculated under paragraph 60 
(Calculation of income other than earnings), would have been disregarded under 
paragraph 41 of Schedule 3 (payments made under certain trusts and certain other 
payments). 

 

(10) The right to prescribe the amounts of non-dependant deduction conferred by sub- 
paragraphs (1) and (2) includes the right by the authority to set the amounts annually to 
take effect at the beginning of each financial year 

 
 
PART 13 - Not used 

 
 
PART 14 - Amount of reduction 

 
 
49. Amount of reduction under this scheme: classes D to E48

 
 

(1) Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme in respect of a day, 
the amount of the reduction to which he is entitled is as follows. 

 

(2) Subject to paragraph 49A, where the person falls within paragraph 37 (class D), that 
amount is the amount which is the maximum council tax reduction under paragraph 
47(1) in respect of the day in the applicant’s case, 

 

(3) Subject to paragraph 49A, where the person falls within paragraph 38 (class E), that 
amount is the amount found by deducting amount B from amount A, where “amount A” 
and “amount B” have the meanings given in paragraph 38(f) 

 
49A. Minimum amount of reduction under this scheme 

 
(1) Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme it shall not be awarded 

where the amount to which a person would otherwise be entitled is less than £5.00 
per reduction week. 

 
 
PART 15 - Income and capital - General 

 
50. Calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family and polygamous 
marriages49

 
 

(1) The income and capital of - 
 

(a) an applicant; and 
 

(b) any partner of that applicant, 
 

is to be calculated in accordance with the provisions of this Part, Part 16 and Part 17 
 

(2) The income and capital of any partner of the applicant is to be treated as income 

108



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 53 of 141 
 

and capital of the applicant, and in this Part any reference to the applicant applies 
equally to any partner of that applicant. 

 

(3) Except where paragraph 52 (income and capital where there is an award of 
universal credit) applies, where an applicant or the partner of an applicant is married 
polygamously to two or more members of his household - 

 

(a) the applicant must be treated as possessing capital and income belonging to 
each such member; and 

 

(b) the  income  and  capital  of  that  member  is  to  be  calculated  in  accordance 
with  the following provisions of this Part in like manner as for the applicant. 

 
51. Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated 
as the applicant’s50

 
 

(1) Sub-paragraph (2) applies where it appears to the authority that a non-dependant 
and an applicant have entered into arrangements in order to take advantage and the 
non- dependant has more income and capital than the applicant. 

 

(2) Except where - 
 

(a) the applicant is a pensioner and is on a guarantee credit, or 
 

(b) the applicant is not a pensioner and is on income support, an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance, 

 

the authority must treat the applicant as possessing income and capital belonging to 
that non- dependant and, in such a case, any income and capital which the applicant 
does possess is to be disregarded. 

 

(3) Where an applicant is treated as possessing income and capital belonging to a non- 
dependant under sub-paragraph (2) the income and capital of that non-dependant must 
be calculated in accordance with the following provisions of this Part in like manner 
as for the applicant and, except where the context otherwise requires, any reference  
to the “applicant” is to be construed for the purposes of this Part as if it were a reference 
to that non-dependant. 

 
52. Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit51

 
 

(1) In determining the income of an applicant - 
 

(a) who has, or 
 
(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 

 

an award of universal credit the authority must, subject to the following provisions of 
this paragraph, use the calculation or estimate of the amount of the income of the 
applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), made by the 
Secretary of State for the purpose of determining the award of universal credit– the 
monthly Universal Credit payment.  
 

(2) The authority must adjust the amount of the income referred to in sub-paragraph (1) by 
multiplying the amount of the award by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 

 
(3) The authority may only adjust the amount of the income as adjusted in accordance 

with sub-paragraph (2) so far as necessary to take into account— 
 
 

49 Reg. 33, SI 2012/2886 
50 Reg. 34, SI 2012/2886 
 
(a) the amount of the award of universal credit, determined in accordance with sub- 
paragraph, less the Housing Element  (4); 

109



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 54 of 141 
 

 

(b) paragraph 51 (circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be 
treated as applicant’s), if the authority determines that the provision applies in the 
applicant’s case; 

 

(c) such further reduction (if any) as the authority thinks fit under section 13A(1)(c) of 
the 1992 Act (power of billing authority to reduce amount of council tax payable). 

 

(4) The amount for the award of universal credit to be taken into account for the 
purposes of sub-paragraph (3)(a) is to be determined by multiplying the amount of the 
award of universal credit by 12 and dividing the product by 52. 

 

(5) Paragraph 51 (income and capital of non-dependant to be treated as applicant’s) 
applies for the purpose of determining any adjustments which fall to be made to the 
figure for income under sub-paragraph (3). 

 

(6) In determining the capital of an applicant— 
 

(a) who has, or 
 

(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
 

an award of universal credit, the authority must use the calculation or estimate of the 
capital of the applicant, or the applicant and his partner jointly (as the case may be), 
made by the Secretary of State for the purpose of determining the award of universal 
credit. 
 
52A – Treatment of deductions from Universal credit 
 
(1) For the avoidance of doubt, the following deductions made from Universal Credit 

will still be included as part of a person’s Universal Credit income for Council Tax 
Support assessment purposes: 

 
• Budgeting advance 
• Child support maintenance 
• Council Tax liability arrears 
• Court fines 
• DWP admin penalties 
• DWP civil penalties 
• DWP normal overpayment 
• DWP fraud overpayment 
• Electricity arrears 
• Eligible loan arrears 
• First month advance (unless the advance has already been used as income 

for an earlier period) 
• Flat rate maintenance 
• Fraud penalty 
• Gas arrears 
• Hardship payment (unless it has been used as income for an earlier period)  
• HB admin penalties 
• HB civil penalties 
• HB fraud overpayment 
• HB normal overpayment 
• Integration loan arrears 
• Managed non-monthly payment 
• Managed payment to landlord 
• Managed split payment 
• Manual landlord payment 
• Manual non-monthly payment 
• Mortgage interest arrears 

110



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 55 of 141 
 

• Owner service charge arrears 
• Rent arrears 
• Short-term advance (unless we have included the advance as income or an 

earlier period)  
• Social fund 
• Tax Credit fraud overpayment 
• Tax Credit normal overpayment 
• Water arrears 

 
(2) The following deductions made form Universal Credit will not be counted as 

income within the assessment of a person’s Council Tax Support: 
• Benefit cap reduction 
• Conditionality sanction 
• First month advance (if we have already used is as income in an earlier 

assessment period) 
• Hardship payment (if we have already used is as income in an earlier 

assessment period) 
• Short-term advance (if we have already used is as income in an earlier 

assessment period) 
 
Part 16 - Income; persons who do not have an award of universal credit 

 
 
53. Average weekly earnings of employed earners52

 
 

(1) Where the income of an applicant consists of earnings from employment as an 
employed earner his average weekly earnings must be estimated by reference to his 
earnings from that employment - 

 

over a period immediately preceding the reduction week in which the application is made 
or treated as made and being a period of - 
 

5 weeks, if he is paid weekly; or 
 

2 months, if he is paid monthly; or 
 
Whether or not sub-paragraph (a)(i) or (ii) applies, where an applicant’s earnings 
fluctuate, over such other period preceding the reduction week in which the application is 
made or treated as made as may, in any particular case, enable his average  weekly  
earnings to be estimated more accurately. 

 

(2) Where the applicant has been in his employment for less than the period specified 
in sub-paragraph (1)(a)(i) or (ii) - 

 

(a) if he has received any earnings for the period that he has been in that 
employment and those earnings are likely to represent his average weekly earnings 
from that employment his average weekly earnings must be estimated by reference to 
those earnings; 

 

(b) in any other case, the authority must estimate the applicant’s average weekly 
earnings53. 

 

(3) Where the amount of an applicant’s earnings changes the authority must estimate 
his average weekly earnings by reference to his likely earnings from the employment 
over such period as is appropriate in order that his average weekly earnings may be 
estimated accurately but the length of the period must not in any case exceed 52 
weeks. 

 

(a) For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant’s earnings are to be calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 57 (earnings of employed earners) and 58 (calculation of 
net earnings of employed earners). 

 

111



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 56 of 141 
 

   
54. Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners54

 
 

(1) Where the income of an applicant consists of earnings from employment as a 
self-employed earner his  average weekly earnings  must  be estimated by 
reference to his earnings from that employment over such period as is appropriate in 
order that his average weekly earnings may be estimated accurately but the length of 
the period must not in any case exceed a year. 

 

(2) For the purposes of this paragraph the applicant’s earnings must be calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 59 (earnings of self-employed earners), 67 (calculation of 
net profit of self-employed earners) and 68 (calculation of deduction of tax and 
contributions of self-employed earners). 

 
(3) Subject to paragraphs 59, 67 and 68, where, in any assessment period, a 
claimant is in gainful self-employment (see regulation 54B) and the claimant’s 
earned income in respect of that assessment period is less than the minimum 
income floor, the claimant is to be treated as having earned income equal to the 
minimum income floor. 

 
(4)  The “minimum income floor” is the amount that a person of the same age as the 
claimant would be paid for thirty-five hours or in the case of a lone parent twenty hours 
work per week at the hourly rate applicable under Regulation 4 of the National Minimum 
Wage Regulations 2015 (as amended and in force on 1 January preceding this 
scheme’s effective start date) minus-  

 
(a) an amount that the Council considers appropriate to take account of any income tax 
or national insurance contributions for which the person would be liable in respect of the 
assessment period if they had earned income of that amount.  

 
(5) Paragraph (3) does not apply where—  

 
(a) the assessment period falls within a start-up period or is the assessment period 
in which a start-up period begins or ends 
 
54A Start-up Period  
 
(1) A “start-up period” is a period of 12 months and applies from the beginning of the 
assessment period in which the Council determines that a claimant is in gainful self-
employment where—  
(a) the claimant has begun to carry on the trade, profession or vocation which is their 
main employment in the 12 months preceding the beginning of that assessment period; 
and  
(b) the claimant is taking active steps to increase their earnings from that employment. 
 
(2) But no start-up period may apply in relation to a claimant where a start-up period has 
previously applied in relation to that claimant, whether in relation to the current award or 
any previous award of Local Council Tax Support, unless that previous start-up period—  
(a) began more than 5 years before the beginning of assessment period referred to in 
paragraph (1); and  
(b) applied in relation to a different trade, profession or vocation which the claimant has 
ceased to carry on. 

 
(3 ) The Council may terminate a start-up period at any time if the person is no longer in 
gainful self-employment or is no longer taking the steps referred to in paragraph (1)(b). 
 
 

112



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 57 of 141 
 

 
 
54B Meaning of “gainful self-employment” 
 
(1) A claimant is in gainful self-employment for the purposes of regulations 54 and 54A 
where the Council has determined that—  
(a) the claimant is carrying on a trade, profession or vocation as their main employment;  
(b) their earnings from that trade, profession or vocation are self-employed earnings; and  
(c) the trade, profession or vocation is organised, developed, regular and carried on in 
expectation of profit. 
 
55. Average weekly income other than earnings55

 
 

(1) The income of an applicant which does not consist of earnings must, except where 
sub-paragraph (2) applies, be estimated over such period as is appropriate in order that 
his average weekly income may be estimated accurately but the length of the period 
must not in any case exceed 52 weeks; and nothing in this paragraph authorises the 
authority to disregard any such income other than that specified in Schedule 3 (sums 
disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings). 

 
(2) The period over which any benefit under the benefit Acts is to be taken into account 
is to be the period in respect of which that benefit is payable. 

 

(3) For the purposes of this paragraph income than earnings is to be calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 60 (calculation of income other than earnings) . 
56. Calculation of weekly income of employed earners56

 
 

(1) For the purposes of paragraph 53 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), 
55 (average weekly income other than earnings) and 65 (calculation of average weekly 
income from tax credits), where the period in respect of which a payment is made - 

 

(a) does not exceed a week, the weekly amount is to be the amount of that payment; 
 

(b) exceeds a week, the weekly amount is to be determined - 
 

(i) in a case where that period is a month, by multiplying the amount of the 
payment by 12 and dividing the product by 52; 

 

(ii) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the payment by the number 
equal to the number of days in the period to which it relates and multiplying the 
product by 7. 

 

(2) For the purposes of paragraph 53 (average weekly earnings of self-employed 
earners) the weekly amount of earnings of an applicant is to be determined by dividing 
his earnings over the assessment period by the number equal to the number of days in 
that period and multiplying the product by 7. 
 

 
57. Earnings of employed earners57

 
 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as an 
employed earner of a person means any remuneration or profit derived from that 
employment and includes – 

 

(a) any bonus or commission; 
 

(b) any payment in lieu of remuneration except any periodic sum paid to an applicant 
on account of the termination of his employment by reason of redundancy; 

 
 

53 Powers in section 14A of the LGFA 1992 may be used to confer power to require employers to provide information 
for these purposes. 

113



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 58 of 141 
 

 
 

 

(c) any payment in lieu of notice or any lump sum payment intended as compensation 
for the loss of employment but only in so far as it represents loss of income; 

 

(d) any holiday pay except any payable more than 4 weeks after termination or 
interruption of the employment; 

 

(e) any payment by way of a retainer; 
 

(f) any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of expenses not wholly, 
exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties of the 
employment, including any payment made by the applicant’s employer in respect of - 

 

(i) travelling  expenses  incurred  by  the  applicant  between  his  home  and 
place  of employment; 

 

(ii) expenses  incurred  by  the  applicant  under  arrangements  made  for  the 
care  of  a member of his family owing to the applicant’s absence from home; 

 

(g) any award of compensation made under section 112(4) or 117(3)(a) of the 
Employment Rights Act 1996 (remedies and compensation for unfair dismissal); 
 
(h) any payment or remuneration made under section 28, 34, 64, 68 or 70 of 
the Employment Rights Act 1996 (right to guarantee payments, remuneration on 
suspension on medical or maternity grounds, complaints to employment 
tribunals);  
 
(i) any such sum as is referred to in section 112 of the SSCBA (certain sums to 
be earnings for social security purposes) 
 
(j) any  statutory  sick  pay,  statutory  maternity  pay,  statutory  paternity  pay  or 
statutory adoption pay, or a corresponding payment under any enactment having effect 
in Northern Ireland;  
(k) any remuneration paid by or on behalf of an employer to the applicant who for 
the time being is on maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave or is absent from 
work because he is ill;  
(l) the amount of any payment by way of a non-cash voucher which has been taken 
into account in the computation of a person’s earnings in accordance with Part 5 of 
Schedule 3 to the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001.  
(2) Earnings does not include -  
(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), any payment in kind;  
(b) any payment in respect of expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred 
in the performance of the duties of the employment;  
(c) any occupational pension;  
(d) any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation in a 
service user group.  
(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(a) does not apply in respect of any non-cash voucher referred 
to in  sub-paragraph (1)(l). 

 
 
58. Calculation of net earnings of employed earners58

 
 

(1) For the purposes of paragraph 53 (average weekly earnings of employed earners), 
the earnings of an applicant derived or likely to be derived from employment as an 
employed earner to be taken into account must, subject to sub-paragraph (2), be his 

114



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 59 of 141 
 

net earnings. 
 

(2) There is to be disregarded from an applicant’s net earnings, any sum, where 
applicable, specified in paragraphs 1 to 16 of Schedule 2 (sums disregarded in the 
calculation of earnings). 

 

(3) For the purposes of sub - paragraph (1) net earnings must, except where sub -
paragraph (6) applies, be calculated by taking into account the gross earnings of the 
applicant from that employment over the assessment period, less - 

 

(a) any amount deducted from those earnings by way of - 
 

(i) income tax; 
 

(ii) primary Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA; 
 
 

(b) one-half  of  any  sum  paid  by  the  applicant  by  way  of  a  contribution 
towards  an occupational pension scheme; 

 
(c)  one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (5) in 
respect of any qualifying contribution payable by the applicant; and  

where those earnings include a payment which is payable under any enactment 
having effect  in Northern Ireland and which  corresponds to statutory sick  pay, 
statutory maternity pay, statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay, any  
amount deducted from those earnings by way of any contributions which are payable 
under any enactment having effect in Northern Ireland and which correspond to primary 
Class 1 contributions under the SSCBA. 
 
(4) In this paragraph “qualifying contribution” means any sum which is payable 
periodically as a contribution towards a personal pension scheme. 

 

(5) The amount in respect of any qualifying contribution is to be calculated by 
multiplying the daily amount of the qualifying contribution by the number equal to the 
number of days in the assessment period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the 
daily amount of the qualifying contribution is to be determined - 

 

(a) where the qualifying contribution is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of 
the qualifying contribution by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 

 

(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying contribution by the 
number equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying contribution 
relates. 

 

(6) Where the earnings of an applicant are estimated under paragraph 53(2)(b) 
(average weekly earnings of employed earners), his net earnings is to be calculated by 
taking into account those earnings over the assessment period, less - 

 

(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by 
applying to those earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period 
less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under sections 35 to 37 of 
the Income Tax Act 2007 (personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances 
but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of 
tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal relief deductible under this 
paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

 

(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that 
would be payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such 
contributions were payable; and 

 

(c) one-half of any sum which would be payable by the applicant by way of a 
contribution towards an occupational or personal pension scheme, if the earnings so 
estimated were actual earnings. 

 
 
 

115



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 60 of 141 
 

 
 
 

59. Earnings of self-employed earners59
 

 

(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), “earnings”, in the case of employment as a self- 
employed earner of a person means the gross income of the employment. 

 

(2) “Earnings” does not include any payment to which paragraph 31 or 32 of Schedule 
3 refers (payments in respect of a person accommodated with the applicant under 
arrangements made by a local authority or voluntary organisation and payments made 
to the applicant by a health authority, local authority or voluntary organisation in respect 
of persons temporarily in the applicant’s care) nor does it include any sports award. 

 

(3) This sub-paragraph applies to - 
 

(a) royalties or other sums paid as a consideration for the use of, or the right to use, 
any copyright, design, patent or trade mark; or 

 

(b) any payment in respect of any - 
 

(i) book registered under the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982; or 
 

(ii) work made under any international public lending right scheme that is 
analogous to the Public Lending Right Scheme 1982, 

 

where the applicant is the first owner of the copyright, design, patent or trade mark, or 
an original contributor to the book or work concerned. 

 

(4) Where the applicant’s earnings consist of any items to which sub-paragraph (3) 
applies, those earnings must be taken into account over a period equal to such number 
of weeks as is equal to the number obtained (and any fraction is to be treated as a 
corresponding fraction of a week) by dividing the earnings by - 

 

(a) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would have 
been entitled had the payment not been made, plus 

 

(b) an amount equal to the total of the sums which would fall to be disregarded from 
the payment under Schedule 2 (sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings: 
persons) as appropriate in the applicant’s case. 

 
 
60. Calculation of income other than earnings60

 
 

(1) For the purposes of paragraph 55 (average weekly income other than earnings: 
persons), the income of an applicant which does not consist of earnings to be taken into 
account must, subject to sub-paragraphs (2) to (8), be his gross income and any capital 
treated as income under paragraph 61(capital treated as income). 

 

(2) There is to be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s gross income under 
sub-paragraph (1), any sum, where applicable, specified in Schedule 3. 

 

(3) Where the payment of any benefit under the benefit Acts is subject to any deduction 
by way of recovery the amount to be taken into account under sub-paragraph (1) must 
be the gross amount payable. 

 

(4) Where the applicant or, where he is a member  of  a couple, his partner is 
receiving a contributory employment  and support  allowance  and that  benefit  has 
been reduced under regulation 63 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008), the amount of that benefit to be taken into account is the amount as 
if it had not been reduced. 

 

(5) Where an award of any working tax credit or child tax credit under the Tax Credits 
Act 2002 is subject to a deduction by way of recovery of an overpayment of working tax 
credit or child tax credit which arose in a previous tax year the amount to be taken into 
account under sub-paragraph (1) is to be the amount of working tax credit or child tax 
credit awarded less the amount of that deduction. 

116



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 61 of 141 
 

 
 

 

(6) Sub-paragraphs (7) and (8) apply where - 
 

(a) a relevant payment has been made to a person in an academic year; and 
 

(b) that person abandons, or is dismissed from, his course of study before the 
payment to him of the final instalment of the relevant payment. 

 

(7) Where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the amount of a relevant payment to 
be taken into account for the assessment period for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) 
in respect of a person to whom sub-paragraph (6) applies, is to be calculated by 
applying the formula— 

 

(A - (B x C)) / D 
 

where - 
 

A = the total amount of the relevant payment which that person would have received 
had he remained a student until the last day of the academic term in which he 
abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course, less any deduction under paragraph 
85(5) (treatment of student loans); 

 

B = the number of reduction weeks from the reduction week immediately following that 
which includes the first day of that academic year to the reduction week which includes 
the day on which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course; 

 

C = the weekly amount of the relevant payment, before the application of the £10 
disregard, which would  have  been taken into account  as income  under  paragraph 
85(2) (treatment of student loans) had the person not abandoned or been dismissed 
from, his course and, in the case of a person who was not entitled to a reduction under 
this scheme immediately before he abandoned or was dismissed from his course, had 
that person, at that time, been entitled to housing benefit; 

 

D = the number of reduction weeks in the assessment period. 
 

(8) Where a relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a quarter, the 
amount of a relevant payment to be taken into account for the assessment period for 
the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) in respect of a person to whom sub-paragraph (6) 
applies, is to be calculated by applying the formula in sub-paragraph (7) but as if - 

 

A = the total amount of relevant payments which that person received, or would have 
received, from the first day of the academic year to the day the person abandoned the 
course, or was dismissed from it, less any deduction under paragraph 85(5) (treatment 
of student loans). 

 

(9) In this paragraph - 
 

“academic year” and “student loan” have the same meanings as in Part 18 (students); 
“assessment period” means - 

(a) in a case where a relevant payment is made quarterly, the period beginning with  
the reduction week which includes the day on which the person abandoned, or was 
dismissed from, his course and ending with the reduction week which includes the  
last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant payment was payable 
to that person; 

 

(b) in a case where the relevant payment is made by two or more instalments in a 
quarter, the period beginning with the reduction week which includes the day on 
which the person abandoned, or was dismissed from, his course and ending with the 
reduction week which includes - 

 

(i) the day immediately before the day on which the next instalment of the 
relevant payment would have been due had the payments continued; or 

 

117



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 62 of 141 
 

(ii) the last day of the last quarter for which an instalment of the relevant 
payment was payable to that person, 

 

whichever of those dates is earlier; 
 

“quarter” in relation to an assessment period means a period in that year beginning on - 
 

(c) 1st January and ending on 31st March; 
 

(d) 1st April and ending on 30th June; 
 

(e) 1st July and ending on 31st August; or 
 

(f) 1st September and ending on 31st December; 
 

“relevant payment” means either a student loan or an amount intended for the 
maintenance of dependants referred to in paragraph 80(7) (calculation of grant income) 
or both. 

 

(10) For the avoidance of doubt there must be included as income to be taken into  
account under sub-paragraph (1) - 

 

(a) any payment to which paragraph 57(2) (payments not earnings) applies; or 
 

(b) in the case of an applicant who is receiving support under section 95 or 98 of the 
Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 including support provided by virtue of regulations 
made under Schedule 9 to that Act, the amount of such support provided in respect 
of essential living needs of the applicant and his dependants (if any) as is specified in 
regulations made under paragraph 3 of Schedule 8 to the Immigration and Asylum 
Act 1999. 

 
 
61. Capital treated as income 61

 
 

(1) Any capital payable by instalments which are outstanding at the date on which 
the application is made or treated as made, or, at the date of any subsequent revision 
or supersession, must, if the aggregate of the instalments outstanding and the amount 
of the applicant’s capital otherwise calculated in accordance with Part 17 exceed 
£6,000, be treated as income. 

 

(2) Any payment received under an annuity is to be treated as income. 
 

(3) Any earnings to the extent that they are not a payment of income is to be treated as 
income. 

 

(4) Any Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and 
Training Act 1973 is to be treated as income. 

 

(5) Where an agreement or court order provides that payments must be made to the 
applicant in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant and that such 
payments are to be made, wholly or partly, by way of periodic payments, any such 
periodic payments received by the applicant (but not a payment which is treated as 
capital by virtue of this Part), is to be treated as income. 

 
 
62. Notional income62

 
 

(1) An applicant who is not a pensioner is to be treated as possessing income of 
which he has deprived himself for the purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction 
under a council tax reduction scheme or increasing the amount of the reduction. 

 

(2) Except in the case of - 
 

(a) a discretionary trust; 
 

 

118



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 63 of 141 
 

61 Reg. 55, SI 2012/2886 
62 Reg. 56, SI 2012/2886 
 
(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; 
 
(c) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment 
made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund where the applicant has not 
attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; 

 

(d) any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 4 (capital disregard) applies 
which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 50(1)(a); 

 

(e) any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 4 refers; 
 

(f) rehabilitation allowance made under section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 
1973; 

 

(g) child tax credit; 
 
(h) working tax credit, or 

 

(i) any sum to which sub-paragraph (11) applies, 
 
(j) working tax credit, or 

 
(k) working tax credit, or 

 
(l) working tax credit, or 

 

(m) any sum to which sub-paragraph (11) applies, 
 

any income which would become available to the applicant upon application being 
made, but which has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as possessed by the 
applicant but only from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an 
application made. 

 

(3) Any payment of income, other than a payment of income specified in sub-
paragraph (4), made - 

 

(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but 
not a member of the third party’s family) must, where that payment is a payment of an 
occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal 
pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be 
treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case may be, by that member; 

 
 

(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the 
family (but not a member of the third party’s family) must, where it is not a payment 
referred to in sub-paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by 
that member to the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, 
household fuel or rent of that single applicant or, as the case may be, of any member 
of that family or is used for any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or 
member is liable; 
 
(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but 
not in respect of another member of that family) must be treated as possessed by that 
single applicant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is 
kept or used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

 
 

(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in respect of a payment of income made - 
 

(a) under  or  by  the  Macfarlane  Trust,  the  Macfarlane  (Special  Payments) 
Trust,  the Macfarlane (Special Payments) (No. 2) Trust, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, 

119



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 64 of 141 
 

MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living 
Fund (2006); 

 

(b) pursuant to section 19(1)(a) of the Coal Industry Act 1994 (concessionary coal); 
 

(c) pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect of a 
person’s participation - 

 

(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996; 

 

(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
 

(iii) in  the  Intense  Activity  Period  specified  in  regulation  75(1)(a)(iv)  of 
those Regulations; 

 

(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) 
of those Regulations; or 

 

(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those 
Regulations; 

 

(d) in respect of a person’s participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme; 
 

(e) in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
 

(f) in  respect  of  an  applicant’s  participation  in  a  scheme prescribed in 
regulation 3 of the Jobseekers Allowance (Schemes for Assisting Persons to 
Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013; 

 

(g) under  an  occupational  pension  scheme,  in  respect  of  a  pension  or  other 
periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the 
Board of the Pension Protection Fund where - 

 

(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of 
whom the payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is 
subject to sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s 
estate under section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

 

(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting 
on behalf of the creditors; and 

 

(iii) the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his family 
does not possess, or is not treated as possessing, any other income apart from 
that payment. 

 

(5) Where an applicant is in receipt of any benefit under the benefit Acts and the rate 
of that benefit is altered with effect from a date on or after 1st April in any year but not 
more than 14 days thereafter, the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such 
benefit at the altered rate from either 1st April or the first Monday in April in that year, 
whichever date the authority selects, to the date on which the altered rate is to take 
effect. 

 

(6) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), where - 
 

(a) an applicant performs a service for another person; and 
 

(b) that person makes no payment of earnings or pays less than that paid for a 
comparable employment in the area, 

 

the authority must treat the applicant as possessing such earnings (if any) as is 
reasonable for that employment  unless the applicant  satisfies  the authority  that the 
means of  that  person are insufficient for him to pay or to pay more for the service. 

 

(7) Sub-paragraph (6) does not apply - 
 

(a) to an applicant who is engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation or who is a 

120



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 65 of 141 
 

volunteer if the authority is satisfied in any of those cases that it is reasonable for him to 
provide those services free of charge; or 

 

(b) in a case where the service is performed in connection with - 
 

(i) the applicant’s participation in an employment or training programme in 
accordance with regulation 19(1)(q) of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 
1996, other than where the service is performed in connection with the 
applicant’s participation in the Intense Activity Period specified in regulation 
75(1)(a)(iv) of those Regulations; or 

 

(ii) the applicant’s or the applicant’s partner’s participation in an employment or 
training programme as defined in regulation 19(3) of those Regulations for  
which a training allowance is not payable or, where such an allowance is 
payable, it is payable for the sole purpose of reimbursement of travelling or meal 
expenses to the person participating in that programme; or 

 

(c) to an applicant who is participating in a work placement approved by the Secretary 
of State (or a person providing services to the Secretary of State) before the placement 
starts. 

 

(8) In sub-paragraph (7)(c) “work placement” means practical work experience which is 
not undertaken in expectation of payment. 

 

(9) Where an applicant is treated as possessing any income under any of sub- 
paragraphs (1) to (8), the foregoing provisions of this Part apply for the purposes of 
calculating the amount of that income as if a payment had actually been made and 
as if it were actual income which he does possess. 

 

(10) Where an applicant is treated as possessing any earnings under sub-paragraph 
(6) the foregoing  provisions  of  this Part  apply for the purposes  of  calculating the 
amount  of  those earnings as if a payment had actually been made and as if they were 
actual earnings which he does possess except that paragraph 56(3) (calculation of net 
earnings of employed earners) do not apply and his net earnings are to be calculated 
by taking into account those earnings which he is treated as possessing, less - 

 

(a) an amount in respect of income tax equivalent to an amount calculated by 
applying to those earnings the basic rate of tax applicable to the assessment period 
less only the personal relief to which the applicant is entitled under sections 35 to 37 of 
the Income Tax Act 2007 (personal allowances) as is appropriate to his circumstances; 
but, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic rate of 
tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal relief deductible under this 
paragraph is to be calculated on a pro rata basis; 

 

(b) an amount equivalent to the amount of the primary Class 1 contributions that 
would be payable by him under the SSCBA in respect of those earnings if such 
contributions were payable; and 

 

(c) one-half of any sum payable by the applicant by way of a contribution towards an 
occupational or personal pension scheme. 

 

(11) Sub-paragraphs (1), (2), (3) and (6) do not apply in respect of any amount of 
income other than earnings, or earnings of an employed earner, arising out of the 
applicant’s participation in a service user group. 

 
 
63. Calculation of income on a weekly basis63

 
 

(1) Subject to paragraph 66 (disregard of changes in tax, etc.), the income of an 
applicant is to be calculated on a weekly basis - 

 

(a) by estimating the amount which is likely to be his average weekly income in 
accordance with this Part; 

 

121



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 66 of 141 
 

(b) not used  
 

(c) deducting from the sum of sub-paragraph (a) any relevant child care charges to 
which paragraph 64 (treatment of child care charges) applies from any earnings which 
form part of the average weekly income or, in a case where the conditions in sub- 
paragraph (2) are met, from those earnings plus whichever credit specified in  
paragraph (b) of that sub-paragraph is appropriate, up to a maximum deduction in 
respect of the applicant’s family of whichever of the sums specified in sub-paragraph (3) 
applies in his case. 

 

(2) The conditions of this paragraph are that - 
 

(a) the applicant’s earnings which form part of his average weekly income are less 
than the lower of either his relevant child care charges or whichever of the deductions 
specified in sub-paragraph (3) otherwise applies in his case; and 

 

(b) that applicant or, if he is a member of a couple either the applicant or his 
partner, is in receipt of either working tax credit or child tax credit. 

 

(3) The maximum deduction to which sub-paragraph (1)(c) above refers is to be - 
 

(a) where the applicant’s family includes only one child in respect of whom relevant 
child care charges are paid, £175.00 per week; 
(b) where the applicant’s family includes more than one child in respect of whom 
relevant child care charges are paid, £300 per week. 

 
 
64. Treatment of child care charges64

 
 

(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant (within the meaning in this paragraph) is 
incurring relevant child care charges and - 

 

(a) is a lone parent and is engaged in remunerative work; 
 

(b) is a member of a couple both of whom are engaged in remunerative work; or 
 

(c) is a member of a couple where one member is engaged in remunerative work and 
the other - 

 

(i) is incapacitated; 
 

(ii) is an in-patient in hospital; or 
 

(iii) is in prison (whether serving a custodial sentence or remanded in custody 
awaiting trial or sentence). 

 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) and subject to sub-paragraph (4), a 
person to whom sub-paragraph (3) applies must be treated as engaged in 
remunerative work for a period not exceeding 28 weeks during which he - 

 

(a) is paid statutory sick pay; 
 

(b) is paid short-term incapacity benefit at the lower rate under sections 30A to 30E 
of the SSCBA; 

 

(c) is paid an employment and support allowance; 
 

(d) is paid income support on the grounds of incapacity for work under regulation 
4ZA of, and paragraph 7 or 14 of Schedule 1B to, the Income Support (General) 
Regulations 1987; or 

 

(e) is credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited capability 
for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 1975. 

 

(3) This paragraph applies to a person who was engaged in remunerative work 
immediately before - 

 

(a) the first day of the period in respect of which he was first paid statutory sick pay, 

122



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 67 of 141 
 

short- term incapacity benefit, an employment and support allowance or income support 
on the grounds of incapacity for work; or 

 

(b) the first day of the period in respect of which earnings are credited, as the case 
may be. 

 

(4) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2)(d) or (e) applies, the period of 28 weeks 
begins on the day on which the person is first paid income support or on the first day of 
the period in respect of which earnings are credited, as the case may be. 

 

(5) Relevant child care charges are those charges for care to which sub-paragraphs 
(6) and (7) apply, and are to be calculated on a weekly basis in accordance with sub- 
paragraph (10). 

 

(6) The charges are paid by the applicant for care which is provided - 
 

(a) in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is not disabled, in respect of 
the period beginning on that child’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the 
first Monday in September following that child’s fifteenth birthday; or 

 

(b) in the case of any child of the applicant’s family who is disabled, in respect of the 
period beginning on that person’s date of birth and ending on the day preceding the first 
Monday in September following that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

 

(7) The charges are paid for care which is provided by one or more of the care 
providers listed in sub-paragraph (8) and are not paid - 

 

(a) in respect of the child’s compulsory education; 
 

(b) by an applicant to a partner or by a partner to an applicant in respect of any 
child for whom either or any of them is responsible in accordance with sub-paragraph 7 
(circumstances in which a person is treated as responsible or not responsible for 
another); or 

 

(c) in respect of care provided by a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s 
home. 

 

(8) The care to which sub-paragraph (7) refers may be provided - 
 

(a) out of school hours, by a school on school premises or by a local authority - 
 

(i) for children who are not disabled in respect of the period beginning on their 
eighth birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following their fifteenth birthday; or 

 

(ii) for children who are disabled in respect of the period beginning on their 
eighth birthday and ending on the day preceding the first Monday in September 
following their sixteenth birthday; or 

 

(b) by a child care provider approved in accordance with the Tax Credit (New 
Category of Child Care Provider) Regulations 1999; or 

 

(c) by  persons  registered  under  Part  2  of  the  Children  and  Families  (Wales) 
Measure 2010; or 

 

(d) by a person who is excepted from registration under Part 2 of the Children and 
Families (Wales) Measure 2010 because the child care that person provides is in a 
school or establishment referred to in article 11, 12 or 14 of the Child Minding and Day 
Care Exceptions (Wales) Order 2010; or 

 

(e) by - 
 

(i) persons registered under section 59(1) of the Public Services Reform 
(Scotland) Act 2010; or 

 

(ii) local authorities registered under section 83(1) of that Act, 
 

123



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 68 of 141 
 

where the care provided is child minding or day care of children within the meaning 
of that Act; or 

 

(f) by a person prescribed in regulations made pursuant to section 12(4) of the Tax 
Credits Act 2002; or 

 

(g) by a person who is registered under Chapter 2 or 3 of Part 3 of the 
Childcare Act 2006; or 

 

(h) by any of the schools mentioned in section 34(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 2 of Part 3 of that 
Act does not apply by virtue of section 34(2) of that Act; or 

 

(i) by any of the schools mentioned in section 53(2) of the Childcare Act 2006 in 
circumstances where the requirement to register under Chapter 3 of Part 3 of that 
Act does not apply by virtue of section 53(2) of that Act; or 
(j) by any of the establishments mentioned in section 18(5) of the Childcare Act 2006 
in circumstances where the care is not included in the meaning of “childcare” for the 
purposes of Part 1 and Part 3 of that Act by virtue of that subsection; or 

 

(k) by a foster parent or kinship carer under the Fostering Services Regulations 2002, 
the Fostering Services (Wales) Regulations 2003 or the Looked After Children 
(Scotland) Regulations 2009 in relation to a child other than one whom the foster parent 
is fostering or kinship carer is looking after; or 

 

(l) by a provider of personal care within the meaning of paragraph 1 of Schedule 1 to 
the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014 and being 
a regulated activity prescribed by those Regulations; or 

 

(m) by a person who is not a relative of the child wholly or mainly in the child’s home. 
 

(9) In sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), “the first Monday in September” means the 
Monday which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 

 

(10) Relevant child care charges must be estimated over such period, not exceeding a 
year, as is appropriate in order that the average weekly charge may be estimated 
accurately having regard to information as to the amount of that charge provided by the 
child minder or person providing the care. 
(11) 65 For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) the other member of a couple is 
incapacitated where - 

 

(a) the applicant’s applicable amount includes a disability premium on account of the 
other member’s incapacity or the support component or the work-related activity 
component on account of his having limited capability for work; 

 

(b) the applicant’s  applicable  amount  would  include  a disability  premium  on 
account of  the  other  member’s  incapacity  but  for  that  other member  being 
treated as  capable of  work  by  virtue of  a determination made in accordance with 
regulations made under section 171E of the SSCBA; 

 

(c) the applicant’s applicable amount would include the support component or the 
work- related activity component on account of the other member having limited 
capability for work but for that other member being treated as not having limited 
capability for work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with the 
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008; 

 

(d) he is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or has been 
so treated as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and 
regulations made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work) for a continuous 
period of not less than 196 days; and for this purpose any two or more separate periods 
separated by a break of not more than 56 days must be treated as one continuous 
period; 

 

124



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 69 of 141 
 

65 Paras (a) & (b) omitted (pensioners) Paras (c) - (m) renumbered (a) - (k) 
 

(e) he has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been 
treated as having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and 
Support Allowance Regulations 2008 for a continuous period of not less than 196 
days and for this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of 
not more than 84 days must be treated as one continuous period; 

 

(f) there is payable in respect of him one or more of the following pensions or 
allowances - 

 

(i) long-term incapacity benefit or short-term incapacity benefit at the higher 
rate under Schedule 4 to the SSCBA; 

 

(ii) attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA; 
 

(iii) severe disablement allowance under section 68 of the SSCBA; 
 

(iv) disability living allowance under section 71 of the SSCBA; 
 

(v) personal independence payment; 
 

(vi) an AFIP: 
 

(vii) increase of disablement pension under section 104 of the SSCBA; 
 

(viii) a pension increase paid as part of a war disablement pension or under 
an industrial injuries scheme which is analogous to an allowance or increase of 
disablement pension under sub-paragraph (ii), (iv), (v), (vi) or (vii) above; 

 

(ix) main phase employment and support allowance; 
 

(g) a pension or allowance to which sub-paragraph (vii) or (viii) of sub-paragraph (f) 
above refers was payable on account of his incapacity but has ceased to be payable in 
consequence of his becoming a patient, which in this article means a person (other 
than a person who is serving a sentence of imprisonment or detention in a youth 
custody institution) who is regarded as receiving free in-patient treatment within the 
meaning of regulation 2(4) and (5) of the Social Security (Hospital In-Patients) 
Regulations 2005; 
 
(h) an attendance allowance under section 64 of the SSCBA or disability living 
allowance under section 71 of that Act would be payable to that person but for - 

 

(i) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 
113(2) of the SSCBA; or 

 

(ii) an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation; 
 
 

(i) the daily living component of personal independence payment would be payable 
to that person but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under 
section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 

 

(j) an AFIP would be payable to that person but for any suspension of payment in 
accordance with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme 
which allow for a suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a 
hospital or similar institution 

 
(k) sub- paragraph (f), (g), (h) or (i) would apply to him if the legislative provisions 
referred to in those sub-paragraphs were provisions under any corresponding 
enactment having effect in Northern Ireland; or 
 
 
 

 

125



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 70 of 141 
 

 
 
(l) he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary of State 
or a clinical commissioning group under paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 to the National 
Health Service Act 2006 or under section 46 of the National Health Service (Scotland) 
Act 1978 or provided by the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety in 
Northern Ireland under Article 30(1) of the Health and Personal Social Services 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1972. 

 

(12) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(d) applies to the 
person, if he then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to be 
treated as incapable, of work, that sub-paragraph shall, on his again becoming so 
incapable, or so treated as incapable, of work at the end of that period, immediately 
thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains incapable, or is treated as remaining 
incapable, of work. 

 

(13) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (11), once sub-paragraph (11)(e) applies to the 
person, if he then ceases, for a period of 84 days or less, to have, or to be treated as 
having, limited capability for work, that paragraph is, on his again having, or being 
treated as having, limited capability for work at the end of that period, immediately 
thereafter apply to him for so long as he has, or is treated as having, limited capability 
for work. 

 

(14) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (6) and (8)(a), a person is disabled if he is a 
person - 

 

(a) to  whom an  attendance  allowance  or  the care  component  of  disability 
allowance  is payable or would be payable but for - 

 

(i) a suspension of benefit in accordance with regulations under section 
113(2) of the SSCBA; or 

 

(ii) an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation; 
 

(b) to whom the daily living component of personal independence payment is 
payable or would be payable but for a suspension of benefit in accordance with 
regulations under section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 (hospital in-patients); 

 

(c) who  is  registered  as  blind  in  a  register  compiled  under  section  29  of  the 
National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as 
blind and in consequence he is registered as blind in a register maintained by or on 
behalf of a council constituted under section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 
1994; or 

 

(d) who ceased to be registered as blind in such a register within the period 
beginning 28 weeks before the first Monday in September following that person’s 
fifteenth birthday and ending on the day preceding that person’s sixteenth birthday. 

 

(15) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) a person on maternity leave, paternity 
leave or adoption leave is to be treated as if she is engaged in remunerative work for 
the period specified in sub-paragraph (16) (“the relevant period”) provided that - 

 

(a) in the week before the period of maternity leave, paternity leave or adoption leave 
began she was in remunerative work; 

 

(b) the applicant is incurring relevant child care charges within the meaning of sub- 
paragraph (5); and 

 

(c) he is entitled to either statutory maternity pay under section 164 of the SSCBA, 
ordinary statutory paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZA or 171ZB of that Act, 
additional statutory paternity pay by virtue of section 171ZEA or 171ZEB of that Act, 
statutory adoption pay by of section 171ZL of that Act, maternity allowance under 
section 35 of that Act or qualifying support. 

126



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 71 of 141 
 

 

(16) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (15) the relevant period begins on the day on 
which the person’s maternity, paternity leave or adoption leave commences and ends 
on - 

 

(a) the date that leave ends; 
 

(b) if no child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that 
entitlement to maternity allowance, qualifying support (if relevant), statutory maternity 
pay, ordinary or additional statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay ends, the 
date that entitlement ends; or 

 

(c) if a child care element of working tax credit is in payment on the date that 
entitlement to maternity allowance or qualifying support, statutory maternity pay, 
ordinary or additional statutory paternity pay or statutory adoption pay ends, the date 
that entitlement to that award of the child care element of the working tax credit ends, 
whichever occurs first. 

 

(17) In sub-paragraphs (15) and (16) - 
 

(a) “qualifying support” means income support to which that person is entitled by 
virtue of paragraph 14B of Schedule 1B to the Income Support (General) Regulations 
1987; and 

 

(b) “child care element” of working tax credit means the element of working tax credit 
prescribed under section 12 of the Tax Credits Act 2002 (child care element). 

 

(18) In this paragraph “applicant” does not include an applicant - 
 

(a) who has, or 
 

(b) who (jointly with his partner) has, 
an award of universal credit. 

 
65. Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits 

 

(1) This paragraph applies where an applicant receives a tax credit. 
 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, the period over which a tax credit is to be taken into 
account is the period set out in sub-paragraph (3). 

 

(3) Where the instalment in respect of which payment of a tax credit is made is - 
 

(a) a daily instalment, the period is 1 day, being the day in respect of which the 
instalment is paid; 

 

(b) a weekly instalment, the period is 7 days, ending on the day on which the 
instalment is due to be paid; 

 

(c) a two weekly instalment, the period is 14 days, commencing 6 days before the 
day on which the instalment is due to be paid; 

 

(d) a  four  weekly  instalment,  the  period  is  28  days,  ending  on  the  day  on 
which  the instalment is due to be paid. 

 

(4) For the purposes of this paragraph “tax credit” means child tax credit or working tax 
credit. 

 

66. Disregard of changes in tax and contributions etc. 
 

In calculating the applicant’s income the authority may disregard any legislative change- 
 

(a) in the basic or other rates of income tax; 
 

(b) in the amount of any personal tax relief; 
 

(c) in the rates of social security contributions payable under the SSCBA or in the 

127



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 72 of 141 
 

lower earnings limit or upper earnings limit for Class 1 contributions under that Act, 
the lower or upper limits applicable to Class 4 contributions under that Act or the 
amount specified in section 11(4) of that Act (small earnings exception in relation to 
Class 2 contributions); 

 

(d) in the amount of tax payable as a result of an increase in the weekly rate of 
Category A, B, C or D retirement pension or any addition thereto or any graduated 
pension payable under the SSCBA; 

 
(e) in the maximum rate of child tax credit or working tax credit, 

 

for a period not exceeding 30 reduction weeks beginning with the reduction week 
immediately following the date from which the change is effective. 

 
67. Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners68

 
 

(1) For the purposes of paragraphs 54 (average weekly earnings of self-employed 
earners) and 63 (calculation of income on a weekly basis) the earnings of an applicant 
to be taken into account must be - 

 

(a) in the case of a self-employed earner who is engaged in employment on his own 
account, the net profit derived from that employment; 

 

(b) in the case of a self-employed earner who is a pensioner whose employment is 
carried on in partnership, his share of the net profit derived from that employment, less - 

 

(i) an amount in respect of income tax and of social security contributions 
payable under the SSCBA calculated in accordance with paragraph 68 
(deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners); and 

 

(ii) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) 
in respect of any qualifying premium; 

 

(c) in the case of a self-employed earner whose employment is carried on in 
partnership or is that of a share fisherman within the meaning of the Social Security 
(Mariners’ Benefits) Regulations 1975, his share of the net profit derived from that 
employment, less - 

 

(i) an amount in respect of income tax and of social security contributions 
payable under the SSCBA calculated in accordance with paragraph 68 
(deduction of tax and contributions for self-employed earners); and 

 

(ii) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) 
in respect of any qualifying premium. 

 

(2) There must be disregarded from the net profit of an applicant, any sum, where 
applicable, specified in paragraphs 1 to 16 of Schedule 2 (sums disregarded in the 
calculation of earnings). 

 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a) the net profit of the employment must, 
except where paragraph (9) applies, be calculated by taking into account the earnings 
of the employment over the assessment period less - 

 

(a) subject to sub-paragraphs (5) to (8), any expenses wholly and exclusively incurred 
in that period for the purposes of that employment; 

 

(b) an amount in respect of - 
 

(i) income tax; and 
 

(ii) social security contributions payable under the SSCBA, calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 68 (deduction of tax and contributions for self- 
employed earners); and 

 

(c) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect 
of any qualifying premium. 

128



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 73 of 141 
 

 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the net profit of the employment is to be 
calculated by taking into account the earnings of the employment over the assessment 
period less, subject to sub-paragraphs (5) to (8), any expenses wholly and exclusively 
incurred in that period for the purposes of the employment. 

 

(5) Subject to sub- paragraph (6), no deduction is to be made under sub-paragraphs 
(3)(a) or (4), in respect of - 

 

(a) any capital expenditure; 
 

(b) the depreciation of any capital asset; 
 

(c) any sum employed or intended to be employed in the setting up or expansion of 
the employment; 

 

(d) any loss incurred before the beginning of the assessment period; 
 

(e) the repayment of capital on any loan taken out for the purposes of the 
employment; 

 

(f) any expenses incurred in providing business entertainment; and 
 

(g) in the case of an applicant who is not a pensioner, any debts, except bad debts 
proved to be such, but this paragraph does not apply to any expenses incurred in the 
recovery of a debt. 

 

(6) A deduction is to be made under sub-paragraphs (3)(a) or (4) in respect of the 
repayment of capital on any loan used for - 

 

(a) the replacement in the course of business of equipment or machinery; or 
 

(b) the repair of an existing business asset except to the extent that any sum is 
payable under an insurance policy for its repair. 

 

(7) The authority must refuse to make a deduction in respect of  any expenses 
under  sub-paragraphs (3)(a) or (4) where it is not satisfied given the nature and the 
amount of the expense that it has been reasonably incurred. 

 

(8) For the avoidance of doubt - 
 

(a) a deduction must not be made under sub-paragraphs (3)(a) or (4) in respect of 
any sum unless it has been expended for the purposes of the business; 

 

(b) a deduction must be made thereunder in respect of— 
 

(i) the  excess  of  any  value  added  tax  paid  over  value  added  tax 
received  in  the assessment period; 

 

(ii) any income expended in the repair of an existing business asset except to 
the extent that any sum is payable under an insurance policy for its repair; 

 

(iii) any payment of interest on a loan taken out for the purposes of the 
employment. 

 

(9) Where an applicant  is engaged in employment as  a child minder the net 
profit of the employment is to be one-third of the earnings of that employment, less - 

 

(a) an amount in respect of - 
 

(i) income tax; and 
 

(ii) social security contributions payable under the SSCBA, 
 

calculated in accordance with paragraph 68 (deduction of tax and contributions for 
self- employed earners); and 

 

(b) one-half of the amount calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (11) in respect 
of any qualifying premium. 

 

129



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 74 of 141 
 

(10) For  the avoidance of  doubt  where an applicant  is  engaged in employment 
as  a self- employed earner and he is also engaged in one or more other 
employments as a self-employed or employed earner any loss incurred in any one of 
his employments must not be offset against his earnings in any other of his 
employments. 

 

(11) The amount in respect of any qualifying premium is to be calculated by 
multiplying the daily amount of the qualifying premium by the number equal to the 
number of days in the assessment period; and for the purposes of this paragraph the 
daily amount of the qualifying premium must be determined - 

 

(a) where the qualifying premium is payable monthly, by multiplying the amount of the 
qualifying premium by 12 and dividing the product by 365; 

 

(b) in any other case, by dividing the amount of the qualifying premium by the number 
equal to the number of days in the period to which the qualifying premium relates. 

 

(12) In this paragraph, “qualifying premium” means any premium which is payable 
periodically in respect of a personal pension scheme and is so payable on or after the 
date of application. 

 
 
68. Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners69

 
 

(1) The amount to be deducted in respect of income tax under paragraph 
67(1)(b)(i), (3)(b)(i) or (9)(a)(i) (calculation of net profit of self-employed earners) must 
be calculated - 

 

(a) on the basis of the amount of chargeable income, and 
 

(b) as if that income were assessable to income tax at the basic rate of tax 
applicable to the assessment period less only the personal relief to which the applicant 
is entitled under sections 35 to 37 of the Income Tax Act 2007 (personal allowances) 
as is appropriate to his circumstances. 

 

(2) But, if the assessment period is less than a year, the earnings to which the basic 
rate of tax is to be applied and the amount of the personal reliefs deductible under this 
paragraph must be calculated on a pro rata basis. 

 

(3) The amount to be deducted  in respect of  social security contributions  under 
paragraph 67(1)(b)(i), (3)(b)(ii) or (9)(a)(ii) is the total of - 

 

(a) the amount of Class 2 contributions payable under section 11(1) or, as the case 
may be, 11(3) of the SSCBA at the rate applicable to the assessment period except 
where the applicant’s chargeable income is less than the amount specified in section 
11(4) of that Act (small earnings exception) for the tax year applicable to the 
assessment period; but if the assessment period is less than a year, the amount 
specified for that tax year must be reduced pro rata; and 

 

(b) the amount of Class 4 contributions (if any) which would be payable under section 
15 of the SSCBA (Class 4 contributions recoverable under the Income Tax Acts) at the 
percentage rate applicable to the assessment period on so much of the chargeable 
income as exceeds the lower limit but does not exceed the upper limit of profits and 
gains applicable for the tax year applicable to the assessment period; but if the 
assessment period is less than a year, those limits must be reduced pro rata. 

 

(4) In this paragraph “chargeable income” means - 
 

(a) except where sub-paragraph (b) applies, the earnings derived from the 
employment less any expenses deducted under sub-paragraph (3)(a) or, as the case 
may be, (5) of paragraph 67; 

 

(b) in the case of employment as a child minder, one-third of the earnings of that 
employment. 

130



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 75 of 141 
 

 
 
Part 17 - Capital; persons who do not have an award of universal credit 

 
 
69. Calculation of capital70

 
 

(1) The capital of an applicant to be taken into account must be, subject to sub- 
paragraph (2), the whole of his capital calculated in accordance with this Part and any 
income treated as capital under paragraph 70 (income treated as capital). 

 

(2) There must be disregarded from the calculation of an applicant’s capital under sub- 
paragraph (1), any capital, where applicable, specified in Schedule 4. 

 

(3) In the case of an applicant who is a pensioner, his capital is to be treated as 
including any payment made to him by way of arrears of - 

 

(a) child tax credit; 
 

(b) working tax credit; 
 

(c) state pension credit, 
 

if the payment was made in respect of a period for the whole or part of which a 
reduction under this scheme was allowed before those arrears were paid. 

 

(4) The capital of a child or young person who is a member of the family of an applicant 
who is not a pensioner must not be treated as capital of the applicant. 

 
 
70. Income treated as capital71

 
 

(1) Not used  
 

(2) Any bounty derived from employment to which paragraph 9 of Schedule 2 (sums 
disregarded in the calculation of earnings applies and paid at intervals of at least one 
year is to be treated as capital. 

 

(3) Any amount  by  way  of  a refund of  income tax  deducted from  profits  or 
emoluments chargeable to income tax under Schedule D or E is to be treated as 
capital. 

 

(4) Any holiday pay which is not earnings under paragraph 57(1)(d) (earnings of 
employed earners) is to be treated as capital. 

 

(5) Except any income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 11, 
17, 30 to 33, 50 or 51 of Schedule 4 (capital disregards), any income derived from 
capital is to be treated as capital but only from the date it is normally due to be credited 
to the applicant’s account. 

 

(6) In the case of employment as an employed earner, any advance of earnings or any 
loan made by the applicant’s employer is to be treated as capital. 

 

(7) Any charitable or voluntary payment which is not made or due to be made at  
regular intervals, other than a payment which is made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, 
the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, the 
Independent Living Fund (2006) or the London Bombings Charitable Relief Fund, is to 
be treated as capital. 

 

(8) There is to be treated as capital the gross receipts of any commercial activity carried 
on by a person in respect of which assistance is received under the self-employment 
route, but only in so far as those receipts were payable into a special account during 
the period in which that person was receiving such assistance. 

 
70 Reg. 63, SI 2012/2886 

 

131



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 76 of 141 
 

(9) Any arrears of subsistence allowance which are paid to an applicant as a lump sum 
must be treated as capital. 
 
(10) Any arrears of working tax credit or child tax credit must be treated as capital. 

 
71. Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom72

 
 

Capital which an applicant possesses in the United Kingdom is to be calculated at its 
current market or surrender value less - 

 

(a) where there would be expenses attributable to the sale, 10 per cent; and 
 

(b) the amount of any encumbrance secured on it. 
 
 
72. Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom73

 
 

Capital which an applicant possesses in a country outside the United Kingdom 
must be calculated - 

 

(a) in a case where there is no prohibition in that country against the transfer to the 
United Kingdom of an amount equal to its current market or surrender value in that 
country, at that value; 

 

(b) in a case where there is such a prohibition, at the price which it would realise if sold 
in the United Kingdom to a willing buyer;  
 

(c) less, where there would be expenses attributable to sale, 10 per cent and the 
amount of any encumbrances secured on it. 

 
 
73. Notional capital74

 
 

(1) An applicant is to be treated as possessing capital of which he has deprived himself 
for the purpose of securing entitlement to a reduction or increasing the amount of 
that reduction except to the extent that that capital is reduced in accordance with 
paragraph 74 (diminishing notional capital rule). 

 

(2) Except in the case of - 
 

(a) a discretionary trust; or 
 

(b) a trust derived from a payment made in consequence of a personal injury; or 
 

(c) any loan which would be obtained only if secured against capital disregarded 
under Schedule 4; or 

 

(d) a personal pension scheme, occupational pension scheme or a payment 
made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund; or 

 

(e) any sum to which paragraph 50(2)(a) of Schedule 4 (capital disregards) applies 
which is administered in the way referred to in paragraph 50(1)(a); or 

 

(f) any sum to which paragraph 51(a) of Schedule 4 refers; or 
 

(g) child tax credit; or 
(h) working tax credit, 

 

any capital which would become available to the applicant upon application being 
made, but which has not been acquired by him, is to be treated as possessed by him 
but only from the date on which it could be expected to be acquired were an application 
made. 

 
72 Reg. 65, SI 2012/2886 
73 Reg. 66, SI 2012/2886 
74 Reg. 67, SI 2012/2886 

 
 

132



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 77 of 141 
 

 
 

(3) Any payment of capital, other than a payment of capital specified in s u b -
p a r a g r a p h  (4), made - 

 

(a) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or a member of the family (but 
not a member of the third party’s family) must, where that payment is a payment of an 
occupational pension, a pension or other periodical payment made under a personal 
pension scheme or a payment made by the Board of the Pension Protection Fund, be 
treated as possessed by that single applicant or, as the case may be, by that member; 

 

(b) to a third party in respect of a single applicant or in respect of a member of the 
family (but not a member of the third party’s family) must, where it is not a payment 
referred to in sub-paragraph (a), be treated as possessed by that single applicant or by 
that member to the extent that it is used for the food, ordinary clothing or footwear, 
household fuel or rent of that single applicant or, as the case may be, of any member 
of that family or is used for any council tax or water charges for which that applicant or 
member is liable; 

 

(c) to a single applicant or a member of the family in respect of a third party (but 
not in respect of another member of the family) must be treated as possessed by that 
single applicant or, as the case may be, that member of the family to the extent that it is 
kept or used by him or used by or on behalf of any member of the family. 

 

(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply in respect of a payment of capital made - 
 

(a) under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, the 
Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, or the 
London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund; 

 

(b) pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 1973 in respect of a 
person’s participation— 

 

(i) in an employment programme specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(ii) of the 
Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996; 

 

(ii) in a training scheme specified in regulation 75(1)(b)(ii) of those Regulations; 
 

(iii) in  the  Intense  Activity  Period  specified  in  regulation  75(1)(a)(iv)  of 
those Regulations; 

 

(iv) in a qualifying course within the meaning specified in regulation 17A(7) 
of those Regulations; or 

 

(v) in the Flexible New Deal specified in regulation 75(1)(a)(v) of those 
Regulations; 

 

(c) in respect of a person’s participation in the Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme; 
 

(d) in respect of a person’s participation in the Mandatory Work Activity Scheme; 
 

(e) in  respect  of  an  applicant’s  participation  in  a scheme prescribed in 
regulation 3 of the Jobseekers Allowance (Schemes for Assisting 
Persons to Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013; 

 

(f) under  an  occupational  pension  scheme,  in  respect  of  a  pension  or  other 
periodical payment made under a personal pension scheme or a payment made by the 
Board of the Pension Protection Fund where - 

 

(i) a bankruptcy order has been made in respect of the person in respect of 
whom the payment has been made or, in Scotland, the estate of that person is 
subject to sequestration or a judicial factor has been appointed on that person’s 
estate under section 41 of the Solicitors (Scotland) Act 1980; 

 

(ii) the payment is made to the trustee in bankruptcy or any other person acting 
on behalf of the creditors; and 

 

133



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 78 of 141 
 

(iii) the person referred to in sub-paragraph (i) and any member of his family 
does not possess, or is not treated as possessing, any other income apart from 
that payment. 

 

(5) Where an applicant stands in relation to a company in a position analogous to that 
of a sole owner or partner in the business of that company, he may be treated as if he 
were such sole owner or partner and in such a case - 

 

(a) the value of his holding in that company must, notwithstanding paragraph 69 
(calculation of capital) be disregarded; and 

 

(b) he must, subject to sub-paragraph (6), be treated as possessing an amount of 
capital equal to the value or, as the case may be, his share of the value of the capital of 
that company and the foregoing provisions of this Part apply for the purposes of 
calculating that amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess. 

 

(6) For  so long as  the applicant  undertakes  activities  in the course of  the 
business of  the company, the amount which he is treated as possessing under sub- 
paragraph (5) is to be disregarded. 

 

(7) Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under any of sub-
paragraphs (1), (2) or (3) the foregoing provisions of this Part apply for the purposes 
of calculating its amount as if it were actual capital which he does possess. 

 

74. Diminishing notional capital rule75
 

 

(1) Where an applicant is treated as possessing capital under paragraph 73(1) 
(notional capital), the amount which he is treated as possessing - 

 

(a) in the case of a week that is subsequent to - 
 

(i) the relevant week in respect of which the conditions set out in sub- 
paragraph (2) are satisfied; or 

 

(ii) a week which follows that relevant week and which satisfies those 
conditions,  

is to be reduced by an amount determined under sub-paragraph (3); 
 

(b) in the case of a week in respect of which sub-paragraph (1)(a) does not apply but 
where - 

 

(i) that week is a week subsequent to the relevant week; and 
 

(ii) that relevant week is a week in which the condition in sub-paragraph (4) is 
satisfied,  

is to be reduced by the amount determined under paragraph (5). 
 

(2) This paragraph applies to a reduction week or part-week, where the applicant 
satisfies the conditions that - 

 

(a) he is in receipt of a reduction in council tax under this scheme; and 
 

(b) but for paragraph 73(1), he would have received a greater reduction in council tax 
under this scheme in that week. 

 
(3) In a case to which sub-paragraph (2) applies, the amount of the reduction in the 
amount of capital he  is treated as  possessing for  the purposes  of  sub-paragraph 
(1)(a)  is  equal to the aggregate of - 

 

(a) an amount equal to the additional amount of the reduction in council tax to which 
sub-paragraph (2)(b) refers; 
 
 

75 Reg. 69, SI 2012/2886 
 
 

134



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 79 of 141 
 

 

(b) where the applicant has also claimed housing benefit, the amount of any housing 
benefit or any additional amount of that benefit to which he would have been entitled 
in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers 
but for the application of regulation 49(1)  of  the Housing Benefit  Regulations  2006 
(notional capital); 

 

(c) where the applicant has also claimed income support, the amount of income 
support to which he would have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the 
reduction week to which  sub-paragraph (2)  refers  but for the application  of 
regulation 51(1) of  the Income Support (General) Regulations 1987 (notional capital); 

 

(d) where the applicant has also claimed a jobseeker’s allowance, the amount of an 
income- based jobseeker’s allowance to which he would have been entitled in respect 
of the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub-paragraph (2) refers but for the 
application of regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996 (notional 
capital); and 

 

(e) where the applicant has also claimed an employment and support allowance, the 
amount of an income-related employment and support allowance to which he would 
have been entitled in respect of the whole or part of the reduction week to which sub- 
paragraph (2) refers but for the application of regulation 115 of the Employment and 
Support Allowance Regulations 2008 (notional capital). 

 

(4) Subject to sub-paragraph (7), for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b) the condition 
is that the applicant is not a pensioner and would have been entitled to a reduction in 
council tax in the relevant week but for paragraph 73(1). 

 

(5) In such a case the amount of the reduction in the amount of capital he is 
treated as possessing must be equal to the aggregate of - 

 

(a) the amount of council tax benefit to which the applicant would have been entitled 
in the relevant week but for paragraph 73(1); 

 

(b) if the applicant would, but for regulation 49(1) of the Housing Benefit Regulations 
2006, have been entitled to housing benefit or to an additional amount of housing 
benefit in respect of the benefit week which includes the last day of the relevant week, 
the amount which is equal to - 

 

(i) in a case where no housing benefit is payable, the amount to which he 
would have been entitled; or 

 

(ii) in any other case, the amount equal to the additional amount of housing 
benefit to which he would have been entitled; 

 

(c) if  the  applicant  would,  but  for  regulation  51(1)  of  the  Income  Support 
(General) Regulations 1987, have been entitled to income support in respect of the 
benefit week, within the meaning of  regulation 2(1)  of  those Regulations 
(interpretation),  which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount to which 
he would have been entitled; 
 

 
(d) if the applicant would, but for regulation 113 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance 
Regulations 1996, have been entitled to an income-based jobseeker’s allowance in 
respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 1(3) of those Regulations 
(interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, the amount to 
which he would have been entitled; and 

 
(e) if the applicant would, but for regulation 115 of the Employment and Support 
Allowance Regulations 2008, have been entitled to an income-related employment and 
support allowance in respect of the benefit week, within the meaning of regulation 2(1) 
of those Regulations (interpretation), which includes the last day of the relevant week, 
the amount to which he would have been entitled. 

 

135



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 80 of 141 
 

(6) But if the amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (a), (b), (c), (d) or (e) of sub- 
paragraph (5) (“the relevant amount”) is in respect of a part-week, the amount that is 
to be taken into account under that sub-paragraph is to be determined by - 

 

(a) dividing the relevant amount by the number equal to the number of days in 
that part- week, and 

 

(b) multiplying the result of that calculation by 7. 
 

(7) The amount determined under sub-paragraph (5) is to be re-determined under the 
appropriate sub-paragraph if the applicant makes a further application for a reduction in 
council tax and the conditions in sub-paragraph (8) are satisfied, and in such a case - 

 

(a) sub-paragraphs (a) to (e) of sub-paragraph (5) apply as if for the words “relevant 
week” there were substituted the words “relevant subsequent week”; and 

 

(b) subject to sub-paragraph (9), the amount as re-determined has effect from the 
first week following the relevant subsequent week in question. 

 

(8) The conditions are that - 
 

(a) a further application is made 26 or more weeks after - 
 

(i) the date on which the applicant made an application for a reduction in  
council tax in respect of which he was first treated as possessing the capital in 
question under paragraph 73(1); 

 

(ii) in a case where there has been at least one re-determination in accordance 
with  sub-paragraph (7), the date on which he last made an application for a 
reduction in council tax which resulted in the weekly amount being re- 
determined, or 

 

(iii) the date on which he last ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this 
scheme, 

 

whichever last occurred; and 
 

(b) the applicant would have been entitled to a reduction in council tax under this 
scheme but for paragraph 73(1). 

 

(9) The amount as re-determined pursuant to sub-paragraph (7) must not have effect if 
it is less than the amount which applied in that case immediately before the re- 
determination and in such a case the higher amount must continue to have effect. 

 

(10) For the purposes of this paragraph “part-week” - 
 

(a) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(a), means a period of less 
than a week for which a reduction in council tax under this scheme is allowed; 

 

(b) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(b),  means a period of 
less than a week for which housing benefit is payable; 

 

(c) in relation to an amount mentioned in sub-paragraph (5)(c), (d) or (e), means— 
 

(i) a period of less than a week which is the whole period for which income support, an 
income-related  employment  and support  allowance  or,  as  the case may  be,  an 
income-based jobseeker’s allowance is payable; and 

 

(ii) any other period of less than a week for which it is payable; 
“relevant week” means the reduction week or part-week in which the capital in question 
of which the applicant has deprived himself within the meaning of paragraph 73(1) - 

 

(a) was first taken into account for the purpose of determining his entitlement to a 
reduction; or 

 

(b) was taken into account on a subsequent occasion for the purpose of 
determining or re- determining his entitlement to a reduction on that subsequent 

136



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 81 of 141 
 

occasion and that determination or re-determination resulted in his beginning to 
receive, or ceasing to receive, a reduction, 

 

and where more than one reduction week is identified by reference to sub-paragraphs 
(a) and (b) of this definition, the later or latest such reduction week or, as the case may 
be, the later or latest such part-week is the relevant week; 

 

“relevant subsequent week” means the reduction week or part-week which includes the 
day on which the further application or, if more than one further application has been 
made, the last such application was made. 

 
 
75. Capital jointly held76

 
 

Except where an applicant possesses capital which is disregarded under paragraph 
73(7) (notional capital), where an applicant and one or more persons are beneficially 
entitled in possession to any capital asset they must be treated, in the absence of 
evidence to the contrary, as if each of them were entitled in possession to the whole 
beneficial interest therein in an equal share and the foregoing provisions of this Part 
apply for the purposes of calculating the amount of capital which the applicant is 
treated as possessing as if it were actual capital which the applicant does possess. 

 
 
76. Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners 

 
The capital of an applicant who is not a pensioner, calculated in accordance with this 
Part, is to be treated as if it were a weekly income of – 
(a) £1 for each £250 in excess of £6,000 but not exceeding £10,000; 
(b) £1 for any excess which is not a complete £250.  
 

 
Part 18 - Students - General 

 
 
77. Interpretation78

 
 

(1) In this Part - 
 

“academic year” means the period of twelve months beginning on 1st January, 1st April, 
1st July or 1st September according to whether the course in question begins in the 
winter, the spring, the summer or the autumn respectively but if students are required to 
begin attending the course during August or September and to continue attending 
through the autumn, the academic year of the course is to be considered to begin in the 
autumn rather than the summer; 

 

“access funds” means - 
 

(a) grants made under section 68 of the Further and Higher Education Act 1992 
for the purpose of providing funds on a discretionary basis to be paid to students; 

 
 

76 Reg. 70, SI 2012/2886 
77 Reg. 72, SI 2012/2886 – not used 
78 Reg. 73, SI 2012/2886 

137



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 82 of 141 
 

 
 

(b) grants made under sections 73(a) and (c) and 74(1) of the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980; 

 

(c) grants made under Article 30 of the Education and Libraries (Northern Ireland) 
Order 1993 or grants, loans or other payments made under Article 5 of the Further 
 
Education (Northern  Ireland)  Order  1997  in  each  case  being  grants,  or  grants, 
loans  or  other payments as the case may be, for the purpose of assisting students in 
financial difficulties; 

 

(d) discretionary payments, known as “learner support funds”, which are made 
available to students in further education by institutions out of funds provided by the 
Secretary of State under  section 14 of the Education Act  2002 or the  Chief 
Executive  of  Skills Funding  under  sections 100 and  101 of  the  Apprenticeships, 
Skills,  Children and Learning Act 2009; or 

 

(e) Financial Contingency Funds made available by the Welsh Ministers; 
 

“college of further education” means a college of further education within the meaning 
of Part 1 of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 

 

“contribution” means- 
 

(a) any contribution in respect of the income of a student or any person which the 
Secretary of  State,  the  Scottish  Ministers  or  an  education  authority  takes  into 
account  in ascertaining the amount of a student’s grant or student loan; or 

 

(b) any  sums,  which  in determining the amount  of  a student’s  allowance  or 
bursary  in Scotland under the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, the Scottish Ministers or 
education authority takes into account being sums which the Scottish Ministers or 
education authority considers that it is reasonable for the following persons to 
contribute towards the holder’s expenses - 

 

(i) the holder of the allowance or bursary; 
 

(ii) the holder’s parents; 
 

(iii) the holder’s parent’s spouse, civil partner or a person ordinarily living 
with the holder’s parent as if he or she were the spouse or civil partner of that 
parent; or 

 

(iv) the holder’s spouse or civil partner; 
 

“course of study” means any course of study, whether or not it is a sandwich course 
and whether or not a grant is made for attending or undertaking it; 

 

“covenant income” means the gross income payable to a full-time student under a 
Deed of Covenant by his parent; 

 

“education authority” means a government department, a local authority as defined in 
section 579 of the Education Act 1996 (interpretation), a local education authority 
as defined in section 123 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973, an education 
and library board established under Article 3 of the Education and Libraries (Northern 
Ireland) Order 1986, any body which is a research council for the purposes of the 
Science and Technology Act 1965 or any analogous government department, 
authority, board or body, of the Channel Islands, Isle of Man or any other country 
outside Great Britain; 

 

“full-time course of study” means a full-time course of study which - 
 

(a) is not funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 
of the Education Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh 
Ministers or a full-time course of study which is not funded in whole or in part by the 

138



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 83 of 141 
 

Scottish Ministers at a college of further education or a full-time course of study which is 
a course of higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers; 

 

(b) is funded in whole or in part by the Secretary of State under section 14 of the 
Education Act 2002, the Chief Executive of Skills Funding or by the Welsh Ministers if 
it involves more than 16 guided learning hours per week for the student in question,  
according to the number of guided learning hours per week for that student set out— 

 

(i) in the case of a course funded by the Secretary of State under section 14 of 
the Education Act  2002 or the Chief  Executive  of  Skills  Funding,  in the 
student’s learning agreement signed on behalf of the establishment which is 
funded by either of those persons for the delivery of that course; or 

 

(ii) in the case of a course funded by the Welsh Ministers, in a document 
signed on behalf of the establishment which is funded by that Council for the 
delivery of that course; or 

 

(c) is not higher education and is funded in whole or in part by the Scottish Ministers 
at a college of further education and involves— 

 

(i) more than 16 hours per week of classroom-based or workshop-based 
programmed learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff according to 
the number of hours set out in a document signed on behalf of the college; or 

 

(ii) 16 hours or less per week of classroom-based or workshop-based 
programmed learning under the direct guidance of teaching staff and additional 
hours using structured learning packages supported by the teaching staff 
where the combined total of hours exceeds 21 hours per week, according to the 
number of hours set out in a document signed on behalf of the college; 

 

“full-time student” means a person attending or undertaking a full-time course of study 
and includes a student on a sandwich course; 

 

“grant” (except in the definition of “access funds”) means any kind of educational 
grant or award and includes any scholarship, studentship, exhibition, allowance or 
bursary but does not include a payment from access funds or any payment to which 
paragraph 16 of Schedule 3 or paragraph 55 of Schedule 4 applies; 

 

“grant income” means— 
 

(a) any income by way of a grant; 
 

(b) any contribution whether or not it is paid; 
 

“higher education” means higher education within the meaning of Part 2 of the 
Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992; 

 

“last day of the course” means— 
 

(a) in the case of a qualifying course, the date on which the last day of that course 
falls or the date on which the final examination relating to that course is completed, 
whichever is the later; 

 

(b) in any other case, the date on which the last day of the final academic term falls in 
respect of the course in which the student is enrolled; 

 

“period of study” means— 
 

(a) in the case of a course of study for one year or less, the period beginning with the 
start of the course and ending with the last day of the course; 

 

(b) in the case of a course of study for more than one year, in the first or, as the case 
may be, any subsequent year of the course, other than the final year of the course, the 
period beginning with the start of the course or, as the case may be, that year’s start 
and ending with either— 

 

139



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 84 of 141 
 

(i) the day before the start of the next year of the course in a case where the 
student’s grant or loan is assessed at a rate appropriate to his studying 
throughout the year or, if he does not have a grant or loan, where a loan would 
have been assessed at such a rate had he had one; or  

 
(ii) in any other case, the day before the start of the normal summer vacation 
appropriate to his course; 

 

(c) in the final year of a course of study of more than one year, the period beginning 
with that year’s start and ending with the last day of the course; 

 

“periods of experience” means periods of work experience which form part of a 
sandwich course; 

 

“qualifying course” means a qualifying course as defined for the purposes of Parts 2 
and 4 of the Jobseeker’s Allowance Regulations 1996; 

 

“sandwich course” has the meaning prescribed in regulation 2(9) of the Education 
(Student Support) Regulations 2008, regulation 4(2) of the Education (Student Loans) 
(Scotland) Regulations 2007 or regulation 2(10) of the Education (Student Support) 
(No. 2) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2009, as the case may be; 

 

“standard maintenance grant” means— 
 

(a) except  where  sub-paragraph  (b)  or  (c)  applies,  in  the  case  of  a  student 
attending  or undertaking a course of study at the University of London or an 
establishment within the area comprising the City of London and the Metropolitan Police 
District, the amount specified for the time being in paragraph 2(2)(a) of Schedule 2 to 
the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (“the 2003 Regulations”) for such 
a student; 

 

(b) except where sub-paragraph (c) applies, in the case of a student residing at his 
parent’s home, the amount specified in sub-paragraph (3) thereof; 

 

(c) in the case of a student receiving an allowance or bursary under the Education 
(Scotland) Act 1980, the amount of money specified as “standard maintenance 
allowance” for the relevant year appropriate for the student set out in the Student 
Support in Scotland Guide issued by the Student Awards Agency for Scotland, or its 
nearest equivalent in the case of a bursary provided by a college of further education or 
a local education authority; 

 

(d) in any other case, the amount specified in paragraph 2(2) of Schedule 2 to 
the 2003 Regulations other than in sub-paragraph (a) or (b) thereof; 

 

“student” means a person, other than a person in receipt of a training allowance, 
who is attending or undertaking— 

 

(a) a course of study at an educational establishment; or 
 

(b) a qualifying course; 
 

“student loan” means a loan towards a student’s maintenance pursuant to any 
regulations made under section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, 
section 73 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 or Article 3 of the Education (Student 
Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 and includes, in Scotland, a young student’s 
bursary paid under regulation 4(1)(c) of the Students’ Allowances (Scotland) 
Regulations 2007. 

 

(2) For the purposes of the definition of “full-time student” in sub-paragraph (1), a 
person must be regarded as attending or, as the case may be, undertaking a full-time 
course of study or as being on a sandwich course — 

 

(a) subject to sub-paragraph (3), in the case of a person attending or undertaking a 
part of a modular course which would be a full-time course of study for the purposes of 
this Part, for the period beginning on the day on which that part of the course starts and 

140



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 85 of 141 
 

ending— 
 

(i) on the last day on which he is registered with the educational 
establishment as attending or undertaking that part as a full-time course of 
study; or 

 

(ii) on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons the course or is 
dismissed from it; 

 

(b) in  any  other  case,  throughout  the  period  beginning  on  the  date  on  which 
he  starts attending or undertaking the course and ending on the last day of the 
course or on such earlier date (if any) as he finally abandons it or is dismissed from it. 

 

(3) For the purposes  of  sub-paragraph (a)  of  sub-paragraph (2),  the period 
referred to in that paragraph includes— 

 

(a) where a person has failed examinations or has failed successfully to complete a 
module relating to a period when he was attending or undertaking a part of the course 
as a full- time course of study, any period in respect of which he attends or 
undertakes the course for the purpose of retaking those examinations or that module; 

 

(b) any period of vacation within the period specified in that paragraph or immediately 
following that period except where the person has registered with the educational 
establishment to attend or undertake the final module in the course and the vacation 
immediately follows the last day on which he is required to attend or undertake 
the course. 

 

(4) In sub-paragraph (2), “modular course” means a course of study which consists of 
two or more modules, the successful completion of a specified number of which is 
required before a person is considered by the educational establishment to have 
completed the course. 

 
 
78. Treatment of students79

 
 

This scheme has effect in relation to students subject to paragraph 43 (class of 
person excluded from this scheme: students) and the following provisions of this Part. 

 
 
79. Students who are excluded from entitlement to a council tax reduction under 
this scheme80

 
 

(1) The students who are excluded from entitlement to a reduction under this scheme 
are, subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (7)— 

 

(a) full-time students, and 
 

(b) students who are persons treated as not being in Great Britain. 
 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1)(b) does not apply to a student— 
 

(a) who  is  a person on  income  support,  an income-based  jobseeker’s  allowance 
or  an income-related employment and support allowance; 

 

(b) who is a lone parent; 
 

(c) whose applicable amount would, but for this paragraph, include the disability 
premium or severe disability premium; 

 

(d) whose applicable amount would include the disability premium but for his being 
treated as capable of work by virtue of a determination made in accordance with 
regulations made under section 171E of the SSCBA; 

 

(e) who is, or is treated as, incapable of work and has been so incapable, or  has 
 

79 Reg. 74, SI 2012/2886 
80 Reg. 75, SI 2012/2886 

141



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 86 of 141 
 

 
 
been so treated as incapable, of work in accordance with the provisions of, and 
regulations made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work) for a continuous 
period of not less than 196 days; and for this purpose any two or more separate periods 
separated by a break of not more than 56 days must be treated as one continuous 
period; 

 

(f) who has, or is treated as having, limited capability for work and has had, or been 
treated as having, limited capability for work in accordance with the Employment and 
Support Allowance Regulations 2008 for a continuous period of not less than 196 
days, and for this purpose any two or more separate periods separated by a break of 
not more than 84 days must be treated as one continuous period; 

 

(g) who has a partner who is also a full-time student, if he or that partner is treated as 
responsible for a child or young person; 

 

(h) who is a single applicant with whom a child is placed by a local authority or 
voluntary organisation within the meaning of the Children Act 1989 or, in Scotland, 
boarded out within the meaning of the Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968; 

 

(i) who is— 
 

(i) aged under 21 and whose course of study is not a course of higher 
education, or 

 

(ii) aged 21 and attained that age during a course of study which is not a course 
of higher education, or 

 

(iii) a qualifying young person or child within the meaning of section 142 of the 
SSCBA (child and qualifying young person); 

 

(j) in respect of whom— 
 

(i) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of 
Part 2 of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003; 

 
 

(ii) a payment has been made by virtue of regulations made under the 
Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998; 

 

(iii) a grant has been made under regulation 38 of the Education (Student 
Support) Regulations 2011 or under regulation 14 of the Education (Student 
Support) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2002; or 

 

(iv) a supplementary requirement has been determined under paragraph 9 of 
Schedule 6 to the Students Awards Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2003 or a 
payment has been made under Article 50(3) of the Education and Libraries 
(Northern Ireland) Order 1986, 

 

on account of his disability by reason of deafness. 
 

(3) Sub-paragraph (2)(i)(ii) only applies to an applicant until the end of the course 
during which the applicant attained the age of 21. 

 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), once sub-paragraph (2)(e) applies to a 
full-time student, if he then ceases, for a period of 56 days or less, to be incapable, or to 
be treated as incapable, of work, that sub-paragraph must, on his again becoming so 
incapable, or so treated as incapable, of work at the end of that period, immediately 

142



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 87 of 141 
 

 
 
thereafter apply to him for so long as he remains incapable or is treated as remaining 
incapable, of work. 

 

(5) In sub-paragraph (2)(i) the reference to a course of higher education is a 
reference to a course of any description mentioned in Schedule 6 to the Education 
Reform Act 1988. 

 

(6) A full-time student to whom sub-paragraph (i) of sub-paragraph (2) applies must 
be treated as satisfying that sub-paragraph from the date on which he made a request 
for the supplementary requirement, allowance, bursary or payment as the case may be. 

 

(7) Sub-paragraph (1)(b) does not apply to a full-time student for the period 
specified in  sub-paragraph (8) if— 

 

(a) at  any  time  during  an  academic  year,  with  the  consent  of  the  relevant 
educational establishment, he ceases to attend or undertake a course because he is— 

 

(i) engaged in caring for another person; or 
 

(ii) ill; 
 

(b) he has subsequently ceased to be engaged in caring for that person or, as the 
case may be, he has subsequently recovered from that illness; and 

 

(c) he is not eligible for a grant or a student loan in respect of the period specified 
in sub-paragraph (8). 

 

(8) The period specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (7) is the period, not 
exceeding one year, beginning on the day on which he ceased to be engaged in caring 
for that person or, as the case may be, the day on which he recovered from that illness 
and ending on the day before— 

 

(a) the day on which he resumes attending or undertaking the course; or 
 

(b) the day from which the relevant educational establishment has agreed that he may 
resume attending or undertaking the course, 

 

whichever first occurs. 
 
 
Part 19 - Student Income 

 
 
80. Calculation of grant income81

 
 

(1) The amount of a student’s grant income to be taken into account in assessing his 
income must, subject to sub-paragraphs (2) and (3), be the whole of his grant income. 

 

(2) There must be excluded from a student’s grant income any payment— 
 

(a) intended to meet tuition fees or examination fees; 
 

(b) in respect of the student’s disability; 
 

(c) intended to meet additional expenditure connected with term time residential 
study away from the student’s educational establishment; 

 

(d) on account of the student maintaining a home at a place other than that at 
which he resides during his course; 

 

(e) on account of any other person but only if that person is residing outside the 
United Kingdom and there is no applicable amount in respect of him; 

 

(f) intended to meet the cost of books and equipment; 
 

81 Reg. 76, SI 2012/2886 

143



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 88 of 141 
 

 
 
(g) intended to meet travel expenses incurred as a result of his attendance on the 
course; 

 

(h) intended for the child care costs of a child dependant; 
 

(i) of higher education bursary for care leavers made under Part 3 of the Children Act 
1989. 

 

(3) Where a student does not have a student loan and is not treated as possessing 
such a loan, there must be excluded from the student’s grant income— 

 

(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
 

(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the costs of books and equipment, 
whether or not any such costs are incurred. 

 

(4) There must also be excluded from a student’s grant income the grant for 
dependants known as the parents’ learning allowance paid pursuant to regulations 
made under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 
or section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998. 

 

(5) Subject to sub-paragraphs (6) and (7), a student’s grant income must be 
apportioned— 

 

(a) subject to sub-paragraph (8), in a case where it is attributable to the period of 
study, equally between the weeks in that period beginning with the reduction week, the 
first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the period of 
study and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or 
immediately precedes, the last day of the period of study; 

 

(b) in any other case, equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the 
reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first 
day of the period for which it is payable and ending with the reduction week, the last 
day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, the last day of the period for 
which it is payable. 

 

(6) Any grant in respect of dependants paid under section 63(6) of the Health 
Services and Public Health Act 1968 (grants in respect of the provision of instruction to 
officers of hospital authorities) and any amount intended for the maintenance of 
dependants under Part 3 of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) 
Regulations 2003 must be apportioned equally over the period of 52 weeks or, if there 
are 53 reduction weeks (including part-weeks) in the year, 53. 

 

(7) In a case where a student is in receipt of a student loan or where he could have 
acquired a student loan by taking reasonable steps but had not done so, any amount 
intended for the maintenance of dependants to which neither sub-paragraph (6) nor 
paragraph 84(2) (other amounts to be disregarded) applies, must be apportioned over 
the same period as the student’s loan is apportioned or, as the case may be, would 
have been apportioned. 

 

(8) In the case of a student on a sandwich course, any periods of experience within the 
period of study must be excluded and the student’s grant income must be apportioned 
equally between the weeks in the period beginning with the reduction week, the first 
day of which immediately follows the last day of the period of experience and ending 
with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately precedes, 
the last day of the period of study. 

144



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 89 of 141 
 

 
 
81. Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed82

 
 

(1) Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant during a period of study 
and a contribution has been assessed, the amount of his covenant income to be taken 
into account for that period and any summer vacation immediately following must be 
the whole amount of the covenant income less, subject to sub-paragraph (3), the 
amount of the contribution. 

 

(2) The weekly amount of the student’s covenant must be determined— 
 

(a) by dividing  the  amount  of income which  falls  to be taken into account 
under   sub-paragraph (1) by 52 or 53, whichever is reasonable in the circumstances; 
and 

 

(b) by disregarding £5 from the resulting amount. 
 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the contribution must be treated as 
increased by the amount (if any) by which the amount excluded under paragraph 
80(2)(g) (calculation of grant income) falls short of the amount specified in paragraph 
7(2) of Schedule 2 to the Education (Mandatory Awards) Regulations 2003 (travel 
expenditure). 

 
 
82. Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed83

 
 

(1) Where a student is not in receipt of income by way of a grant the amount of 
his covenant income must be calculated as follows - 

 

(a) any sums intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 80(2)(a) to (e) 
(calculation of  grant  income)  necessary as  a  result  of  his  attendance on  the 
course  must  be disregarded; 

 

(b) any covenant income, up to the amount of the standard maintenance grant, 
which is not so disregarded, must be apportioned equally between the weeks of the 
period of study; 

 

(c) there must be disregarded from the amount so apportioned the amount which 
would have been disregarded under paragraph 80(2)(f) and (3) (calculation of grant 
income) had the student been in receipt of the standard maintenance grant; and 

 

(d) the balance, if any, must be divided by 52 or 53 whichever is reasonable in the 
circumstances and treated as weekly income of which £5 must be disregarded. 

 

(2) Where a student is in receipt of income by way of a grant and no contribution 
has been assessed, the amount of his covenanted income must be calculated in 
accordance with sub- paragraphs (a) to (d) of sub-paragraph (1), except that— 

 

(a) the value of the standard maintenance grant must be abated by the amount of 
such grant income less an amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded 
under paragraph 80(2)(a) to (e); and 

 

(b) the amount to be disregarded under sub-paragraph (1)(c) must be abated by an 
amount equal to the amount of any sums disregarded under paragraph 80(2)(f) and (g) 
and (3). 

 
83. Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 384

 
 

No part of a student's covenant income or grant income is to be disregarded under 
 
82 Reg. 77, SI 2012/2886 

145



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 90 of 141 
 

 
 
paragraph 19 of Schedule 3 (disregard of certain charitable and voluntary etc. 
payments). 

 
 
84. Other amounts to be disregarded85

 
 

(1) For the purposes of ascertaining income other than grant income, covenant income 
and loans treated as income in accordance with paragraph 85 (treatment of student 
loans), any amounts intended for any expenditure specified in paragraph 80(2) 
(calculation of grant income), necessary as a result of his attendance on the course 
must be disregarded. 

 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1) applies only if, and to the extent that, the necessary 
expenditure exceeds or is likely to exceed the amount of the sums disregarded under 
paragraph 80(2) or (3), 81(3), 82(1)(a) or (c) or 85(5) (calculation of grant income, 
covenant income and treatment of student loans) on like expenditure. 

 
 
85. Treatment of student loans86

 
 

(1) A student loan is to be treated as income. 
 

(2) In calculating the weekly amount of the loan to be taken into account as income— 
 

(a) in respect of a course that is of a single academic year’s duration or less, a loan 
which is payable in respect of that period is to be apportioned equally between the 
weeks in the period beginning with— 

 

(i) except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction week, the 
first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the 
single academic year; 

 

(ii) where the student is required to start attending the course in August or 
where the course is less than an academic year’s duration, the reduction week, 
the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of the 
course, 

 

and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

 

(b) in respect of an academic year of a course which starts other than on 1st 
September, a loan which is payable in respect of that academic year is to be 
apportioned equally between the weeks in the period— 

 

(i) beginning with the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with or 
immediately follows, the first day of that academic year, and 

 

(ii) ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with or 
immediately precedes, the last day of that academic year, 

 

but excluding any reduction weeks falling entirely within the quarter during which, in the 
opinion of the authority, the longest of any vacation is taken and for the purposes of this 
paragraph, “quarter” has the same meaning as for the purposes of the Education 
(Student Support) Regulations 2005; 

 

(c) in respect of the final academic year of a course (not being a course of a single 
year’s duration), a loan which is payable in respect of that final academic year is to be 
apportioned equally between the weeks in the period beginning with— 

 

(i) except in a case where sub-paragraph (ii) applies, the reduction week, the 

146



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 91 of 141 
 

 
 

first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the first day of that 
academic year; 

 

(ii) where the final academic year starts on 1st September, the reduction week, 
the first day of which coincides with, or immediately follows, the earlier of 1st 
September or the first day of the autumn term, 

 

and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of the course; 

 

(d) in any other case, the loan is to be apportioned equally between the weeks in the 
period beginning with the earlier of— 

 

(i) the first day of the first reduction week in September; or 
 

(ii) the reduction week, the first day of which coincides with, or immediately 
follows the first day of the autumn term, 

 

and ending with the reduction week, the last day of which coincides with, or immediately 
precedes, the last day of June, 

 

and, in all cases, from the weekly amount so apportioned £10 is to be disregarded. 
 

(3) A student is to be treated as possessing a student loan in respect of an 
academic year where— 

 

(a) a student loan has been made to him in respect of that year; or 
 

(b) he could acquire such a loan in respect of that year by taking reasonable steps to 
do so. 

 

(4) Where a student is treated as possessing a student loan under sub-paragraph (3), 
the amount of the student loan to be taken into account as income must be, subject to 
sub-paragraph (5)— 

 

(a) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is made in respect of an academic 
year, a sum equal to— 

 

(i) the maximum student loan he is able to acquire in respect of that year by 
taking reasonable steps to do so; and 

 

(ii) any contribution whether or not it has been paid to him; 
 

(b) in the case of a student to whom a student loan is not made in respect of an 
academic year, the maximum student loan that would be made to the student if— 

 

(i) he took all reasonable steps to obtain the maximum student loan he is able 
to acquire in respect of that year; and 

 

(ii) no deduction in that loan was made by virtue of the application of a means 
test. 

 

(5) There must be deducted from the amount of income taken into account under sub- 
paragraph (4)— 

 

(a) the sum of £303 per academic year in respect of travel costs; and 
 

(b) the sum of £390 per academic year towards the cost of books and equipment, 
whether or not any such costs are incurred. 

 

(6) A loan for fees, known as a fee loan or a fee contribution loan, made pursuant to 
regulations made under Article 3 of the Education (Student Support) (Northern Ireland) 
Order 1998, section 22 of the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998 or section 73(f) 
of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, shall be disregarded as income 

147



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 92 of 141 
 

 
 
86. Treatment of payments from access funds87

 
 

(1) This paragraph applies to payments from access funds that are not payments to 
which paragraph 89(2) or (3) (income treated as capital) applies. 

 

(2) A payment from access funds, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (3) 
applies, must be disregarded as income. 

 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4) of this paragraph and paragraph 40 of Schedule 3 
(disregards in the calculation of income other than earnings) - 

 

(a) any payments from access funds which are intended and used for an item 
of food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel, or rent of a single applicant or, 
as the case may be, of the applicant or any other member of his family, and 

 

(b) any payments from access funds which are used for any council tax or water 
charges for which that applicant or member is liable, 

 

must be disregarded as income to the extent of £20 per week. 
 

(4) Where a payment from access funds is made— 
 

(a) on or after 1st September or the first day of the course, whichever first occurs, but 
before receipt of any student loan in respect of that year and that payment is intended 
for the purpose of bridging the period until receipt of the student loan; or 

 

(b) before the first day of the course to a person in anticipation of that person 
becoming a student, 

 

that payment must be disregarded as income. 
 
87. Disregard of contribution88

 
 

Where  the  applicant  or  his  partner  is  a  student  and,  for  the  purposes  of 
assessing  a contribution to the student’s grant or student loan, the other partner’s 
income has been taken into account, an amount equal to that contribution must be 
disregarded for the purposes of assessing that other partner’s income. 

 
 
88. Further disregard of student’s income89

 
 

Where any part of a student’s income has already been taken into account for the 
purposes of assessing his entitlement to a grant or student loan, the amount taken into 
account must be disregarded in assessing that student’s income. 

 
 
89. Income treated as capital90

 
 

(1) Any amount by way of a refund of tax deducted from a student’s covenant 
income must be treated as capital. 

 

(2) An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum must be treated as capital. 
 

(3) An amount paid from access funds as a single lump sum which is intended and 
used for an item other than food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent, 
or which is used for an item other than any council tax or water charges for which that 
applicant or member is liable, must be disregarded as capital but only for a period of 52 
weeks from the date of the payment. 

 
87 Reg. 82, SI 2012/2886 
88 Reg. 83, SI 2012/2886 

148



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 93 of 141 
 

 
90. Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation91

 
 

In calculating a student’s income the authority must disregard any change in the 
standard maintenance grant, occurring in the recognised summer vacation appropriate 
to the student’s course, if that vacation does not form part of his period of study 
from the date on which the change occurred to the end of that vacation. 

 
 
Part 20 - Extended Reductions 

 
 
91. Extended reductions (qualifying income-related benefits)92

 
 

(1) An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling 
within any of the classes D to E is be entitled to an extended reduction where— 

 

(a) the  applicant  or  the  applicant’s  partner  was  entitled to  a qualifying  income- 
related benefit; 

 

(b) entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased because the applicant or 
the applicant’s partner— 

 

(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
 

(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
 

(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
 

and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or 
increased number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; and 

 

(c) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a 
qualifying income-related benefit, jobseeker’s allowance or a combination of those 
benefits for a continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the 
entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased. 

 

(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1)(c), an applicant or an applicant’s partner is to 
be treated as having been entitled to and in receipt of a qualifying income-related 
benefit or jobseeker’s allowance during any period of less than five weeks in respect of 
which the applicant or the applicant’s  partner  was  not  entitled to  any  of  those 
benefits because the applicant  or  the applicant’s partner was engaged in 
remunerative work as a consequence of their participation in an employment zone 
programme. 

 

(3) For the purpose of this paragraph, where an applicant or an applicant’s partner is 
entitled to and in receipt of joint-claim jobseeker’s allowance they must be treated as 
being entitled to and in receipt of jobseeker’s allowance. 

 

(4) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by 
virtue of falling within any of the classes D to E where— 

 

(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the 
applicant vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 

 

(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 
entitlement to a qualifying income-related benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 

 

(c) entitlement to the qualifying income-related benefit ceased in any of the 
circumstances listed in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 

 

(5) This paragraph does not apply where, on the day before an applicant’s entitlement 
to income support ceased, regulation 6(5) of the Income Support (General) Regulations 

149



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 94 of 141 
 

1987 (remunerative work: housing costs) applied to that applicant. 
 
 
92. Duration of extended reduction period: (qualifying income-related benefits)93

 
 

(1) Where an applicant is entitled to an extended reduction, the extended reduction 
period starts on the first day of the reduction week immediately following the 
reduction week in which the applicant, or the applicant’s partner, ceased to be 
entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 

 

(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant’s partner 
ceases to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit on the day immediately 
following the last day of entitlement to that benefit. 

 

(3) The extended reduction period ends— 
 

(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
 

(b) on the date on which the applicant to whom the extended reduction is payable has 
no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 

 
 
93. Amount of extended reduction: (qualifying income-related benefits)94

 
 

(1) For  any  week  during  the  extended  reduction  period  the  amount  of  the 
extended reduction to which an applicant is entitled is to be the higher of— 

 

(a) the amount of the reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was entitled 
by virtue of falling within any of the classes D to E in the last reduction week before the 
applicant or the applicant’s partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related 
benefit; 

 

(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be entitled 
by virtue of falling within any of the classes D to E for  any reduction week  during the 
extended reduction period, if paragraph 91 (extended reductions: qualifying income- 
related benefits) did not apply to the applicant; or 

 

(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant’s partner would 
be entitled by virtue of falling within any of the classes D to E, if paragraph 91 did not 
apply to the applicant. 

 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 
 

(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction under this paragraph 
and the applicant’s partner makes an application for a reduction under this scheme, no 
amount of reduction under this scheme is to be awarded by the authority during the 
extended reduction period. 

 
 
94. Extended reductions—movers: (qualifying income-related benefits)95

 
 

(1) This paragraph applies— 
 

(a) to a mover; and 
 

(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 
 

(2) The amount of the extended reduction awarded from the Monday from which this 
paragraph applies until the end of the extended reduction period is to be the amount of 

 
 

93 Reg. 96, SI 2012/2886 

150



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 95 of 141 
 

reduction under this scheme to which the mover would have been entitled had they, or 
their partner, not ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related benefit. 

 

(3) Where a mover's liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a 
second authority, the extended reduction may take the form of a payment from this 
authority to— 

 

(a) the second authority; or 
 

(b) the mover directly. 
 
 
95. Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to reduction by 
virtue of classes D to E96

 
 

(1) Where an applicant’s entitlement to a reduction under this scheme would 
have ended when the applicant ceased to be entitled to a qualifying income-related 
benefit in the circumstances listed in paragraph 91(1)(b), that entitlement does not 
cease until the end of the extended reduction period. 

 
(2) Paragraphs 102 and 103 do not apply to any extended reduction payable in 
accordance with paragraph 91(1)(a) or 94(2) (amount of extended reduction—movers) 

 
 
96. Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)97

 
 

(1) An applicant who is entitled to a reduction under this scheme by virtue of falling 
within classes D to E is entitled to an extended reduction (qualifying contributory 
benefits) where— 

 

(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner was entitled to a qualifying contributory 
benefit; 

 

(b) entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased because the applicant or the 
applicant’s partner— 

 

(i) commenced employment as an employed or self-employed earner; 
 

(ii) increased their earnings from such employment; or 
 

(iii) increased the number of hours worked in such employment, 
 

and that employment is or, as the case may be, those increased earnings or 
increased number of hours are expected to last five weeks or more; 

 

(c) the applicant or the applicant’s partner had been entitled to and in receipt of a 
qualifying contributory benefit or a combination of qualifying contributory benefits for a 
continuous period of at least 26 weeks before the day on which the entitlement to a 
qualifying contributory benefit ceased; and 

 

(d) the  applicant  or  the  applicant’s  partner  was  not  entitled  to  and not  in 
receipt  of  a qualifying income-related benefit in the last reduction week in which the 
applicant, or the applicant’s partner, was entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 

(2) An applicant must be treated as entitled to a reduction under this scheme by 
virtue of falling within classes D to E where— 

 

(a) the applicant ceased to be entitled to a reduction under this scheme because the 
applicant vacated the dwelling in which the applicant was resident; 

 

(b) the day on which the applicant vacated the dwelling was either in the week in which 
 
 

96 Reg. 99 SI 2012/2886 

151



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 96 of 141 
 

 
 
entitlement to a qualifying contributory benefit ceased, or in the preceding week; and 

 

(c) entitlement to the qualifying contributory benefit ceased in any of the 
circumstances listed in sub-paragraph (1)(b). 

 
 
97. Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits)98

 
 

(1) Where  an  applicant  is  entitled  to  an  extended  reduction  (qualifying 
contributory benefits), the extended reduction period starts on the first day of the 
reduction week immediately following the reduction week in which the applicant, or 
the applicant’s partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 

(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant or an applicant’s partner 
ceases to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit on the day immediately 
following the last day of entitlement to that benefit. 

 

(3) The extended reduction period ends— 
 

(a) at the end of a period of four weeks; or 
 

(b) on the date on which the applicant entitled to the extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) has no liability for council tax, if that occurs first. 

 
 
98. Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)99

 
 

(1) For any week during the extended reduction period the amount of the 
extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) payable to an applicant is to be the 
greater of— 

 

(a) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant was entitled by 
virtue of falling within classes D to E in the last reduction week before the applicant or 
the applicant’s partner ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit; 

 

(b) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant would be entitled 
by virtue of falling within classes D to E for any reduction week during the extended 
reduction period, if paragraph 96 (extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) 
did not apply to the applicant; or 

 

(c) the amount of reduction under this scheme to which the applicant’s partner would 
be entitled by virtue of falling within classes D to E, if paragraph 96 did not apply to the 
applicant. 

 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply in the case of a mover. 
 

(3) Where an applicant is in receipt of an extended reduction (qualifying contributory 
benefits) under this paragraph and the applicant’s partner makes an application for a 
reduction under this scheme, no amount of reduction may be allowed by the 
appropriate authority during the extended reduction period. 

 
 
99. Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) - movers100

 
 

(1) This paragraph applies— 
 

(a) to a mover; and 
 

(b) from the Monday following the day of the move. 
 
 

98 Reg. 101, SI 2012/2886 
99 Reg. 102, SI 2012/2886 

152



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 97 of 141 
 

 
(2) The amount of the extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefit) payable 
from the Monday from which this paragraph applies until the end of the extended 
reduction period is to be the amount of reduction under this scheme which was 
awarded to the mover for the last reduction week before the mover, or the mover’s 
partner, ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit. 

 

(3) Where a mover’s liability to pay council tax in respect of the new dwelling is to a 
second authority,  the  extended  reduction  (qualifying  contributory benefits)  may  
take  the form  of  a payment from this authority to— 

 

(a) the second authority; or 
 

(b) the mover directly. 
 
 
100. Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) 
and entitlement to reduction by virtue of classes D to E 101

 
 

(1) Where  an  applicant’s  reduction  under  this  scheme  would  have  ended  when 
the applicant ceased to be entitled to a qualifying contributory benefit in the 
circumstances listed in paragraph 91(1)(b), that reduction does not cease until the end 
of the extended reduction period. 

 

(2) Paragraphs 102 and 103 do not apply to any extended reduction (qualifying 
contributory benefits) payable in accordance with paragraph 96(1)(a) or 98(2) (amount 
of extended reduction—movers 

 
 
101. Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority’s area 

 

Paragraph 24 has effect 

153



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 98 of 141 
 

 
 
Part 21 - When entitlement begins and change of circumstances 

 
 
102. Date on which entitlement begins102

 
 

(1) Subject  to  sub-paragraph  (2),  any  person  by  whom  or  in  respect  of  whom 
an application for a reduction under this scheme is made and who is otherwise entitled 
to that reduction is so entitled from the reduction week following the date on which that 
application is made or is treated as made. 

 

(2) Where a person is otherwise entitled to a reduction under this scheme and becomes 
liable for the first time for the authority’s council tax in respect of a dwelling of which he 
is a resident in the reduction week in which his application is made or is treated as 
made, he is so entitled from that reduction week. 

 
 
103. Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect103

 
 

(1) Except in cases where paragraph 66 (disregard of changes in tax, contributions, 
etc.) applies and subject to the following provisions of this paragraph and paragraph 
104, a change of circumstances which affects entitlement to, or the amount of, a 
reduction under this scheme (“change of circumstances”), takes effect from the first day 
of the reduction week following the date on which the change actually occurs. 

 

(2) Where that change is cessation of entitlement to any benefit under the benefit Acts, 
the date on which the change actually occurs is the day immediately following the last 
day of entitlement to that benefit 

 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), where the change of circumstances is a change in 
the amount of council tax payable, it takes effect from the day on which it actually 
occurs. 

 

(4) Where the change of circumstances is a change in the amount a person is liable 
to pay in respect of council tax in consequence of regulations under section 13 of the 
1992 Act (reduced amounts of council tax) or changes in the discount to which a 
dwelling may be subject under section 11 or 11A of that Act, it takes effect from the day 
on which the change in amount has effect. 

 

(5) Where the change of circumstances is as a result of an amendment to this 
scheme it shall take effect from the date on which the amendment to this scheme 
takes effect. 

 

(6) Where the change of circumstances is the applicant's acquisition of a partner, 
the change takes effect on the day on which the acquisition takes place. 

 

(7) Where the change of circumstances is the death of an applicant's partner or their 
separation, it takes effect on the day the death or separation occurs. 

 

(8) If two or more changes of circumstances occurring in the same reduction week 
would, but for this paragraph, take effect in different reduction weeks in accordance 
with sub-paragraphs (1) to (7) they take effect from the day to which the appropriate 
sub-paragraph from (3) to (7) above refers, or, where more than one day is concerned, 
from the earlier day. 

 
(9) Where the change of circumstances is that income, or an increase in the amount of 
income, other than a benefit or an increase in the amount of a benefit under the 
SSCBA, is paid in respect of a past period and there was no entitlement to income of 
that amount during that period, the change of circumstances takes effect from the first 
day on which such income, had it been paid in that period at intervals appropriate to 

 
102 Reg. 106, SI 2012/2886103 Reg. 107, SI 2012/2886, para (10 - (13) applicable to pensioners only - omitted 

154



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 99 of 141 
 

 
 
that income, would have fallen to be taken into account for the purposes of this 
scheme. 

 

(10) Without prejudice to sub-paragraph (9), where the change of circumstances is the 
payment of income, or arrears of income, in respect of a past period, the change of 
circumstances takes effect from the first day on which such income, had it been 
timeously paid in that period at intervals appropriate to that income, would have fallen 
to be taken into account for the purposes of this scheme. 

 
 
104. Date on which an advantageous change of circumstances is to take effect 

 

For the purposes of determining the date on which a change of circumstances is to take 
effect in accordance with paragraph 103(1), in a case where - 

 

(a) the change of circumstances is of a kind that is required to be notified under this 
scheme, and 

 

(b) that change of circumstances is notified more than one month after it occurs, or 
such longer period as may be allowed under paragraph 105; and 

 

(c) the change of circumstances increases the amount of the reduction to which a 
person is entitled under this scheme, 

 

the date of notification of the change of circumstances is treated as the date on which 
the change of circumstances occurred 

 
 
105. Late notification of a change of circumstances 

 

(1) A longer period of time may be allowed for the notification of an advantageous 
change of circumstances where the authority is satisfied - 

 

(a) that as a result of exceptional circumstances it was not practicable for the applicant 
to notify the change of circumstances within one month of the change occurring; and 

 

(b) the application for a late change of circumstances is made within 13 months of the 
on which the change actually occurred 

 

(2) In deciding whether it is reasonable to grant the application, the authority shall have 
regard to the principle that the greater the amount of time that has elapsed between the 
date that is one month after the change of circumstances occurred and the date the 
change of circumstances is notified to the authority, the more compelling should be the 
special circumstances on which the application is based 

 

(3) In determining whether it is reasonable to grant an application, no account shall be 
taken that the applicant was unaware of, or misunderstood, the law applicable to his 
case (including ignorance or misunderstanding of the time limits imposed by this 
scheme) 

 
106. Back-dating of applications104

 
 

(1) Where an applicant— 
 

(a) makes  an  application  under  this scheme which  includes  (or  which  he 
subsequently requests should include) a period before the application is made; and 

 

(b) from a day in that period, up to the date he made the application (or 
subsequently requested that the application should include a past period), the applicant 
had continuous good cause for failing to make an application (or request that the 

 
 
 

104 Reg. 112, SI 2012/2886 

155



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 100 of 141 
 

 
 
application should include that period), 

 

the application is to be treated as made on the date determined in accordance with 
sub-paragraph (2). 

 

(2) That date is the latest of— 
 

(a) the first day from which the applicant had continuous good cause; 
 

(b) the day three calendar months before the date the application was made; 
 

(c) the day three calendar months before the date when the applicant requested that 
the application should include a past period. 

 
 
Part 22 - Changes in the amount of reduction 

 
 
107. Adjustments to the amount of reduction 

 

For working-age individuals (or partner) who have been assessed by the Secretary 
for State for Work and Pensions (DWP) for Universal Credit. a change of 
circumstances [change of income] resulting in a change in entitlement to council 
tax reduction of £3.25 a week or less is not implemented. 
 
Where, due to a change of circumstances or other correction, the amount of 
reduction that an applicant is entitled to is adjusted, the authority will issue a 
revised Demand Notice and adjust payments of council tax liability in accordance 
with regulation 24 of the Council Tax (Administration & Enforcement) Regulations 
1992.  

 
 
Part 23 - Other Matters 

 
 
108. Transitional Provision - procedural matters 

 

(1) Any person who, on the date this scheme comes into effect, has an existing 
reduction under the authority’s 2013 scheme, is treated as having made an application 
for a council tax reduction under this scheme on that date 

 

(2) Any person who, before the date this scheme comes into effect, has made an 
application for a reduction under the 2013 scheme, which on the date this scheme 
comes into effect has not been decided, is treated as having made an application 
for a reduction under this scheme on that date 

 

(3) The date this scheme comes into effect is the date in accordance with paragraph 1 

156



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 101 of 141 
 

 

Schedule 1 - Applicable Amounts105
 

 
 

Part 1 - Personal Allowances 
 

1. The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person or couple 
specified in column (1) shall be the amounts specified for the purposes of paragraphs 
44(1)(a) and 45(1)(a) and (b)— 

 
 

 

Column (1) - Person or couple 
 

Column (2) - Amount 
 

(1) A single claimant who - 
 

(a) Is entitled to main phase employment and support 
allowance 

 

(b) Is aged not less than 25 
 

(c) Is aged not less than 18 but less than 25 
 

(2) Lone Parent 
 

(3) Couple 

 

(1) 
 

(a)   £77.00 
 
 
(b)   £77.00 

 

(c)  £61.05 
 

(2)   £77.00 
 

(3)   £121.05 
 
 

2. For the purposes of paragraph 1 of this Schedule an applicant is entitled to 
main phase employment and support allowance if— 

 

(a) paragraph 18 of this Schedule is satisfied in relation to the applicant; or 
 

(b) the applicant is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance. 
 

3. (1) The amounts specified in column (2) below in respect of each person 
specified in column (1) are, for the relevant period specified in column (1), be the 
amounts specified for the purposes of paragraphs 44(1)(b) and 45(1)(c) 

 

(2) In column (1) of the table in sub-paragraph (1), “the first Monday in September” 
means the Monday which first occurs in the month of September in any year. 

 
 

 

Column (1) - Child or young person 
 

Column (2) - Amount 
 

Person in respect of the period - 
(a) beginning on that person’s date of birth and ending on 

 
 
£70.80 

the day preceding the first Monday in September following  
that person’s sixteenth birthday;  
(b) beginning on the first Monday in September following  
that person’s sixteenth birthday and ending on the day 
preceding that person’s twentieth birthday 

£70.80 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

105 Sch 3, SI 2012/2886 

157



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 102 of 141 
 

Part 2 - Family premium 
 
4. (1) The amount for the purposes of paragraphs 44(1)(c) and 45(1)(d) in respect of a 
family of which at least one member is a child or young person shall be— 

 

(a) where the applicant is a lone parent to whom sub-paragraph (2) applies, £22.20; 
 

(b) in any other case, £17.85. 
 

(2) The amount in sub-paragraph (1)(a) shall be applicable to a lone parent— 
 

(a) who was entitled to council tax benefit on 5th April 1998 and whose applicable 
amount on that date included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of 
Schedule 1 to the Council Tax Benefit (Persons who have attained the qualifying 
age for state pension credit) Regulations 2006 as in force on that date; or 

 

(b) on becoming entitled to council tax benefit where that lone parent— 
 

(i) had been treated as entitled to that benefit in accordance with sub- 
paragraph (3) as at the day before the date of claim for that benefit; and 

 

(ii) was entitled to housing benefit as at the date of claim for council tax 
benefit or would have been entitled to housing benefit as at that date had that 
day not fallen during a rent free period as defined in regulation 81 of the 
Housing Benefit Regulations 2006, 

 

and in respect of whom, all of the conditions specified in sub-paragraph (3) have 
continued to apply. 

 

(3) The conditions specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) are that, in 
respect of the period commencing on 6th April 1998— 

 

(a) the applicant has not ceased to be entitled, or has not ceased to be treated as 
entitled, to: 

 

(i) council tax benefit (in relation to the period prior to 1st April 2013), and 
 

(ii) a reduction under this scheme (in relation to the period commencing on 
1st April 2020); 

 

(b) the applicant has not ceased to be a lone parent; 
 

(c) where the applicant was entitled to income support or to an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance on 5th April 1998, he has continuously, since that date, been 
entitled to income support, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or income-related 
employment and support allowance or a combination of those benefits; 

 

(d) where the applicant was not entitled to income support or to an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance on 5th April 1998, he has not become entitled to income support, 
an income- based jobseeker’s allowance or an income-related employment and 
support allowance; and 

 

(e) a premium under paragraph 9 or a component under paragraph 21 or 22 has not 
become applicable to the applicant. 

 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2)(b)(i) and (3)(a), an applicant is to be 
treated as entitled to council tax benefit during any period where he was not, or had 
ceased to be, so entitled and— 

 

(a) throughout that period, he had been awarded housing benefit and his applicable 
amount on that date included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of 
Schedule 3 to the Housing Benefit Regulations 2006 as in force on that date (lone 
parent rate of family premium); or 

 

(b) he would have been awarded housing benefit during that period had that 
period not been a rent free period as defined in regulation 81 of the Housing 

158



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 103 of 141 
 

Benefit Regulations 2006 and his applicable amount throughout that period 
would have included the amount applicable under paragraph 3(1)(a) of 
Schedule 3 to those Regulations. 

 
 

4A The amount in sub-paragraph (1)(b) shall be applicable where a person who, on 31  
March 2020, is liable to pay council tax at a reduced rate by virtue of a council tax 
reduction under The Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) 
(Persons who are not Pensioners) 2013 scheme, and is 
 
(a) a member of a family of which at least one member is a child or young person; or  
(b) a partner in a polygamous marriage, where he or she, or another partner of the 
polygamous marriage, is responsible for a child or young person who is a member of the 
same household.  
(6) Paragraph (5) does not apply if—  
(a) sub-paragraph (a) or (b) of that paragraph ceases to apply; or  
(b) the person makes a new application for a reduction under The Runnymede Borough 
Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 2013 
scheme or later. 
 
Part 3 - Premiums 

 
5. Except as provided in paragraph 6 of this Schedule, the premiums specified in Part 
4 are, for the purposes of paragraphs 44(1)(d) and 45(1)(e) , be applicable to an 
applicant who satisfies the condition specified in paragraphs 9 to 14 of this Schedule in 
respect of that premium. 

 

6. Subject to paragraph 7 of this Schedule, where an applicant satisfies the conditions 
in respect of more than one premium in this Part of this Schedule, only one premium is 
applicable to him and, if they are different amounts, the higher or highest amount 
applies. 

 

7. The following premiums, namely— 
 

(a) a severe disability premium to which paragraph 11; 
 

(b) an enhanced disability premium to which paragraph 12; 
 

(c) a disabled child premium to which paragraph 13; and 
 

(d) a carer premium to which paragraph 14, 
 

may be applicable in addition to any other premium which may apply under this 
Schedule. 

 

8.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), for the purposes of this Part of this  
Schedule, once a premium is applicable to an applicant under this Part, a person is to 
be treated as being in receipt of any benefit for— 

 

(a) in the case of a benefit to which the Social Security (Overlapping Benefits) 
Regulations 1979  applies, any period during which, apart from the provisions of those 
Regulations, he would be in receipt of that benefit; and 

 

(b) any period spent by a person in undertaking a course of training or instruction 
provided or approved by the Secretary of State under section 2 of the Employment 
and Training Act 1973 or by Skills Development Scotland, Scottish Enterprise or 
Highlands and Islands Enterprise under section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns 
(Scotland) Act 1990 for any period during which he is in receipt of a training allowance. 

 

(2) For the purposes of the carer premium under paragraph 14, a person is to be 
treated as being in receipt of carer’s allowance by virtue of sub-paragraph (1)(a) only if 
and for so long as the person in respect of whose care the allowance has been claimed 
remains in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability  
living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 
72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal independence payment 

159



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 104 of 141 
 

payable under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012. 
 
Disability premium 

 

9. The condition is that— 
 

(a) where  the  applicant  is  a  single  applicant  or  a  lone  parent,  he  has  not 
attained  the qualifying age for state pension credit and the additional condition 
specified in paragraph 10 is satisfied; or 

 

(b) where the applicant has a partner, either— 
 

(i) the applicant has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit  
and the additional condition specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) or (b) is satisfied by 
him; or 

 

(ii) his  partner  has  not  attained  the qualifying  age  for  state pension credit 
and  the additional condition specified in paragraph 10(1)(a) is satisfied by his 
partner. 

 
Additional condition for the disability premium 

 

10.—(1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2) and paragraph 8, the additional condition 
referred to in paragraph 9 is that either— 

 

(a) the applicant or, as the case may be, his partner— 
 

(i) is  in  receipt  of  one  or  more  of  the  following  benefits:  attendance 
allowance, disability living allowance, personal independence payment, and 
AFIP, the disability element or the severe disability element of working tax credit 
as specified in regulation 20(1)(b) and (f) of the Working Tax Credit 
(Entitlement and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002, mobility supplement, long- 
term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the SSCBA or severe disablement 
allowance under Part 3 of that Act but, in the case of long-term incapacity 
benefit or severe disablement allowance, only where it is paid in respect of  
him; or 

 

(ii) was in receipt of long-term incapacity benefit under Part 2 of the SSCBA 
when entitlement to that benefit ceased on account of the payment of a 
retirement pension under that Act and the applicant has since remained 
continuously entitled to 

(aa) council tax benefit in relation to the period prior to 1st April 2013 
and, 

 

(bb) a reduction under this scheme (in relation to the period 
commencing on 1st April 2020), and 

 

if the long-term incapacity benefit was payable to his partner, the partner is 
still a member of the family; or 

 

(iii) was in receipt of attendance allowance or disability living allowance but 
payment of benefit  has  been  suspended  in  accordance  with  regulations 
made  under  section 113(2) of the SSCBA or otherwise abated as a 
consequence of the applicant or his partner becoming a patient within the 
meaning of paragraph 64(11)(i) (treatment of child care charges); or 

 

(iv) was in receipt of personal independence payment, but payment of that 
benefit has been suspended in accordance with section 86 of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2012 as a consequence of the applicant becoming a patient within 
the meaning of paragraph 64(11)(i) (treatment of child care charges); or 

 

(v) was in receipt of an AFIP, but payment has been suspended in accordance 
with any terms of the armed and reserve forces compensation scheme which 
allow for suspension because a person is undergoing medical treatment in a 

160



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 105 of 141 
 

hospital or similar institution; or 
 

(vi) he has an invalid carriage or other vehicle provided to him by the Secretary 
of State or a clinical commissioning group under paragraph 9 of Schedule 1 to 
the National Health Service Act 2006 or under section 46 of the National Health 
Service (Scotland) Act 1978 or provided by the Department of Health, Social 
Services and Public Safety in Northern Ireland under Article 30(1) of the Health 
and Personal Social Services (Northern Ireland) Order 1972; or  
(vii) is blind and in consequence registered in a register compiled by a local 
authority under section 29 of the National Assistance Act 1948 (welfare 
services) or, in Scotland, has been certified as blind and in consequence he is 
registered in a register maintained by or on behalf of a council constituted under 
section 2 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1994; or 

 

(b) the applicant— 
 

(i) is, or is treated as, incapable of work in accordance with the provisions of, 
and regulations made under, Part 12A of the SSCBA (incapacity for work); and 

 

(ii) has been incapable, or has been treated as incapable, of work for a 
continuous period of not less than— 

 

(aa) in the case of an applicant who is terminally ill within the 
meaning of section 30B(4) of the SSCBA, 196 days; 

 

(bb) in any other case, 364 days. 
 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(a)(vii), a person who has ceased to be 
registered as blind  on  regaining  his  eyesight  is nevertheless to be treated as blind 
and  as  satisfying  the additional condition set out in that paragraph for a period of 28 
weeks following the date on which he ceased to be so registered. 

 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is 
applicable to an applicant by virtue of his satisfying the additional condition specified in 
that provision, if he then ceases, for a period of 8 weeks or less, to be treated as 
incapable of work or to be incapable of work he is, on again becoming so incapable of 
work, immediately thereafter to be treated as satisfying the condition in sub-paragraph 
(1)(b). 

 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), once the disability premium is 
applicable to an applicant by virtue of his satisfying the additional condition specified in 
that provision, he is to continue to be treated as satisfying that condition for any period 
spent by him in undertaking a course of training provided under section 2 of the 
Employment and Training Act 1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns 
(Scotland) Act 1990 or for any period during which he is in receipt of a training 
allowance. 

 

(5) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(b), where any two or more periods of 
incapacity are separated by a break of not more than 56 days, those periods are to be 
treated as one continuous period. 

 

(6) For the purposes of this paragraph, a reference to a person who is or was in receipt 
of long- term incapacity benefit includes a person who is or was in receipt of short-term 
incapacity benefit at a rate equal to the long-term rate by virtue of section 30B(4)(a) of 
the Act (short-term incapacity benefit for a person who is terminally ill), or who would be 
or would have been in receipt of short- term incapacity benefit at such a rate but for the 
fact that the rate of short-term incapacity benefit already payable to him is or was equal 
to or greater than the long-term rate. 

 

(7) In the case of  an  applicant  who  is  a welfare to work  beneficiary (a  person 
to  whom regulation  13A(1)  of  the Social  Security  (Incapacity for Work)  (General) 
Regulations 1995 applies, and who again becomes incapable of work for the purposes 

161



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 106 of 141 
 

of Part 12A of the SSCBA)— 
 

(a) the reference to a period of 8 weeks in sub-paragraph (3); and 
 

(b) the reference to a period of 56 days in sub-paragraph (5), 
 

In each case is to be treated as a reference to a period of 104 weeks. 
 

(8) The applicant is not entitled to the disability premium if he has, or is treated  as  
having, limited capability for work. 

 
 
Severe disability premium 

 

11. (1) The condition is that the applicant is a severely disabled person. 
 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), an applicant is to be treated as being a 
severely disabled person if, and only if— 

 

(a) in the case of a single applicant, a lone parent or an applicant who is treated as 
having no partner in consequence of sub-paragraph (3)— 

 

(i) he is in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability 
living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with 
section 72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal 
independence payment payable at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP; and 

 

(ii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), he has no non-dependants aged 18 or over 
normally residing with him or with whom he is normally residing; and 

 

(iii) no person is entitled to, and in receipt of, a carer’s allowance under section 
70 of the SSCBA in respect of caring for him; 

 

(b) in the case of an applicant who has a partner— 
 

(i) the  applicant  is  in  receipt  of  attendance  allowance,  or  the  care 
component  of disability living allowance at the highest or middle rate 
prescribed in accordance with  section  72(3)  of  the  SSCBA  or  the  daily 
living  component  of  personal independence payment payable at either rate 
under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP; and 

 

(ii) his partner is also in receipt of such an allowance or, if he is a member of a 
polygamous marriage, all the partners of that marriage are in receipt of such an 
allowance; and 

 

(iii) subject to sub-paragraph (4), the applicant has no non-dependants aged 
18 or over normally residing with him or with whom he is normally residing, 

 

and either a person is entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance in respect of 
caring for only one of a couple or, in the case of a polygamous marriage, for one or 
more but not all the partners of the marriage, or as the case may be, no person is 
entitled to and in receipt of such an allowance in respect of caring for either member of 
a couple or any partner of a polygamous marriage. 

 

(3) Where an applicant  has  a partner  who does  not  satisfy the condition  in sub- 
paragraph (2)(b)(ii),  and  that  partner  is  blind  or  is  treated  as  blind  within  the 
meaning  of  paragraph 10(1)(a)(v) and (2), that partner is to be treated for the 
purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b)(ii) as if he were not a partner of the applicant. 

 

(4) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(ii) and (2)(b)(iii) no account is to be taken 
of— 

 

(a) a person receiving attendance allowance, or disability living allowance by virtue 
of the care component at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with 
section 72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal independence 

162



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 107 of 141 
 

payment payable at either rate prescribed in accordance with Part 4 of the Welfare 
Reform Act 2012 ; or 

 

(b) a person who is blind or is treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 
10(1)(a)(v) and (2). 

 

(5) for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(b) a person is to be treated -  
(a) as being in receipt of attendance allowance, or the care component of disability 
living allowance at the highest or middle rate prescribed in accordance with section 
72(3) of the SSCBA or the daily living component of personal independence payment 
payable at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, or an AFIP, if he 
would, but for his being a patient for a period exceeding 28 days, be so in receipt; 

 

(b) as being entitled to and in receipt of a carer’s allowance if he would, but for the 
person for whom he was caring being a patient in hospital for a period exceeding 28 
days, be so entitled and in receipt. 

 

(6) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (2)(b), no account is to be 
taken of an award of carer’s allowance to the extent that payment of such an award is 
back-dated for a period before the date on which the award is first paid. 

 

(7) In sub-paragraph (2)(a)(iii) and (b), references to a person being in receipt of a 
carer’s allowance include references to a person who would have been in receipt of 
that allowance but for the application of a restriction under section 6B or 7 of the 
Social Security Fraud Act 2001 (loss of benefit provisions). 

 
 
Enhanced disability premium 

 

12. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the condition is that— 
 

(a) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant has, or is to be treated as 
having, limited capability for work-related activity; or 

 

(b) the care component of disability living allowance is, or would be payable at the 
highest rate prescribed under section 72(3) of the SSCBA, but for a suspension of 
benefit in accordance with regulations made under section 113(2) of the SSCBA or 
but for an abatement as a consequence of hospitalisation be payable at the highest 
rate prescribed under section 72(3) of the SSCBA in respect of— 

 

(i) the applicant; or 
 

(ii) a member of the applicant’s family, 
 

who has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit; or 
 

(c) the daily living component of personal independence payment is, or would be 
payable at either rate under Part 4 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012, but for a 
suspension of benefit in accordance with section 86 of the Welfare Reform Act 2012 in 
respect of— 

 

(i) the applicant; or 
 

(ii) a member of the applicant’s family, 
 

who has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit. 
 

(2) Where the condition in sub-paragraph (1) ceases to be satisfied because of the 
death of a child or young person, the condition is that the applicant or partner is entitled 
to child benefit in respect of that person under section 145A of the SSCBA (entitlement 
after death of child or qualifying young person). 

 

(3) The condition is not satisfied if the person to whom sub-paragraph (1) refers is— 
 

(a) an applicant who— 
 

(i) is not a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage; and 

163



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 108 of 141 
 

 

(ii) is a patient within the meaning of paragraph 64(11)(e) (treatment of child 
care charges) and has been for a period of more than 52 weeks; or 

 

(b) a member of a couple or a polygamous marriage where each member is a patient 
within the meaning of paragraph 64(11)(e) and has been for a period of more than 52 
weeks. 

 
Disabled child premium 

 

13. The condition is that a child or young person for whom the applicant or a partner 
of his is responsible and who is a member of the applicant’s household— 

 

(a) is in receipt of disability living allowance or personal independence payment or 
is no longer in receipt of such allowance because he is a patient, provided that the child 
or young person continues to be a member of the family; or 

 

(b) is blind or treated as blind within the meaning of paragraph 10; or 
 

(c) is a child or young person in respect of whom section 145A of the SSCBA 
(entitlement after death of child or qualifying young person) applies for the purposes of 
entitlement to child benefit but only for the period prescribed under that section, and in 
respect of whom a disabled child premium was included in the applicant’s applicable 
amount immediately before the death of that child or young person, or ceased to be 
included in the applicant’s applicable amount because of that child or young person’s 
death. 

 
Carer premium 

 

14. (1) The condition is that the applicant or his partner is, or both of them are, 
entitled to a carer’s allowance under section 70 of the SSCBA. 

 

(2) Where a carer premium is awarded but— 
 

(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded dies; 
or 

 

(b) in any other case the person in respect of whom a carer premium has been 
awarded ceases to be entitled to a carer’s allowance, 

 

the condition for the award of the premium is to be treated as satisfied for a period of 
eight weeks from the relevant date specified in sub-paragraph (3). 

 

(3) The relevant date for the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) is— 
 

(a) where sub-paragraph (2)(a) applies, the Sunday following the death of the 
person in respect of whose care a carer’s allowance has been awarded or the date of 
death if the death occurred on a Sunday; 

 

(b) in any other case, the date on which the person who has been entitled to a 
carer’s allowance ceases to be entitled to that allowance. 

 

(4) Where a person who has been entitled to a carer’s allowance ceases to be 
entitled to that allowance and makes an application for a reduction, the condition for 
the award of the carer premium is to be treated as satisfied for a period of eight weeks 
from the date on which— 

 

(a) the person in respect of whose care the carer’s allowance has been awarded dies; 
or 

 

(b) in any other case, the person who has been entitled to a carer’s allowance 
ceased to be entitled to that allowance. 

 
 
 
 
 

164



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 109 of 141 
 

 
Persons in receipt of concessionary payments 

 

15. For  the  purpose  of  determining  whether  a  premium  is  applicable  to  a 
person  under paragraphs 10 to 14 of this Schedule, any concessionary payment made 
to compensate that person for the non-payment of any benefit mentioned in those 
paragraphs is to be treated as if it were a payment of that benefit. 

 
Persons in receipt of benefit for another 

 

16. For the purposes of this Part of this Schedule, a person is to be regarded as being 
in receipt of any benefit if, and only if, it is paid in respect of him and is to be so 
regarded only for any period in respect of which that benefit is paid. 

 
Part 4 - Amounts of premiums specified in Part 3 

 
 
17. Premium Amount 

 

(1) Disability Premium— 
 

(a) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 9(a); 

 

(b) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 9(b). 

(1) 
 

(a)   £36.20 
 
 
(c) £51.60 

 
(2) Severe Disability Premium 

 

(a) where the applicant satisfies 
the condition in paragraph 11(2)(a); 

 

(b) where the applicant satisfies the 
condition in paragraph 11(2)(b)— 

 

(i) in a case where there is 
someone in receipt of a carer’s 
allowance or  if  he  or  any 
partner  satisfies that condition 
only by virtue of paragraph 11(5); 

 

(ii) in a case where there is no-one 
in receipt of such an allowance 

 
 

(3) Disabled Child Premium 
 
 
 
 
 

(4) Carer Premium 
 
 
 
 

(2) 
 

(a)  £69.40 
 
 
 
 
 
(b)(i)   £69.40 

 
 
 
 
(b)(ii)   £138.80 
 
 
 
 

(5) £68.04 in respect of each child or Young 
person in respect of whom the condition 
specified in paragraph 13 of Part 3 of this 
Schedule is satisfied 

 
 
(4) £38.85 in respect of each person 
who satisfies the condition specified in 
paragraph 14. 

165



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 110 of 141 
 

 

(5) Enhanced Disability Premium (5) 
 

(a) £27.44 in respect of each child or 
young person in respect of whom the 
conditions specified in paragraph 12 are 
satisfied 

 

(b)  £17.75 in respect of each person who 
is neither - 

 
(i) a child or a young person; nor 

 

(ii) a member of a couple or a 
polygamous marriage, 

 

In respect of whom the conditions 
specified in paragraph 12 are satisfied 

 

(c)  £25.35 where the applicant is a 
member of a couple or a polygamous 
marriage and the conditions specified in 
paragraph 12 are satisfied in respect of a 
member of that couple or polygamous 
marriage 

 
 

Part 5 - The Components 
 
18. Subject to paragraph 20 of this Schedule the applicant is entitled to one, but not 
both, of the components in paragraph 21 or 22 of this Schedule if— 

 

(a) the applicant or the applicant’s partner has made a claim for employment and 
support allowance; 

 

(b) the Secretary of State has decided that the applicant or the applicant’s partner 
has, or is to be treated as having, limited capability for work or limited capability for 
work-related activity; and 

 

(c) either— 
 

(i) the assessment phase as defined in section 24(2) of the Welfare Reform 
Act has ended; or 

 

(ii) regulation 7 of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations  
2008 (circumstances where the condition that the assessment phase has ended 
before entitlement to the support component or the work related activity 
component arises does not apply) applies. 

 

19. Subject to paragraph 20, the applicant is entitled to one, but not both, of the 
components in paragraphs 21 and 22 if the applicant or his partner is entitled to a 
converted employment and support allowance. 

 

20. (1) The applicant has no entitlement under paragraph 21 or 22 if the applicant is 
entitled to the disability premium under paragraphs 9 and 10. 

 

(2) Where the applicant  and the applicant’s partner  each satisfies  paragraph 21 
or 22,  the component to  be included in the applicant’s  applicable  amount  is  that 
which  relates  to the applicant. 

 
 
The work-related activity component 

 

21. The applicant is entitled to the work-related activity component if the Secretary of 

166



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 111 of 141 
 

State has decided that the applicant or the applicant’s partner has, or is to be treated as 
having, limited capability for work. 

 
 
The support component 

 

22. The applicant is entitled to the support component if the Secretary of State has 
decided that the applicant or the applicant’s partner has, or is to be treated as 
having, limited capability for work-related activity. 
 
Part 6 - Amount of components 

 

23. The amount of the work-related activity component is £30.60 
 

24. The amount of the support component is £40.60 
 
 
Part 7 - Transitional Addition 

 
25. (1) The applicant is entitled to the transitional addition calculated in 
accordance with paragraph 28 where the applicant or the applicant’s partner (“the 
relevant person”)— 

 

(a) is entitled to a converted employment and support allowance; or 
 

(b) is appealing a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(b) of the 
Employment and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2008 and— 

 

(i) is treated as having limited capability for work by virtue of regulation 30 of the 
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 as modified by the 
Employment and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit 
and Council Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2008; and 
(ii) is not in receipt of an income-related employment and support allowance, 

unless the amount of the transitional addition calculated in accordance with 
paragraph 28 would be nil. 

 

(2) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends 
on any of the following— 

 

(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29; 
 

(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of reduction under this scheme; 
 

(c) the relevant person ceasing to meet the requirements of sub-paragraph (1)(a) or 
(b), as the case may be; 

 

(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an  income- 
related employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or 
income support; 

 

(e) 5th April 2020. 
 

26. (1) This paragraph applies where— 
 

(a) the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the 
termination of the applicant’s award of reduction, under— 

 

(i) paragraph 25(2)(b); 
 

(ii) paragraph (3)(b); or 
 

(iii) paragraph 27(3)(b). 
 

(b) within 12 weeks of that termination but before 5th April 2020 the applicant 

167



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 112 of 141 
 

again becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme; 
 

(c) in the reduction week in which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction 
under this scheme the relevant person is entitled to an employment and support 
allowance which is not income-related; and 

 

(d) at the date on which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction 
under this scheme, neither the applicant nor the applicant’s partner is entitled to an 
income-related employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance or income support. 

 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day on 
which the applicant again becomes entitled to a reduction under this scheme, to a 
transitional addition of the amount of the transitional addition that would have applied 
had the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition not ended (but taking account 
of the effect which any intervening change of circumstances would have had by virtue 
of paragraph 29, unless the amount of the transitional addition would be nil. 

 

(3) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends 
on any of the following— 

 

(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29; 
 

(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of a reduction under this scheme; 
 

(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support 
allowance referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c); 

 

(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an  income- 
related employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or 
income support; 

 

(e) 5th April 2020. 
 

27. (1) This paragraph applies where— 
 

(a) the applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition ends, by virtue of the relevant 
person ceasing to be entitled to an employment and support allowance, under— 

 

(i) paragraph 25(2)(c); 
 

(ii) paragraph 26(3)(c); or 
 

(iii) paragraph (3)(c); 
 

(b) before 5th April 2020 the relevant person again becomes entitled to an 
employment and support allowance which is not income-related; 

 

(c) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an 
employment support allowance which is not income-related regulation 145(1) of the 
Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 2008 applies to the relevant person; 
and 

 

(d) at the date on which the relevant person again becomes entitled to an employment 
support allowance which is not income-related, neither the applicant nor the applicant’s 
partner is entitled to an income-related employment and support allowance, an income- 
based jobseeker’s allowance or income support. 

 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, the applicant is entitled, with effect from the day 
that the relevant person’s entitlement to employment and support allowance takes 
effect for the purposes of a reduction under this scheme, to a transitional addition  
of the amount of the transitional addition that would have applied had the 
applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition not ended (but taking account of the 
effect which any intervening change of circumstances would have had by virtue of 
paragraph 29, unless the amount of the transitional addition would be nil. 

 

168



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 113 of 141 
 

(3) The applicant’s entitlement to a transitional addition by virtue of this paragraph ends 
on any of the following— 

 

(a) the reduction of the transitional addition to nil in accordance with paragraph 29; 
 

(b) the termination of the applicant’s award of a reduction under this scheme; 
 

(c) the relevant person no longer being entitled to the employment and support 
allowance referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b); 

 

(d) the applicant or the applicant’s partner becoming entitled to an i n c o m e - 
related employment and support allowance, an income-based jobseeker’s allowance or 
income support; 

 

(e) 5th April 2020. 
 
 
Part 8 - Amount of Transitional Addition 

 
28. (1) Subject to paragraph 29, the amount of the transitional addition is the amount 
by which Amount A exceeds Amount B. 

 

(2) Where a conversion decision as described in regulation 5(2)(a) of the 
Employment and Support Allowance (Transitional Provisions, Housing Benefit and 
Council Tax Benefit) (Existing Awards) (No. 2) Regulations 2010 (“the 2010 
Regulations”) is made in respect of the relevant person - 

 

(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day that 
decision took effect had that decision not been made; and 

 

(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of that decision. 
 

(3) Where the relevant person is appealing a conversion decision as described in 
regulation 5(2)(b) of the 2010 Regulations and is treated as having limited capability 
for work by virtue of regulation 30 of the Employment and Support Allowance 
Regulations 2008 as modified by the 2010 Regulations— 

 

(a) Amount A is the basic amount that would have applied on the day the relevant 
person was first treated as having limited capability for work if the relevant person had 
not been so treated; and 

 

(b) Amount B is the basic amount that applied on that day as a result of the relevant 
person being so treated. 

 

(4) In this paragraph and paragraph 29, “basic amount” means the aggregate of such 
amounts as may apply in the applicant’s case in accordance with paragraph 
44(1)(a) to (e) or paragraph 45(1)(a) to (f) . 

 

29. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), where there is a change of circumstances which 
leads to an increase in the applicant’s basic amount, the transitional addition that 
applies immediately before the change of circumstances must be reduced by the 
amount by which Amount C exceeds Amount D. 

 

(2) If Amount C exceeds Amount D by more than the amount of the transitional 
addition that applies immediately before the change of circumstances, that transitional 
addition must be reduced to nil. 

 

(3) Amount C is the basic amount that applies as a result of the increase. 
 

(4) Amount D is the basic amount that applied immediately before the increase. 

169



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 114 of 141 
 

 
 
 

SCHEDULE 2106 - Sums disregarded in the calculation of 
earnings 

 

1. In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work as an 
employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain, would have been so 
engaged— 

 

(a) where— 
 

(i) the employment has been terminated because of retirement; and 
 

(ii) on retirement he is entitled to a retirement pension under the Act, or is not 
so entitled solely because of his failure to satisfy the contribution conditions, 

 

any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment, but only for a period 
commencing on the day immediately after the date on which the employment was 
terminated; 

 

(b) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme the 
employment has been terminated otherwise than because of retirement, any earnings 
paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except— 

 

(i) any payment of the nature described in— 
(aa) paragraph 57(1)(e) (retainer), or 

(bb) section 28, 64 or 68 of the Employment Rights  Act 1996 
(guarantee payments, suspension from work on medical or maternity 
grounds); and 

 

(ii) any award, sum or payment of the nature described in— 
 

(aa) paragraph 57(1)(g) or (i), (compensation etc. relating to 
employment); or 

 

(bb) section 34 or 70 of the Employment Rights Act 1996 (guarantee 
payments and suspension from work: complaints to employment 
tribunals), 

 

including  any  payment  made  following  the  settlement  of  a  complaint  to  an 
employment tribunal or of court proceedings; 

 

(c) where before the first day of entitlement to a reduction under this scheme— 
 

(i) the employment has not been terminated, but 
 

(ii) the applicant is not engaged in remunerative work, 
 

any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except any payment 
or remuneration of the nature described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) of this Schedule 
or paragraph 57(1)(j) (statutory sick pay etc.); 

 

2. In the case of an applicant who, before the first day of entitlement to a reduction 
under this scheme— 

 

(a) has been engaged in part-time employment as an employed earner or, where the 
employment has been outside Great Britain, would have been so engaged had the 
employment been in Great Britain; and 

 

(b) has ceased to be engaged in that employment, whether or not that employment 
 
 
 

106 Sch 7, SI 2012/2886 

170



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 115 of 141 
 

 
 
has been terminated, 

 

any earnings paid or due to be paid in respect of that employment except— 
 

(i) where that employment has been terminated, any payment of the nature 
described in paragraph 1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) of this Schedule; 

 

(ii) where that employment has not been terminated, any payment or 
remuneration of the nature  described  in  paragraph  1(b)(i) or (ii)(bb) of  this 
Schedule or paragraph 57(1)(j). 

 

3. In the case of an applicant who has been engaged in remunerative work or part-time 
employment as a self-employed earner or, had the employment been in Great Britain, 
would have been so engaged and who has ceased to be so employed, from the date of 
the cessation of his employment, any earnings derived from that employment except 
earnings to which paragraph 59(3) and (4) (earnings of self-employed earners) apply. 

 

4. (1) In a case to which this paragraph applies and paragraph 5 does not apply, £20; 
but notwithstanding paragraph 50 (calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family 
and polygamous marriages) if this paragraph applies to an applicant it shall not apply to 
his partner except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the applicant which are 
to be disregarded under this paragraph are less than £20. 

 

(2) This paragraph applies where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an amount 
by way of the disability premium, severe disability premium, work-related activity 
component or support component under Schedule 1 (applicable amounts). 

 

(3) This paragraph applies where— 
 

(a) the applicant is a member of a couple and his applicable amount includes an 
amount by way of the disability premium under Schedule 1; and 

 

(b) he or his partner has not attained the qualifying age for state pension credit and at 
least one is engaged in employment. 

 

5. In a case where the applicant is a lone parent, £25. 
 

6. (1) In a case to which neither paragraph 4 nor paragraph 5 applies to the applicant 
and, subject to sub-paragraph (2), where the applicant’s applicable amount includes an 
amount by way of the carer premium under Schedule 1 (applicable amounts), £20 of 
the earnings of the person who is, or at any time in the preceding eight weeks was, in 
receipt of carer’s allowance or treated in accordance with paragraph 14(2) of that 
Schedule as being in receipt of carer’s allowance. 

 

(2) Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of the applicant and of any 
partner of his, their earnings must for the purposes of this paragraph be aggregated, 
but the amount to be disregarded in accordance with sub-paragraph (1) must not 
exceed £20 of the aggregated amount. 

 

7. Where the carer premium is awarded in respect of an applicant who is a member of 
a couple and whose earnings are less than £25, but is not awarded in respect of the 
other member of the couple, and that other member is engaged in an employment— 

 

(a) specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member’s earnings as would not 
when aggregated with the amount disregarded under paragraph 6 exceed £20; 

 

(b) other than one specified in paragraph 9(1), so much of the other member’s 
earnings from such other employment up to £10 as would not when aggregated with 
the amount disregarded under paragraph 6 exceed £20. 

 

8. In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant and he is one 
of a couple and a member of that couple is in employment, £10; but, notwithstanding 
paragraph 50 (calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family and polygamous 

171



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 116 of 141 
 

marriages), if this paragraph applies to an applicant it must not apply to his partner 
except where, and to the extent that, the earnings of the applicant which are to be 
disregarded under this paragraph are less than £10. 

 

9. (1) In a case where paragraphs 4, 6, 7 and 9 do not apply to the applicant, £20 of 
earnings derived from one or more employments as— 

 

(a) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority constituted by a 
scheme under section 2 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 or a scheme to 
which section 4 of that Act applies; 

 

(b) a part-time fire-fighter employed by a fire and rescue authority (as defined in 
section 1A of the Fire (Scotland) Act 2005) or a joint fire and rescue board constituted 
by an amalgamation scheme made under section 2(1) of that Act; 

 

(c) an auxiliary coastguard in respect of coast rescue activities; 
 

(d) a person engaged part-time in the manning or launching of a life boat; 
 

(e) a member of any territorial or reserve force prescribed in Part I of Schedule 6 to 
the Social Security (Contributions) Regulations 2001; 

 

but, notwithstanding paragraph 50 (calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family 
and polygamous marriages), if this paragraph applies to an applicant it shall not apply  
to his partner except to the extent specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

 

(2) If the applicant’s partner is engaged in employment— 
 

(a) specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings as would not in aggregate 
with the amount of the applicant’s earnings disregarded under this paragraph exceed 
£20; 

 

(b) other than one specified in sub-paragraph (1), so much of his earnings from that 
employment  up to £10 as  would  not  in aggregate with  the applicant’s  earnings 
disregarded under this paragraph exceed £20. 

 

10. Where the applicant is engaged in one or more employments specified in paragraph 
9(1), but his earnings derived from such employments are less than £20 in any week 
and he is also engaged in any other employment, so much of his earnings from that 
other employment, up to £5 if he is a single applicant, or up to £10 if he has a partner, 
as would not in aggregate with the amount of his earnings disregarded under paragraph 
9 exceed £20. 

 

11. In a case to which none of the paragraphs 4 to 10 applies, £5. 
 

12. (1) Where— 
 

(a) the applicant (or if the applicant is a member of a couple, at least one member 
of that couple) is a person to whom sub-paragraph (5) applies; 

 

(b) the Secretary of State is satisfied that that person is undertaking exempt work as 
defined in sub-paragraph (6); and 

 

(c) paragraph 14 does not apply, 
 

the amount specified in sub-paragraph (7) (“the specified amount”). 
 

(2) Where this paragraph applies, paragraphs 4 to 11 do not apply; but in any case 
where the applicant is a lone parent, and the specified amount would be less than the 
amount specified in paragraph 5, then paragraph 5 applies instead of this paragraph. 

 

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph 50 (calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family 
and polygamous marriages), if sub-paragraph (1) applies to one member of a couple 
(“A”) it does not apply to the other member of that couple (“B”) except to the extent 
provided in sub-paragraph (4). 

172



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 117 of 141 
 

 
 
(4) Where A’s earnings are less than the specified amount, there must also be 
disregarded so much of B’s earnings as would not when aggregated with A’s earnings 
exceed the specified amount; but the amount of B’s earnings which may be 
disregarded under this sub-paragraph is limited to a maximum of £20 unless the 
Secretary of State is satisfied that B is also undertaking exempt work. 

 

(5) This sub-paragraph applies to a person who is— 
 

(a) in receipt of a contributory employment and support allowance; 
 

(b) in receipt of incapacity benefit; 
 

(c) in receipt of severe disablement allowance; or 
 

(d) being credited with earnings on the grounds of incapacity for work or limited 
capability for work under regulation 8B of the Social Security (Credits) Regulations 
1975. 

 

(6) “Exempt work” means work of the kind described in— 
 

(a) regulation 45(2), (3) or (4) of the Employment and Support Allowance Regulations 
2008; or (as the case may be) 

 

(b) regulation 17(2), (3) or (4) of the Social Security (Incapacity for Work) (General) 
Regulations 1995, 

 

and, in determining for the purposes of this paragraph whether an applicant or a 
member of a couple is undertaking any type of exempt work, it is immaterial 
whether that person or their partner is also undertaking other work. 

 

(7) The specified amount is the amount of money from time to time mentioned in any 
provision referred to in sub-paragraph (6) by virtue of which the work referred to in sub- 
paragraph (1) is exempt (or, where more than one such provision is relevant and those 
provisions mention different amounts of money, the highest of those amounts). 

 

13. Any  amount  or  the  balance  of  any  amount  which  would  fall  to  be 
disregarded  under paragraph 23 or 24 of Schedule 3 had the applicant’s income which 
does not consist of earnings been sufficient to entitle him to the full disregard 
thereunder. 

 

14. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance, his earnings. 

 

15. Any earnings derived from employment, which are payable in a country outside 
the United Kingdom for such period during which there is a prohibition against the 
transfer to the United Kingdom of those earnings. 

 

16. Where a payment of earnings is made in a currency other than Sterling, any 
banking charge or commission payable in converting that payment into Sterling. 

 

17. Any earnings of a child or young person. 
 

18. (1) In a case where the applicant is a person who satisfies at least one of the 
conditions set out in sub-paragraph (2), and his net earnings equal or exceed the total 
of the amounts set out in sub-paragraph (3), the amount of his earnings that falls to be 
disregarded under paragraphs 4 to 12 must be increased by £17.10. 

 

(2) The conditions of this sub-paragraph are that— 
(aa)    the applicant is not a working-age individual (or partner) who have been assessed 
by the Secretary for State for Work and Pensions (DWP) for Universal Credit; or 

 

(a) the applicant, or if he is a member of a couple, either the applicant or his 
partner, is a person to whom regulation 20(1)(c) of the Working Tax Credit 
(Entitlement  and Maximum Rate) Regulations 2002 applies; or 

173



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 118 of 141 
 

 

(b) the applicant— 
(i) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is 
aged at least 25 and is engaged in remunerative work for on average not less 
than 30 hours per week; or 

 

(ii) is a member of a couple and— 
 

(aa) at least one member of that couple, is engaged in 
remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; and 

 

(bb) his  applicable  amount  includes  a  family  premium  under 
paragraph 4 of Schedule 1; or 

 

(iii) is a lone parent who is engaged in remunerative work for on average not 
less than 16 hours per week; or 

 

(iv) is, or if he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that couple is 
engaged in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 hours per week; 
and— 

 

(aa) the  applicant’s  applicable  amount  includes  a  disability 
premium  under paragraph 9, the work-related activity component under 
paragraph 21 or the support component under paragraph 22 of Schedule 
1 respectively; 

 

(bb) where he is a member of a couple, at least one member of that 
couple satisfies the qualifying conditions for the disability premium or 
either of the components referred to in sub-paragraph (aa) above and 
is   engaged  in remunerative work for on average not less than 16 
hours per week; or 

 

(c) the applicant is, or if he has a partner, one of them is, a person to whom 
regulation 18(3) of  the  Working  Tax  Credit  (Entitlement  and  Maximum  Rate) 
Regulations  2002 (eligibility for 50 plus element) applies, or would apply if an 
application for working tax credit were to be made in his case. 

 

(3) The following are the amounts referred to in sub-paragraph (1)— 
 

(a) the amount calculated as disregardable from the applicant’s earnings under 
paragraphs 4 to 12 of this Schedule; 

 

(b) the amount of child care charges calculated as deductible under paragraph 
63(1)(c) ; and 

 

(c)   £17.10 
 

(4) The provisions of paragraph 10 (remunerative work) is to apply in determining 
whether or not a person works for on average not less than 30 hours per week, but as 
if the reference to 16 hours in sub-paragraph (1) of that paragraph were a reference to 
30 hours. 

 

19. In this Schedule “part-time employment” means employment in which the person is 
engaged on average for less than 16 hours a week. 

174



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 119 of 141 
 

 
 

SCHEDULE 3107 - Sums disregarded in the calculation of income 
other than earnings 

 

1. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any childc a r e , travel or other 
expenses incurred, or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the 
Work for Your Benefit Pilot Scheme. 

 

2. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses 
incurred, or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory Work 
Activity Scheme. 

 

3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses 
incurred, or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in a scheme 
prescribed in regulation 3 of the Jobseekers Allowance (Schemes for Assisting 
Persons to Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013. 

 

4. Any amount paid by way of tax on income which is to be taken into account under 
paragraph 60 (calculation of income other than earnings). 

 

5. Any payment in respect of any expenses incurred or to be incurred by an applicant 
who is— 

 

(a) engaged by a charitable or voluntary organisation, or 
 

(b) a volunteer, 
 

if he otherwise derives no remuneration or profit from the employment and is not to be 
treated as possessing any earnings under paragraph 62(5) (notional income). 

 

6. Any payment in respect of expenses arising out of the applicant’s participation in a 
service user group. 

 

7. In the case of employment as an employed earner, any payment in respect of 
expenses wholly, exclusively and necessarily incurred in the performance of the duties 
of the employment. 

 

8. Where an applicant is on income support, an income-based jobseeker’s 
allowance or an income-related employment and support allowance, the whole of his 
income. 

 

9. Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the 
Jobseekers Act and his partner is on an income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the 
whole of the applicant’s income. 

 

10. Where the applicant, or the person who was the partner of the applicant on 31st 
March 2003, was entitled on that date to income support or an income-based 
jobseeker’s allowance but ceased to be so entitled on or before 5th April 2003 by virtue 
only of regulation 13 of the Housing Benefit (General) Amendment (No. 3) Regulations 
1999 as in force at that date, the whole of his income. 

 

11. Any disability living allowance or personal independence payment, or an AFIP. 
 

12. Any concessionary payment made to compensate for the non-payment of— 
 

(a) any payment specified in paragraph 11 or 14; 
 

(b) income support; 
 

(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
 

(d) an income-related employment and support allowance. 
 

13. Any mobility supplement under article 20 of the Naval, Military and Air 
 

107 Sch 8, SI 2012/2886 

175



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 120 of 141 
 

 
 
Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (including such a 
supplement by virtue of any other scheme or order) or under article 25A of the 
Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 or any payment intended to compensate for 
the non-payment of such a supplement. 

 

14. Any attendance allowance. 
 

15. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or of the George 
Cross or any analogous payment. 

 

16. (1) Any payment— 
 

(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to— 
 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996 (payment 
of school expenses; grant of scholarships etc.); 

 

(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) 
Act 1980 (power to assist persons to take advantage of educational facilities); 

 

(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 
and paid under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) 
Act 1992; 

 

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to— 
 

(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of 
State and the Welsh Ministers to give financial assistance for purposes related 
to education or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 

 

(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 
 

(c) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the 
Education Act 2002. 

 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made 
pursuant to— 

 

(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
 

(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
 

(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 

 

in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who 
is in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to 
any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

 

17. Not used. 
 

18. (1) Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act or section 2 of the 
Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990 except a payment— 

 

(a) made as a substitute for income support, a jobseeker’s allowance, incapacity 
benefit, severe disablement allowance or an employment and support allowance; 

 

(b) of an allowance referred to in section 2(3) of the Employment and Training Act 
1973 or section 2(5) of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990; or 

 

(c) intended to meet the cost of living expenses which relate to any one or more of the 
items specified in sub-paragraph (2) whilst an applicant is participating in an education, 
training or other scheme to help him enhance his employment prospects unless the 
payment is a Career Development Loan paid pursuant to section 2 of the 1973 Act and 
the period of education or training or the scheme, which is supported by that loan, has 

176



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 121 of 141 
 

 
 
been completed. 

 

(2) The items specified in this sub-paragraph for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1)(c) 
are food, ordinary clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where 
the applicant is a member of a family, any other member of his family, or any  
council tax or water charges for which that applicant or member is liable. 

 

19. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any of the following payments— 
 

(a) a charitable payment; 
 

(b) a voluntary payment; 
 

(c) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraph (a) or (b) above) from a trust whose 
funds are derived from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the 
applicant; 

 

(d) a payment under an annuity purchased— 
 

(i) pursuant to any agreement or court order to make payments to the applicant; 
or 

 

(ii) from funds derived from a payment made, 
 

in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant; or 
 

(e) a payment (not falling within sub-paragraphs (a) to (d)) received by virtue of any 
agreement or court order to make payments to the applicant in consequence of any 
personal injury to the applicant. 

 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) does not apply to a payment which is made or due to be made 
by— 

 

(a) a former partner of the applicant, or a former partner of any member of the 
applicant’s family; or 

 

(b) the parent of a child or young person where that child or young person is a 
member of the applicant’s family. 

 

20. Any of the following, namely— 
 

(a) a war disablement pension; and 
 

(b) a war widow’s pension or war widower’s pension; 
 

(c) a pension payable to a person as a widow, widower or surviving civil partner 
under any power of Her Majesty otherwise than under an enactment to make provision 
about pensions for or in respect of persons who have been disabled or have died in 
consequence of service as members of the armed forces of the Crown; 

 

(d) a guaranteed income payment; 
 

(e) a payment made to compensate for the non-payment of such a pension or 
payment as is mentioned in any of the preceding sub-paragraphs; 

 

(f) a pension paid by the government of a country outside Great Britain which is 
analogous to any of the pensions or payments mentioned in sub-paragraphs (a) to (d) 
above; 

 

(g) pension paid to victims of National Socialist persecution under any special 
provision made by the law of the Federal Republic of Germany, or any part of it, or of 
the Republic of Austria. 

 

21. Subject to paragraph 40, £15 of any— 
 

(a) widowed mother’s allowance paid pursuant to section 37 of the SSCBA; 

177



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 122 of 141 
 

 
 
(b) widowed parent’s allowance paid pursuant to section 39A of the SSCBA. 

 

22. (1) Any income derived from capital to which the applicant is or is treated under 
paragraph 75 (capital jointly held) as beneficially entitled but, subject to sub- 
paragraph (2), not income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 4, 5, 7, 
11, 17 or 30 to 33 of Schedule 4. 

 

(2) Income derived from capital disregarded under paragraphs 5, 7 or 30 to 33 of 
Schedule 4 but only to the extent of— 

 

(a) any mortgage repayments made in respect of the dwelling or premises in the 
period during which that income accrued; or 

 

(b) any council tax or water charges which the applicant is liable to pay in respect of 
the dwelling or premises and which are paid in the period during which that income 
accrued. 

 

(3) The definition of “water charges” in paragraph 2(1) (interpretation) applies to sub- 
paragraph (2) of this paragraph with the omission of the words “in so far as such 
charges are in respect of the dwelling which a person occupies as his home”. 

 

23. Where the applicant makes a parental contribution in respect of a student 
attending a course at an establishment in the United Kingdom or undergoing 
education in the United Kingdom, which contribution has been assessed for the 
purposes of calculating— 

 

(a) under, or pursuant to regulations made under powers conferred by section 22 of 
the Teaching and Higher Education Act 1998, that student’s award; 

 

(b) under  regulations  made  in  exercise  of  the  powers  conferred  by  section  49 
of  the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, that student’s bursary, scholarship, or other 
allowance under that section or under regulations made in exercise of the powers 
conferred by section 73 of that Act of 1980, any payment to that student under that 
section; or 

 

(c) the student’s student loan, 
 

an amount equal to the weekly amount of that parental contribution, but only in respect 
of the period for which that contribution is assessed as being payable. 

 

24. (1) Where the applicant is the parent of a student aged under 25 in advanced 
education who either— 

 

(a) is not in receipt of any award, grant or student loan in respect of that education; or 
 

(b) is in receipt of an award bestowed by virtue of the Teaching and Higher Education 
Act 1998, or regulations made thereunder, or a bursary, scholarship or other 
allowance under section 49(1) of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980, or a payment 
under section 73 of that Act of 1980, 

 

and the applicant makes payments by way of a contribution towards the student’s 
maintenance, other than a parental contribution falling  within  paragraph  23 an 
amount specified in sub-paragraph (2) in respect of each week during the student’s 
term. 

 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1), the amount must be equal to— 
 

(a) the weekly amount of the payments; or 
 

(b) the amount by way of a personal allowance for a single applicant under 25 
less the weekly amount of any award, bursary, scholarship, allowance or payment 
referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(b), 

178



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 123 of 141 
 

 
 
whichever is less. 

 

25. Any payment made to the applicant by a child or young person or a non-dependant. 
 

26. Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and the dwelling is also 
occupied by a person other than one to whom paragraph 25 or 27 refers and there is a 
contractual liability to make payments to the applicant in respect of the occupation of 
the dwelling by that person or a member of his family— 

 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in  
respect of the occupation of the dwelling by that person or a member of his family, or 
by that person and a member of his family, is less than £20, the whole of that amount; 
or 

 

(b) where the aggregate of any such payments is £20 or more per week, £20. 
 

27. Where the applicant occupies a dwelling as his home and he provides in that 
dwelling board and lodging accommodation, an amount, in respect of each person for 
which such accommodation is provided for the whole or any part of a week, equal to— 

 

(a) where the aggregate of any payments made in respect of any one week in respect 
of such accommodation provided to such person does not exceed £20, 100 per cent of 
such payments; 

 

(b) where the aggregate of any such payments exceeds £20, £20 and 50 per cent of 
the excess over £20. 

 

28. (1) Any income in kind, except where article 60(11)(b) (provision of support under 
section 95 or 98 of the Immigration and Asylum Act 1999 in the calculation of income 
other than earnings) applies. 

 

(2) The reference in sub-paragraph (1) to “income in kind” does not include a payment 
to a third party made in respect of the applicant, which is used by the third party to 
provide benefits in kind to the applicant. 

 

29. Any income which is payable in a country outside the United Kingdom for such 
period during which there is a prohibition against the transfer to the United Kingdom of 
that income. 

 

30. (1) Any payment made to the applicant in respect of a person who is a member 
of his family— 

 

(a) pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002 or in accordance or with a scheme approved by the Scottish 
Ministers under section 71 of the Adoption and Children (Scotland) Act 2007 
(schemes for payments of allowances to adopters) or in accordance with an 
adoption allowance scheme made under section 71 of the Adoption and Children 
(Scotland) Act 2007 (adoption allowances schemes); 

 

(b) which is a payment made by a local authority in pursuance of section 15(1) of, and 
paragraph 15 of Schedule 1 to, the Children Act 1989 (local authority contribution to a 
child’s maintenance where the child is living with a person as a result of a 
residence order) or in Scotland section 50 of the Children Act 1975 (payments towards 
maintenance of children); 

 

(c) which  is  a payment  made  by  an  authority,  as  defined in  Article 2  of  the 
Children (Northern Ireland) Order 1995, in pursuance of Article 15 of, and paragraph 17 
of Schedule 1 to, that Order (contribution by an authority to child’s maintenance); 

 

(d) in accordance with regulations made pursuant to section 14F of the Children Act 
1989 (special guardianship support services); 

 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, 

179



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 124 of 141 
 

 
 
made to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 or 4 of the 
Adoption and Children Act 2002. 

 

31. Any payment made to the applicant with whom a person is accommodated by virtue 
of arrangements made— 

 

(a) by a local authority under— 
 

(i) section  23(2)(a)  of  the  Children Act  1989 (provision  of  accommodation 
and maintenance for a child whom they are looking after), 

 

(ii) section 26 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (manner  of provision of 
accommodation to child looked after by local authority), or 

 

(iii) regulations 33 or 51 of the Looked After Children (Scotland) Regulations 
2009 (fostering and kinship care allowances and fostering allowances); or 

 

(b) by a voluntary organisation under section 59(1)(a) of the Children Act 1989 
(provision of accommodation by voluntary organisations). 

 

32. Any payment made to the applicant or his partner for a person (“the person 
concerned”), who is not normally a member of the applicant’s household but is 
temporarily in his care, by— 

 

(a) a health authority; 
 

(b) a local authority but excluding payments of housing benefit made in respect of the 
person concerned; 

 

(c) a voluntary organisation; 
 

(d) the person concerned pursuant to section 26(3A) of the National Assistance Act 
1948; 

 

(e) a clinical commissioning group established under Section 10 of the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012; or 

 

(f) a Local Health Board established under section 11 of the National Health Service 
(Wales) Act 2006. 

 

33. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 23B, 23C  
or 24A of the Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the Social Work 
(Scotland) Act 1968 or section 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 
(provision of services for children and their families and advice and assistance to  
certain children). 

 

34. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by 
a local authority in accordance with section 23C of the Children Act 1989 or section 29 
of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote welfare of 
children and powers to grant financial assistance to persons in, or formerly in, their 
care) to a person (“A”) which A passes on to the applicant. 

 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A— 
 

(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
 

(b) is aged 18 or over, and 
 

(c) continues to live with the applicant. 
 

35. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment received under an insurance 
policy taken out to insure against the risk of being unable to maintain repayments— 

 

(a) on a loan which is secured on the dwelling which the applicant occupies as his 
home; or 

180



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 125 of 141 
 

 
 
(b) under a regulated agreement as defined for the purposes of the Consumer 
Credit Act 1974) or under a hire-purchase agreement or a conditional sale agreement 
as defined for the purposes of Part 3 of the Hire-Purchase Act 1964. 

 

(2) A payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) is only to be disregarded to the extent 
that the payment received under that policy does not exceed the amounts, calculated 
on a weekly basis, which are used to— 

 

(a) maintain the repayments referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or, as the case may 
be, (1)(b); and 

 

(b) meet any amount due by way of premiums on— 
 

(i) that policy; or 
 

(ii) in a case to which sub-paragraph (1)(a) applies, an insurance policy taken 
out to insure against loss or damage to any building or part of a building which is 
occupied by the applicant as his home and which is required as a condition of 
the loan referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a). 

 

36. Any payment of income which by virtue of paragraph 70 (income treated as 
capital) is to be treated as capital. 

 

37. Any - 
 

(a) social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA (the Social Fund); or 
(b) Local Welfare Support; or 

(c) occasional assistance. 
 

38. Any payment under Part 10 of the SSCBA (Christmas bonus for pensioners). 
 

39. Where a payment of income is made in a currency other than sterling, any banking 
charge or commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 

 

40. The total of an applicant’s income or, if he is a member of a family, the family’s 
income and the income of any person which he is treated as possessing under 
paragraph  50(3) (calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family and polygamous 
marriages) to be disregarded under paragraphs 81(2)(b) and 82(1)(d) (calculation of 
covenant income where a contribution assessed, covenant income where no grant 
income or no contribution is assessed), paragraph 85(2) (treatment of student loans), 
paragraph 86(3) (treatment of payments from access funds) and paragraph 21 of this 
schedule shall in no case exceed £20 per week. 

 

41. (1) Any payment made under or by any of the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, 
MFET Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living 
Fund (2006). 

 

(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from 
haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made 
under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or 
for the benefit of— 

 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 

 

(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 

 

(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

 

181



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 126 of 141 
 

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is 
suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person 
provided that the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of 
them has died were not, estranged or divorced or, where the partner or former 
partner and that person have formed a civil partnership, the civil partnership has not 
been dissolved or, if either of them has died, had not been dissolved at the time of the 
death, which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to which sub- 
paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 

 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
 

(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 

 

(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

 

(4) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying 
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub- 
paragraph (1) refers, where— 

 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, 
nor any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; 
and 

 

(b) the payment is made either— 
 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
 

(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or 
a student who has not completed his education and has no parent or step- 
parent, to his guardian, 

 

but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from that 
person’s death. 

 

(5) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or 
who was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the 
Trusts to which sub- paragraph (1) refers, where— 

 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a 
civil partnership that has not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or 
had been a member of his family; and 

 

(b) the payment is made either— 
 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent, or 
 

(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a 
student who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or 
step-parent, to his guardian, 

 

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 
 

(6) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this 
paragraph is made, any income which derives from any payment of income or capital 
made under or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

 

(7) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts shall be 
construed as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited, 
the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation and the London Bombings Relief Charitable 
Fund. 

182



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 127 of 141 
 

 
 
42. Any housing benefit. 

 

43. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole 
or in part) of entitlement to housing benefit. 

 

44. Any payment to a juror or witness in respect of attendance at a court other than 
compensation for loss of earnings or for the loss of a benefit payable under the benefit 
Acts. 

 

45. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13 of the 
1992 Act or further reduction under section 13A of the 1992 Act (reduction of liability for 
council tax). 

 

46. (1) Any payment or repayment made— 
 

(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 
(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses 
and health service supplies); 

 

(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 

 

(c) as respects Scotland, under regulation 3, 5 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) Regulations 2003 
(travelling expenses and health service supplies). 

 

(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish 
Ministers or the Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment 
mentioned in sub-paragraph (1). 

 

47. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be 
determined by or under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security 
Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of 
those benefits (including payments made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk tokens 
or the supply of vitamins). 

 

48. Any payment made by either the Secretary of State for Justice or by the Scottish 
Ministers under a scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit 
persons in custody. 

 

49. (1) Where  an  applicant’s  applicable  amount  includes  an  amount  by  way  of 
family premium, £15 of any payment of maintenance, other than child maintenance, 
whether under a court order or not, which is made or due to be made by the applicant’s 
former partner, or the applicant’s partner’s former partner. 

 

(2) For the purpose of sub-paragraph (1) where more than one maintenance payment 
falls to be taken into account in any week, all such payments must be aggregated and 
treated as if they were a single payment. 

 

(3) A payment made by the Secretary of State in lieu of maintenance must, for the 
purpose of sub-paragraph (1), be treated as a payment of maintenance made by a 
person specified in sub- paragraph (1). 

 

50. (1) Any payment of child maintenance made or derived from a liable relative 
where the child or young person in respect of whom the payment is made is a 
member of the applicant’s family, except where the person making the payment is the 
applicant or the applicant’s partner. 
 
(2) In sub-paragraph (1)- 
 
“child maintenance” means any payment towards the maintenance of a child or young 

183



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 128 of 141 
 

person, including any payment made voluntarily and payments made under- 
(a) The Child Support Act 1991(a);  
 
(b) the Child Support (Northern Ireland) Order 1991;  
 
(c) a court order; 
 
(d) a consent order; 
 
(e) a maintenance agreement registered for execution in the Books of Council and 
Session or the sheriff court books; 

 
“liable relative” means a person listed in regulation 54 (interpretation) of the Income 
Support (General) Regulations 1987, other than a person falling within sub-paragraph (d) 
of that definition.   
 
51. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of 
State or any other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to 
assist disabled persons to obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

 

52. Any guardian’s allowance. 
 

53. (1) If the applicant is in receipt of any benefit under Part 2, 3 or 5 of the SSCBA, 
any increase in the rate of that benefit arising under Part 4 (increases for dependants) 
or section 106(a) (unemployability supplement) of that Act, where the dependant in 
respect of whom the increase is paid is not a member of the applicant’s family. 

 

(2) If the applicant is in receipt of any pension or allowance under Part 2 or 3 of the 
Naval, Military and Air Forces Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 
2006, any increase in the rate of that pension or allowance under that Order, where the 
dependant in respect of whom the increase is paid is not a member of the applicant’s 
family. 

 

54. Any supplementary pension under article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces 
Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006 (pensions to surviving 
spouses and surviving civil partners) and any analogous payment made by the 
Secretary of State for Defence to any person who is not a person entitled under that 
Order. 

 

55. In the case of a pension awarded at the supplementary rate under article 27(3) of 
the Personal Injuries (Civilians) Scheme 1983 (pensions to widows, widowers or 
surviving civil partners), the sum specified in paragraph 1(c) of Schedule 4 to that 
Scheme. 

 

56. (1) Any payment which is— 
 

(a) made under any of the Dispensing Instruments to a widow, widower or surviving 
civil partner of a person— 

 

(i) whose death was attributable to service in a capacity analogous to service 
as a member of the armed forces of the Crown; and 

 

(ii) whose service in such capacity terminated before 31st March 1973; and 
 

(b) equal to the amount specified in article 23(2) of the Naval, Military and Air Forces 
Etc. (Disablement and Death) Service Pensions Order 2006. 

 

(2) In this  paragraph “the  Dispensing Instruments” means the Order  in  Council  of 
19th December 1881, the Royal Warrant of 27th October 1884 and the Order by His 
Majesty of 14th January 1922 (exceptional grants of pay, non-effective pay and 
allowances). 

 

57. Any council tax support to which the applicant is entitled. 
 

184



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 129 of 141 
 

58. Except in a case which falls under sub-paragraph (1) of paragraph 18 of Schedule 
2, where the applicant is a person who satisfies any of the conditions of sub-paragraph 
(2) of that paragraph, any amount of working tax credit up to £17.10. 

 

59. Any payment made under section 15 of the Social Care (Self-directed Support) 
(Scotland) Act 2013, or under sections 12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 
2006 (direct payments for health care) or under regulations  made under section 57 
of  the Health  and Social Care  Act  2001 (direct payments). 

 

60. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), in respect of a person who is receiving, or who 
has received, assistance under the self-employment route, any payment to that 
person— 

 

(a) to meet expenses wholly and necessarily incurred whilst carrying on the 
commercial activity; 

 

(b) which is used or intended to be used to maintain repayments on a loan taken out 
by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity, 

 

in respect of which such assistance is or was received. 
 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only in respect of payments which are paid to that person 
from the special account. 

 

61. (1) Any payment of a sports award except to the extent that it has been made in 
respect of any one or more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

 

(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary  
clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or where the applicant is a 
member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges 
for which that applicant or member is liable. 

 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals or 
other special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the person 
in the sport in respect of which the award was made. 

 

62. Where the amount of subsistence allowance paid to a person in a reduction week 
exceeds the amount of income-based jobseeker’s allowance that person would have 
received in that reduction week had it been payable to him, less 50p, that excess 
amount. 

 

63. In the case of  an applicant  participating in  an employment  zone  programme, 
any discretionary payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, 
being a fee, grant, loan or otherwise. 

 

64. Any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the 
Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001. 

 

65. (1) Any payment made by a local authority or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on 
behalf of the applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop 
or sustain the capacity of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his 
accommodation. 

 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) “local authority” includes, in England, a 
county council. 

 

66. Any payment of child benefit. 

185



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 130 of 141 
 

 
 

SCHEDULE 4108 - Capital disregards 
 

1. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any child care, travel or other 
expenses incurred, or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Work 
for Your Benefit Scheme but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the 
payment. 

 

2. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses 
incurred, or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in the Mandatory 
Work Activity Scheme but only for 52 weeks beginning with the date of receipt of the 
payment. 

 

3. Any payment made to the applicant in respect of any travel or other expenses 
incurred, or to be incurred, by him in respect of his participation in a scheme 
prescribed in regulation 3 of the Jobseekers Allowance (Schemes for Assisting 
Persons to Obtain Employment) Regulations 2013.  

 

4. The dwelling together with any garage, garden and outbuildings, normally 
occupied by the applicant as his home including any premises not so occupied which it 
is impracticable or unreasonable to sell separately, but, notwithstanding paragraph 50 
(calculation of income and capital of members of applicant’s family and of a 
polygamous marriage), only one dwelling shall be disregarded under this paragraph. 

 

5. Any premises acquired for occupation by the applicant, which he intends to 
occupy as his home within 26 weeks of the date of acquisition or such longer period as 
is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the applicant to obtain possession and 
commence occupation of the premises. 

 

6. Any sum directly attributable to the proceeds of sale of any premises formerly 
occupied by the applicant as his home which is to be used for the purchase of other 
premises intended for such occupation within 26 weeks of the date of sale or such 
longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the applicant to complete 
the purchase. 

 

7. Any premises occupied in whole or in part— 
 

(a) by a partner or relative of a single applicant or any member of the family as his 
home where that person has attained the qualifying age for state pension credit or is 
incapacitated; 

 

(b) by the former partner of the applicant as his home; but this provision does not 
apply where the former partner is a person from whom the applicant is estranged or 
divorced or with whom he had formed a civil partnership that has been dissolved. 

 

8. Where an applicant is on income support or an income-related employment and 
support allowance or jobseekers allowance (income based), the whole of his 
capital. 

 

9. Where the applicant is a member of a joint-claim couple for the purposes of the 
Jobseekers Act 1995 and his partner is on income-based jobseeker’s allowance, the 
whole of the applicant’s capital 

 

10. Any future interest in property of any kind, other than land or premises in respect of 
which the applicant has granted a subsisting lease or tenancy, including sub-leases or 
sub-tenancies. 

 
11. (1) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant and for 
the purposes of which he is engaged as a self-employed earner, or if he has ceased to 
be so engaged, for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to allow for 
disposal of any such asset. 

 
108 Sch 10, SI 2012/2886 

186



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 131 of 141 
 

 
 
(2) The assets of any business owned in whole or in part by the applicant where— 

 

(a) he is not engaged as a self-employed earner in that business by reason of some 
disease or bodily or mental disablement; but 

 

(b) he intends to become engaged or, as the case may be, re-engaged as a self- 
employed earner in that business as soon as he recovers or is able to become engaged 
or re-engaged in that business, 

 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the application for a reduction under 
this scheme is made, or is treated as made, or, if it is unreasonable to expect him to 
become engaged or re- engaged in that business within that period, for such longer 
period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to become so engaged or 
re-engaged. 

 

(3) In the case of a person who is receiving assistance under the self-employment 
route, the assets acquired by that person for the purpose of establishing or carrying on 
the commercial activity in respect of which such assistance is being received. 

 

(4) In the case of a person who has ceased carrying on the commercial activity in 
respect of which assistance was received as specified in sub-paragraph (3), the assets 
relating to that activity for such period as may be reasonable in the circumstances to 
allow for disposal of any such asset. 

 

12. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any arrears of, or any concessionary payment 
made to compensate for arrears due to the non-payment of— 

 

(a) any payment specified in paragraphs 11, 13 or 14 of Schedule 3; 
 

(b) an income-related benefit under Part 7 of the SSCBA; 
 

(c) an income-based jobseeker’s allowance; 
 

(d) any discretionary housing payment paid pursuant to regulation 2(1) of the 
Discretionary Financial Assistance Regulations 2001; 

 

(e) working tax credit and child tax credit; 
 

(f) an income-related employment and support allowance, 
 

but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of arrears or of the 
concessionary payment. 

 

(2) In a case where the total of any arrears and, if appropriate, any concessionary 
payment referred to in sub-paragraph (1) relating to one of the specified payments, 
benefits or allowances amounts to £5,000 or more (referred to in this sub-paragraph 
and in sub-paragraph (3) as “the relevant sum”) and is— 

 

(a) paid in order to rectify or to compensate for, an official error as defined in 
regulation 1(2) of the Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit (Decisions and Appeals) 
Regulations 2001; and 

 

(b) received by the applicant in full on or after 14th October 2001, 
 

sub-paragraph (1) has effect in relation to such arrears or concessionary payment 
either for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt, or, if the relevant sum is 
received in its entirety during the period of an award of a reduction under this scheme, 
for the remainder of that period if that is a longer period. 

 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2), “the period of an award of a reduction 
under this scheme” means— 

 

(a) the award in which the relevant sum is first received (or the first part thereof 
where it is paid in more than one instalment); and 

187



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 132 of 141 
 

 
 
(b) where that award is followed by one or more further awards which, or each of 
which, begins immediately after the end of the previous award, such further award 
provided that for that further award the applicant— 

 

(i) is the person who received the relevant sum; or 
 

(ii) is the partner of the person who received the relevant sum, or was that 
person’s partner at the date of his death. 

 

13. Any sum— 
 

(a) paid to the applicant in consequence of damage to, or loss of the home or any 
personal possession and intended for its repair or replacement; or 

 

(b) acquired by the applicant (whether as a loan or otherwise) on the express  
condition that it is to be used for effecting essential repairs or improvement to the home, 

 

which is to be used for the intended purpose, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on 
which it was so paid or acquired or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to effect the repairs, replacement or improvement. 

 

14. Any sum— 
 

(a) deposited  with  a  housing  association  as  defined  in  section  1(1)  of  the 
Housing Associations Act 1985 as a condition of occupying the home; 
(b) which was so deposited and which is to be used for the purchase of another home, 
for the period of 26 weeks or such longer period as may be reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable the applicant to complete the purchase. 

 

15. Any personal possessions, except those which have been acquired by the 
applicant with the intention of reducing his capital in order to secure entitlement to a 
reduction under this scheme or to increase the amount of that reduction. 

 

16. The value of the right to receive any income under an annuity or the surrender 
value (if any) of such an annuity. 

 

17. Where the funds of a trust are derived from a payment made in consequence of 
any personal injury to the applicant or applicant’s partner, the value of the trust fund 
and the value of the right to receive any payment under that trust. 

 

18. (1) Any payment made to the applicant or the applicant’s partner in consequence 
of any personal injury to the applicant or, as the case may be, the applicant’s partner. 

 

(2) But sub-paragraph (1)— 
 

(a) applies only for the period of 52 weeks beginning with the day on which the 
applicant first receives any payment in consequence of that personal injury; 

 

(b) does not apply to any subsequent payment made to him in consequence of 
that injury (whether it is made by the same person or another); 

 

(c) ceases to apply to the payment or any part of the payment from the day on 
which the applicant no longer possesses it; 

 

(d) does not apply to any payment from a trust where the funds of the trust are derived 
from a payment made in consequence of any personal injury to the applicant. 

 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2)(c), the circumstances in which an applicant 
no longer possesses a payment or a part of it include where the applicant has used a 
payment or part of it to purchase an asset. 

 

(4) References in sub-paragraphs (2) and (3) to the applicant are to be construed as 
including references to his partner (where applicable). 

188



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 133 of 141 
 

 
 
19. The value of the right to receive any income under a life interest or from a life rent. 

 

20. The value of the right to receive any income which is disregarded under 
paragraph 15 of Schedule 2 or paragraph 29 of Schedule 3. 

 

21. The surrender value of any policy of life insurance. 
 

22. Where any payment of capital falls to be made by instalments, the value of the 
right to receive any outstanding instalments. 

 

23. Any payment made by a local authority in accordance with section 17, 22A – 
22F, 23C or 24A of the Children Act 1989 or, as the case may be, section 12 of the 
Social Work (Scotland) Act 1968 or sections 22, 29 or 30 of the Children (Scotland) 
Act 1995 (provision of services for children and their families and advice and 
assistance to certain children). 

 

24. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), any payment (or part of a payment) made by 
a local authority in accordance with section 22A – 22F of the Children Act 1989 or 
section 29 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995 (local authorities’ duty to promote 
welfare of children and powers to grant financial assistance to persons in, or formerly 
in, their care) to a person (“A”) which A passes on to the applicant. 

 

(2) Sub-paragraph (1) applies only where A— 
 

(a) was formerly in the applicant’s care, and 
 

(b) is aged 18 or over, and 
 

(c) continues to live with the applicant. 
 

25. Any - 
 

(a) social fund payment made pursuant to Part 8 of the SSCBA (the social fund); or 
(b)  Local Welfare Support; or 
(c) occasional assistance. 

26. Any  refund  of  tax  which  falls  to  be  deducted  under  section  369  of  the 
Income  and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (deduction of tax from certain loan interest) 
on a payment of relevant loan interest for the purpose of acquiring an interest in the 
home or carrying out repairs or improvements to the home. 

 

27. Any capital which by virtue of paragraph 61(capital treated as income) or 
paragraph 85 (treatment of student loans) is to be treated as income. 

 

28. Where any payment of capital is made in a currency other than sterling, any 
banking charge or commission payable in converting that payment into sterling. 

 

29. (1) Any payment made under or by the Trusts, the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET 
Limited, the Independent Living Fund (2006), the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation 
or the London Bombings Relief Charitable Fund. 

 

(2) Any payment by or on behalf of a person who is suffering or who suffered from 
haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment made 
under or by any of the Trusts to which sub-paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or 
for the benefit of— 

 

(a) that person’s partner or former partner from whom he is not, or where that 
person has died was not, estranged or divorced or with whom he has formed a civil 
partnership that has not been dissolved or, where that person has died, had not been 
dissolved at the time of that person’s death; 

 

(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 

 

(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 

189



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 134 of 141 
 

 
 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

 

(3) Any payment by or on behalf of the partner or former partner of a person who is 
suffering or who suffered from haemophilia or who is or was a qualifying person 
which derives from a payment made under or by any of the Trusts to which sub- 
paragraph (1) refers and which is made to or for the benefit of— 

 

(a) the person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying person; 
 

(b) any child who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a member and 
who is a member of the applicant’s family; or 

 

(c) any young person who is a member of that person’s family or who was such a 
member and who is a member of the applicant’s family. 

 

(4) Sub-paragraph (3) does not apply if— 
 

(a) the partner or former partner and that person are not, or if either of them has 
died were not, estranged or divorced, or 

 

(b) where the partner or former partner and that person have formed a civil 
partnership, the civil partnership has not been dissolved or, if either of them has died, 
had not been dissolved at the time of the death. 

 

(5) Any payment by a person who is suffering from haemophilia or who is a qualifying 
person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the Trusts to which sub- 
paragraph (1) refers, where— 

 

(a) that person has no partner or former partner from whom he is not estranged or 
divorced or with whom he has formed a civil partnership that has not been dissolved, 
nor any child or young person who is or had been a member of that person’s family; 
and 

 

(b) the payment is made either— 
 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
 

(ii) where that person at the date of the payment is a child, a young person or 
a student who has not completed his full-time education and has no parent or 
step-parent, to his guardian, 

 

but only for a period from the date of the payment until the end of two years from 
that person’s death. 

 

(6) Any payment out of the estate of a person who suffered from haemophilia or 
who was a qualifying person, which derives from a payment under or by any of the 
Trusts to which sub- paragraph (1) refers, where— 

 

(a) that person at the date of his death (the relevant date) had no partner or former 
partner from whom he was not estranged or divorced or with whom he had formed a 
civil partnership that had not been dissolved, nor any child or young person who was or 
had been a member of his family; and 

 

(b) the payment is made either— 
 

(i) to that person’s parent or step-parent; or 
 

(ii) where that person at the relevant date was a child, a young person or a 
student who had not completed his full-time education and had no parent or 
step-parent, to his guardian, 

 

but only for a period of two years from the relevant date. 
 

(7) In the case of a person to whom or for whose benefit a payment referred to in this 
paragraph is made, any capital resource which derives from any payment of income or 

190



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 135 of 141 
 

 
 
capital made under or deriving from any of the Trusts. 

 

(8) For the purposes of sub-paragraphs (2) to (6), any reference to the Trusts is to be 
construed as including a reference to the Fund, the Eileen Trust, MFET Limited,  
the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation, and the London Bombings Relief Charitable 
Fund. 

 

30. (1) Where an applicant has ceased to occupy what was formerly the dwelling 
occupied as the home following his estrangement or divorce from, or dissolution of his 
civil partnership with, his former partner, that dwelling for a period of 26 weeks from the 
date on which he ceased to occupy that dwelling or, where the dwelling is occupied as 
the home by the former partner who is a lone parent, for so long as it is so occupied. 

 

(2) In this paragraph “dwelling” includes any garage, garden and outbuildings, 
which were formerly occupied by the applicant as his home and any premises not 
so occupied which it is impracticable or unreasonable to sell separately, in particular, 
in Scotland, any croft land on which the dwelling is situated. 

 

31. Any premises where the applicant is taking reasonable steps to dispose of those 
premises, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he first took such steps, or 
such longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable him to dispose of 
those premises. 

 

32. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home, and in respect of 
which he is taking steps to obtain possession and has sought legal advice, or has 
commenced legal proceedings, with a view to obtaining possession, for a period of 26 
weeks from the date on which he first sought such advice or first commenced such 
proceedings whichever is the earlier, or such longer period as is reasonable in the 
circumstances to enable him to obtain possession and commence occupation of those 
premises. 

 

33. Any premises which the applicant intends to occupy as his home to which 
essential repairs or alterations are required in order to render them fit for such 
occupation, for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which the applicant first takes 
steps to effect those repairs or alterations, or such longer period as is necessary to 
enable those repairs or alterations to be carried out. 

 

34. Any payment made by the Secretary of State to compensate for the loss (in whole 
or in part) of entitlement to housing benefit. 

 

35. The value of the right to receive an occupational or personal pension. 
 

36. The value of any funds held under a personal pension scheme. 
 

37. The value of the right to receive any rent except where the applicant has a 
reversionary interest in the property in respect of which rent is due. 

 

38. Any payment in kind made by a charity or under or by the Trusts, the Fund, MFET 
Limited, the Skipton Fund, the Caxton Foundation or the Independent Living Fund 
(2006). 

 

39. Any payment made pursuant to section 2 of the Employment and Training Act 
1973 or section 2 of the Enterprise and New Towns (Scotland) Act 1990, but only 
for the period of 52 weeks beginning on the date of receipt of the payment. 

 

40. Any payment in consequence of a reduction of council tax under section 13A of the 
1992 Act (reduction of liability for council tax), but only for a period of 52 weeks  
from the date of the receipt of the payment. 

 

41. Any grant made in accordance with a scheme made under section 129 of the 
Housing Act 1988 or section 66 of the Housing (Scotland) Act 1988 (schemes for 
payments to assist local housing authority and local authority tenants to obtain other 

191



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 136 of 141 
 

 
 
accommodation) which is to be used— 

 

(a) to purchase premises intended for occupation as his home; or 
 

(b) to carry out repairs or alterations which are required to render premises fit for 
occupation as his home, 

 

for a period of 26 weeks from the date on which he received such a grant or such 
longer period as is reasonable in the circumstances to enable the purchase, repairs 
or alterations to be completed and the applicant to commence occupation of those 
premises as his home. 

 

42. Any arrears of supplementary pension which is disregarded under paragraph 54 of 
Schedule 3 (sums to be disregarded in the calculation of income other than 
earnings) or of any amount which is disregarded under paragraph 55 or 56 of that 
Schedule, but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the arrears. 

 

43. (1) Any payment or repayment made— 
 

(a) as respects England, under regulation 5, 6 or 12 of the National Health Service 
(Travel Expenses and Remission of Charges) Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses 
and health service supplies); 

 

(b) as respects Wales, under regulation 5, 6 or 11 of the National Health Service 
(Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Wales) Regulations 2007 (travelling 
expenses and health service supplies); 

 

(c) as  respects  Scotland,  under  regulation  3,  5  or  11  of  the  National  Health 
Service (Travelling Expenses and Remission of Charges) (Scotland) (No. 2) 
Regulations 2003 (travelling expenses and health service supplies), 

 

but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment or repayment. 
 

(2) Any payment or repayment made by the Secretary of State for Health, the Scottish 
Ministers or the Welsh Ministers which is analogous to a payment or repayment 
mentioned in sub-paragraph (1), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of 
receipt of the payment or repayment. 

 

44. Any payment made to such persons entitled to receive benefits as may be 
determined by or under a scheme made pursuant to section 13 of the Social Security 
Act 1988 in lieu of vouchers or similar arrangements in connection with the provision of 
those benefits (including payments made in place of healthy start vouchers, milk 
tokens or the supply of vitamins), but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of 
receipt of the payment. 

 

45. Any payment made under Part 8A of the SSCBA (entitlement to health in pregnancy 
grant). 

 

46. Any payment made either by the Secretary of State for Justice or by Scottish 
Ministers under a scheme established to assist relatives and other persons to visit 
persons in custody, but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date of the receipt of the 
payment. 

 

47. Any payment (other than a training allowance) made, whether by the Secretary of 
State or any other person, under the Disabled Persons (Employment) Act 1944 to 
assist disabled persons to obtain or retain employment despite their disability. 

 

48. Any  payment  made  by  a  local  authority  under  section  3  of  the  Disabled 
Persons (Employment) Act 1958 to home workers assisted under the Blind Home 
Workers’ Scheme. 

 

49. Omitted 
 

192



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 137 of 141 
 

50. (1) Any sum of capital to which sub-paragraph (2) applies and— 
(a) which is administered on behalf of a person by the High Court or the County Court 
under Rule 21.11(1) of the Civil Procedure Rules 1998 or by the Court of Protection; 

 

(b) which can only be disposed of by order or direction of any such court; or 
 

(c) where the person concerned is under the age of 18, which can only be 
disposed of by order or direction prior to that person attaining age 18. 

 

(2) This sub-paragraph applies to a sum of capital which is derived from— 
 

(a) an award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
 

(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned 
is under the age of 18. 

 

51. Any sum of capital administered on behalf of a person in accordance with an order 
made under section 13 of the Children (Scotland) Act 1995, or under Rule 36.14 of the 
Ordinary Cause Rules 1993 or under Rule 128 of those Rules, where such sum derives 
from— 

 

(a) award of damages for a personal injury to that person; or 
 

(b) compensation for the death of one or both parents where the person concerned 
is under the age of 18. 

 

52. Any payment to the applicant as holder of the Victoria Cross or George Cross. 
 

53. In the case of a person who is receiving, or who has received, assistance under the 
self- employment route, any sum of capital which is acquired by that person for the 
purpose of establishing or carrying on the commercial activity in respect of which such 
assistance is or was received but only for a period of 52 weeks from the date on which 
that sum was acquired. 

 

54. (1) Any payment of a sports award for a period of 26 weeks from the date of receipt 
of that payment except to the extent that it has been made in respect of any one or 
more of the items specified in sub-paragraph (2). 

 

(2) The items specified for the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) are food, ordinary  
clothing or footwear, household fuel or rent of the applicant or, where the applicant is a 
member of a family, any other member of his family, or any council tax or water charges 
for which that applicant or member is liable. 

 

(3) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (2) “food” does not include vitamins, minerals 
or other special dietary supplements intended to enhance the performance of the 
person in the sport in respect of which the award was made. 

 

55. (1) Any payment— 
 

(a) by way of an education maintenance allowance made pursuant to— 
 

(i) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
 

(ii) regulations made under section 49 or 73(f) of the Education (Scotland) Act 
1980; 

 

(iii) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 
and paid under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) 
Act 1992; 

 

(b) corresponding to such an education maintenance allowance, made pursuant to— 
 

(i) section 14 or section 181 of the Education Act 2002 (power of Secretary of 
State and the Welsh Ministers to give financial assistance for purposes related 
to education or childcare, and allowances in respect of education or training); or 

 

(ii) regulations made under section 181 of that Act; or 

193



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 138 of 141 
 

 
 
(c) in England, by way of financial assistance made pursuant to section 14 of the 
Education Act 2002. 

 

(2) Any payment, other than a payment to which sub-paragraph (1) applies, made 
pursuant to— 

 

(a) regulations made under section 518 of the Education Act 1996; 
 

(b) regulations made under section 49 of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980; or 
 

(c) directions made under section 73ZA of the Education (Scotland) Act 1980 and paid 
under section 12(2)(c) of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992, 

 

in respect of a course of study attended by a child or a young person or a person who is 
in receipt of an education maintenance allowance or other payment made pursuant to 
any provision specified in sub-paragraph (1). 

 

56. In the case of  an applicant  participating in  an employment  zone programme, 
any discretionary payment made by an employment zone contractor to the applicant, 
being a fee, grant, loan or otherwise, but only for the period of 52 weeks from the date 
of receipt of the payment. 

 

57. Any arrears of subsistence allowance paid as a lump sum but only for the period of 
52 weeks from the date of receipt of the payment. 

 

58. Where an ex-gratia payment of £10,000 has been made by the Secretary of State 
on or after 1st February 2001 in consequence of the imprisonment or interment of— 

 

(a) the applicant; 
 

(b) the applicant’s partner; 
 

(c) the applicant’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner; or 
 

(d) the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil partner, 
by the Japanese during the Second World War, £10,000. 
59. (1) Subject to sub-paragraph (2), the amount of any trust payment made to an 
applicant or a member of an applicant’s family who is— 

 

(a) a diagnosed person; 
 

(b) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s 
partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 

 

(c) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s 
parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; or 

 

(d) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person who 
was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at the date of 
the diagnosed person’s death. 

 

(2) Where a trust payment is made to— 
 

(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(a) or (b), that sub-paragraph applies for 
the period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending on 
the date on which that person dies; 

 

(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending two years 
after that date; 

 

(c) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (1)(d), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which the trust payment is made and ending— 

 

(i) two years after that date; or 

194



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 139 of 141 
 

 
 

(ii) on the day before the day on which that person— 
(aa)     ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb)     attains the age of 20, 

whichever is the latest. 
 

(3) Subject to sub-paragraph (4), the amount of any payment by a person to whom a 
trust payment has been made or of any payment out of the estate of a person to whom 
a trust payment has been made, which is made to an applicant or a member of an 
applicant’s family who is— 

 

(a) the diagnosed person’s partner or the person who was the diagnosed person’s 
partner at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; 

 

(b) a parent of a diagnosed person, a person acting in place of the diagnosed person’s 
parents or a person who was so acting at the date of the diagnosed person’s death; or 

 

(c) a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) or a person  
who was a member of the diagnosed person’s family (other than his partner) at the date 
of the diagnosed person’s death, 

 

but only to the extent that such payments do not exceed the total amount of any trust 
payments made to that person. 

 

(4) Where a payment as referred to in sub-paragraph (3) is made to— 
 

(a) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(a), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending on the date on 
which that person dies; 

 

(b) a person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(b), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending two years after 
that date; or 

 

(c) person referred to in sub-paragraph (3)(c), that sub-paragraph applies for the 
period beginning on the date on which that payment is made and ending— 

 

(i) two years after that date; or 
 

(ii) on the day before the day on which that person— 
(aa)     ceases receiving full-time education; or 
(bb)     attains the age of 20, 

whichever is the latest. 
 

(5) In this paragraph, a reference to a person— 
 

(a) being the diagnosed person’s partner; 
 

(b) being a member of a diagnosed person’s family; 
 

(c) acting in place of the diagnosed person’s parents, 
 

at the date of the diagnosed person’s death includes a person who would have been 
such a person or a person who would have been so acting, but for the diagnosed 
person residing in a care home, an Abbeyfield Home or an independent hospital on that 
date. 

 

(6) In this paragraph— 
 

“diagnosed person” means a person who has been diagnosed as suffering from, or 
who, after his death, has been diagnosed as having suffered from, variant Creutzfeld- 
Jakob disease; 

195



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 140 of 141 
 

 
 
“relevant trust” means a trust established out of funds provided by the Secretary of 
State in respect of persons who suffered, or who are suffering, from variant Creutzfeld- 
Jakob disease for the benefit of persons eligible for payments in accordance with its 
provisions; 

 

“trust payment” means a payment under a relevant trust. 
 

60. The amount of any payment, other than a war pension, to compensate for the fact 
that the applicant, the applicant’s partner, the applicant’s deceased spouse or 
deceased civil partner or the applicant’s partner’s deceased spouse or deceased civil 
partner— 

 

(a) was a slave labourer or a forced labourer; 
 

(b) had suffered property loss or had suffered personal injury; or 
 

(c) was a parent of a child who had died, during the Second World War. 
 

61. (1) Any payment made by a local authority, or by the Welsh Ministers, to or on 
behalf of the applicant or his partner relating to a service which is provided to develop 
or sustain the capacity of the applicant or his partner to live independently in his 
accommodation. 

 

(2) For the purposes of sub-paragraph (1) “local authority” includes in England a county 
council. 

 

62. Any payment made under regulations made under section 57 of the Health and 
Social Care Act 2001 or under section 15 of the Social Care (self-directed Support) 
(Scotland) Act 2013, or under sections 12A to 12D of the National Health Service Act 
2006 (direct payments for health care). 

 

63. Any payment made to the applicant pursuant to regulations under section 2(6)(b), 3 
or 4 of the Adoption and Children Act 2002. 

 

64. Any payment made to the applicant in accordance with regulations made pursuant 
to section 14F of the Children Act 1989 (special guardianship support services). 

196



Runnymede Borough Council (Council Tax Reduction Scheme) (Persons who are not Pensioners) 
2014

 

Page 141 of 141 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

The Runnymede Borough Council 
(Council Tax Reduction Scheme) 
(Persons who are not Pensioners) 

2023/24 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Approved uprating by Chief Financial Officer     

 
 
Coming into effect  1 April 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Cllr. Tom Gracey 
 

Leader of the Council 
 

Date 3 March 2022  Runnymede Borough Council 

197



Council – 8 December 2022 
 
Council Tax Support Scheme 
 
Addendum 
 
Further information, as requested by the Corporate Management Committee, has been set 
out below for the Council’s consideration. 
 

• From the latest data and modelling of the current caseload the removal of the 
Additional Earnings Disregard will reduce the Council Tax Support annual spend by 
£9,425. 

 
• The move to a flat rate non-dependant deduction could reduce Council Tax Support 

spend by £1,903 but this unlikely to be fully realised once the actual non-dependant 
rates for 2023 are published.   

 
• We estimate the change to £5 minimum costs £50,000 and then is offset by the 

savings, down to around £40,500 
 

198


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	8a Council Tax Support Scheme
	Appendix 1 - Ignore small changes CTR605 analysis, 24/11/2022 Corporate Management Committee
	Appendix 2 - £5 minimum, 24/11/2022 Corporate Management Committee
	Appendix 3 - RBC Council Tax Support Scheme Survey Report, 24/11/2022 Corporate Management Committee
	Introduction
	Background
	Report Structure

	Methodology and Sample
	Methodology
	Sample

	Main Findings
	Appendix
	Letter
	Questionnaire


	Appendix 4 - CTS EIA 2023 v.3-incoprorating EQ Goup comments, 24/11/2022 Corporate Management Committee
	Appendix 5 - Runnymede CTR Scheme Working Age 2023-24 SI 29-2021, 24/11/2022 Corporate Management Committee
	Contents
	1.0	Introduction1
	1.1	Annual Review of Council Tax Reduction Scheme
	1.2	Replacement Council Tax Reduction Scheme 2023
	1.2.1	Prescribed Statutory Requirements
	1.2.2	Local Scheme Requirements

	1.3	Pensioners
	1.4	Work Incentives
	1.5	Vulnerability
	1.6	Not Used

	2.0	Matters to be included2
	Chapter 1 - Prescribed Statutory Requirements
	Part 1 - Introduction
	1.	Citation, amendment and application

	Part 2 - Interpretation
	2.	Interpretation3
	3.	Application of scheme: pensioners and persons who are not pensioners6
	4.	Meaning of “couple”7
	5.	Polygamous marriages8
	6.	Meaning of “family”9
	7.	Circumstances in which a person is to be treated as responsible or not responsible for another10
	8.	Households11
	9.	Non-dependants12
	10.	Remunerative work13

	Part 3 - Prescribed classes of persons
	11.	Pensioners14
	12.	Persons treated as not being in Great Britain15
	13.	Persons subject to immigration control20

	Part 4 - Procedural Matters
	14.	Procedure by which a person may apply for a reduction under the authority’s scheme21
	15.	Procedure by which a person may appeal against certain decisions of the authority22
	16.	Procedure for applying for a discretionary reduction23

	Part 5 - Electronic Communication
	17.	Interpretation24
	18.	Conditions for the use of electronic communication
	19.	Use of intermediaries
	20.	Effect of delivering information by means of electronic communication
	21.	Proof of identity of sender or recipient of information
	22.	Proof of delivery of information
	23.	Proof of content of information

	Part 6 - Extended Reductions: Movers25
	24.	Extended reductions: movers into an authority’s area

	Part 7 - Applications
	25.	Making an application26
	26.	Date on which an application is made27
	27.	Information and evidence28
	28.	Amendment and withdrawal of application30
	29.	Duty to notify changes of circumstances31
	30.	Decision by authority32
	31.	Notification of decision33

	PART 9 - Award or payment of reduction
	32.	Payment where there is joint and several liability
	33.	35. Not used.


	Chapter 2 - Local Scheme Requirements
	Part 10 - Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme
	36.	Classes of person entitled to a reduction under this scheme35
	37.	Class D: persons who are not pensioners whose income is equal to or less than the applicable amount
	38.	Class E: persons who are not pensioners whose income is greater than the applicable amount37
	39.	Class F - Not used38
	41.	Classes of person excluded from this scheme40
	42.	Class of person excluded from this scheme: capital limit41
	43.	Class of person excluded from this scheme: students42

	Part 11 - Applicable amounts
	44.	Applicable amounts
	45.	Polygamous marriages44
	46.	Applicable amount: persons who have an award of universal credit45

	Part 12 - Maximum council tax reduction
	47.	Maximum council tax reduction under this scheme
	48.	Non-dependant deduction47

	PART 13 - Not used
	49.	Amount of reduction under this scheme: classes D to E48
	49A. Minimum amount of reduction under this scheme

	(1)	Where a person is entitled to a reduction under this scheme it shall not be awarded where the amount to which a person would otherwise be entitled is less than £5.00 per reduction week.
	PART 15 - Income and capital - General
	50.	Calculation of income and capital: applicant’s family and polygamous marriages49
	51.	Circumstances in which income and capital of non-dependant is to be treated as the applicant’s50
	52.	Income and capital where there is an award of universal credit51

	Part 16 - Income; persons who do not have an award of universal credit
	53.	Average weekly earnings of employed earners52
	54.	Average weekly earnings of self-employed earners54
	55.	Average weekly income other than earnings55
	56.	Calculation of weekly income of employed earners56
	57.	Earnings of employed earners57
	58.	Calculation of net earnings of employed earners58
	59.	Earnings of self-employed earners59
	60.	Calculation of income other than earnings60
	61.	Capital treated as income 61
	62.	Notional income62
	63.	Calculation of income on a weekly basis63
	64.	Treatment of child care charges64
	65.	Calculation of average weekly income from tax credits
	66.	Disregard of changes in tax and contributions etc.
	67.	Calculation of net profit of self-employed earners68
	68.	Calculation of deduction of tax and contributions of self-employed earners69

	Part 17 - Capital; persons who do not have an award of universal credit
	69.	Calculation of capital70
	70.	Income treated as capital71
	71.	Calculation of capital in the United Kingdom72
	72.	Calculation of capital outside the United Kingdom73
	73.	Notional capital74
	74.	Diminishing notional capital rule75
	75.	Capital jointly held76
	76.	Calculation of tariff income from capital: persons who are not pensioners
	78.	Treatment of students79
	79.	Students who are excluded from entitlement to a council tax reduction under this scheme80

	Part 19 - Student Income
	80.	Calculation of grant income81
	81.	Calculation of covenant income where a contribution is assessed82
	82.	Covenant income where no grant income or no contribution is assessed83
	83.	Relationship with amounts to be disregarded under Schedule 384
	84.	Other amounts to be disregarded85
	85.	Treatment of student loans86
	86.	Treatment of payments from access funds87
	87.	Disregard of contribution88
	88.	Further disregard of student’s income89
	89.	Income treated as capital90
	90.	Disregard of changes occurring during summer vacation91

	Part 20 - Extended Reductions
	91.	Extended reductions (qualifying income-related benefits)92
	92.	Duration of extended reduction period: (qualifying income-related benefits)93
	93.	Amount of extended reduction: (qualifying income-related benefits)94
	94.	Extended reductions—movers: (qualifying income-related benefits)95
	95.	Relationship between extended reduction and entitlement to reduction by virtue of classes D to E96
	96.	Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits)97
	97.	Duration of extended reduction period (qualifying contributory benefits)98
	98.	Amount of extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits)99
	99.	Extended reductions (qualifying contributory benefits) - movers100
	100.	Relationship between extended reduction (qualifying contributory benefits) and entitlement to reduction by virtue of classes D to E 101
	101.	Extended reductions: applicant moving into the authority’s area

	Part 21 - When entitlement begins and change of circumstances
	102.	Date on which entitlement begins102
	103.	Date on which change of circumstances is to take effect103
	104.	Date on which an advantageous change of circumstances is to take effect
	105.	Late notification of a change of circumstances
	106.	Back-dating of applications104

	Part 22 - Changes in the amount of reduction
	107.	Adjustments to the amount of reduction

	Part 23 - Other Matters
	108.	Transitional Provision - procedural matters


	Schedule 1 - Applicable Amounts105
	Part 1 - Personal Allowances
	Part 2 - Family premium
	Part 3 - Premiums
	Disability premium
	Additional condition for the disability premium
	Severe disability premium
	Enhanced disability premium
	Disabled child premium
	Carer premium
	Persons in receipt of concessionary payments
	Persons in receipt of benefit for another

	Part 4 - Amounts of premiums specified in Part 3
	Part 5 - The Components
	The work-related activity component
	The support component

	Part 6 - Amount of components
	Part 7 - Transitional Addition
	Part 8 - Amount of Transitional Addition

	SCHEDULE 2106 - Sums disregarded in the calculation of earnings
	SCHEDULE 3107 - Sums disregarded in the calculation of income other than earnings
	SCHEDULE 4108 - Capital disregards

	CTSS - addendum


